Identification and Characterization of Gate Oxide Defects Responsible for Low Frequency Noise in MOSFETs

by

A S M Shamsur Rouf

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at Arlington in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON

December 2019

Copyright © by A S M Shamsur Rouf 2019

All Rights Reserved

Acknowledgements

At first I would like to express my heartiest gratitude to Dr. Celik-butler for her support, guidance and supervision for the last five years. The weekly group meetings and our discussions always inspired me to develop new ideas and skills for my research. She was always available and willing to provide her advice whenever I struggled and needed motivation. I would like to thank Texas Instruments for funding my research for the first three years. Monthly teleconferences with the industry liaisons helped me to develop skills required for preparing technical presentations. I will remain thankful to Frank Hou, Shaoping Tang, Guru Mathur and Arif Sonnet for providing wafers to conduct my research. Their discussions during the monthly teleconferences provided suggestions and ideas to overcome challenges in the projects. I want to thank my dissertation committee members Dr. Jonathan Bredow, Dr. Weidong Zhou, Dr. Sungyong Jung and Dr. Dereje Agonafer. Dr. Zhou was the instructor when I took the Semiconductor Device Theory course. His lectures helped me to acquire solid concepts over solid state device physics theories. Dr. Jung was my instructor in Digital VLSI and Analog CMOS IC Design classes. From his informative lectures, I came to know about different factors considered during designing circuits. This triggered my interest in relating my research to different analog and digital applications. My former and current colleagues Dr. Mohamed Nour, Dr. Sohel, Dr. Tousif, Ashfiq and Tanvir have always been helpful. Mohamed always helped me with all available resources needed to conduct my research works. Tanvir has been involved in meaningful discussions and provided significant inputs during my periods of struggle. I also feel fortunate to work with Dr. Alwin Tsao, Murli Bashyam, and Dr. Saungeun Park during my summer internship in Texas Instruments. Daily meetings with them helped me to get familiar with the modern process techniques used in fabricating transistors in the semiconductor industry. I would also like to appreciate Mr. Paul Logan, a staff in the Nanofab Building for his help at different times.

Finally, I cannot thank my family enough for their endless love and affection. My father Md. Abdur Rouf, my mother Nazma Akter and my younger sister Hashi have always been the sources of inspiration during my happiness and sorrow. I would like to specially thank my fiancé Tuly who spent hours praying for me. Even though I have been living eight thousand miles apart for the last five years, they have always been the closest to my heart.

November 18, 2019

Abstract

Identification and Characterization of Gate Oxide Defects Responsible for Low Frequency Noise in

MOSFETs

A S M Shamsur Rouf

The University of Texas at Arlington, 2019

Supervising Professor: Dr. Zeynep Çelik-Butler

The main objective of this work is to identify and characterize gate oxide defects that are present in submicron p-channel metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistors (pMOSFETs) and which are responsible for random telegraph signals (RTS). With the downscaling of MOSFETs, alternating capture and emission of channel carriers by defects residing at the oxide-semiconductor interface and bulk oxide have become a pronounced problem. Even though RTS has been used for several years as a tool to characterize the interface/bulk defects, RTS in pMOSFETs has been under-reported compared to that in nMOSFETs, resulting in less information on hole defects in pMOSFETs responsible for RTS. This work, using variable temperature RTS measurements on state-of-the-art pMOSFETs, provides an extensive study of the location of the active oxide defects and their energy in the oxide bandgap using a model based on first principles, and suggests a possible structure for the defects responsible for RTS.

There has been a significant knowledge gap in the field of the role of hot carrier stress for hole trapping in pMOSFETs that lead to RTS. In addition, the origin of trap activation and deactivation due to stress in pMOSFETs is not completely understood yet. Obtaining information about the trap generation and passivation mechanisms and the newly generated trap structure would need extensive amount of RTS data on several pMOSFETs at both prestress and post-stress conditions. This work presents variable temperature RTS data on unstressed and stressed submicron pMOSFETs. A structure of the defects responsible for RTS is proposed that can be generated or passivated as a result of stress.

At first room temperature RTS measurements were done on pMOSFETs of different gate areas biased at strong inversion and linear region of operation. The room temperature RTS data allowed extraction of trap position

from the Si-SiO₂ interface, trap energy level with respect to the SiO₂ valence band edge and the trap capture crosssection. The variable temperature RTS data, on the other hand, can be used to obtain information on the trap energy parameters such as capture activation energy, change in enthalpy and entropy in the system due to carrier emission, and the trap relaxation energy. Variable temperature RTS measurements were done on the pMOSFETs varying the temperature from 295 K down to 165 K. The trap energy parameters thus obtained were compared to the already published trap parameters reported by several researchers using other techniques. A possible trap structure was suggested.

Channel hot carrier (CHC) stress was applied to different sized pMOSFETs at room temperature for different durations. RTS measurements were performed following each stress step. Comparing the trap capture cross-sections and trap energy levels with respect to the SiO₂ valence band edge to the previously reported trap parameters, a structure of the stress-generated traps was suggested. Traps were observed to appear and disappear randomly after each stress interval. A possible explanation behind such phenomenon was proposed as well. To obtain more information about the stress-induced traps, variable temperature measurements were done on fresh and stressed pMOSFETs. The MOSFETs were stressed at room temperature, and a subsequent RTS measurement was performed at temperatures from 295 K down to 165 K. Comparison of the energy parameters of the stress-induced traps with the already characterized traps allowed us to make conclusions on the structure of those stress-induced traps.

Since 1/f noise is a major concern in short channel transistors, the traps responsible for 1/f noise in these devices need to be passivated as much as possible. This will help to quantify the maximum achievable limit of flicker noise in the downscaled devices, and hence find a technique for growth of gate oxide with minimal flicker noise. In this research, voltage and current noise power spectral densities of different sized nMOSFETs in three wafers with different oxide growth conditions have been measured, normalized, and compared. Correlations of the oxide growth steps with the measured flicker noise have been investigated.

The main novelty of this work lies in the facts that (i) it is the first time when such detailed analyses has been done on hole defects near the Si-SiO₂ interface that are responsible for RTS. A physical structure of the defects causing the switching events has been proposed. (ii) In addition to the process-induced defects, possible structures for stress-induced defects have also been discussed. (iii) Generation, activation and deactivation of traps with stress are experimentally observed and explained. Finally, (iv) Trap volatility because of stress has been observed, and explained. Possible defect structures have been suggested, which provides further insight into the reliability issues in pMOSFETs in terms of noise and degradation.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
Abstract	iv
List of Figures	ix
List of Tables	XV
List of Symbols	xvi
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Background and Research Motivation	1
1.2 Basic Mechanisms of Electrical Noise	7
1.2.1 Thermal Noise	7
1.2.2 Shot Noise	8
1.2.3 Generation-Recombination (G-R) Noise	8
1.2.4 Random Telegraph Signals (RTS)	9
1.2.5 1/f Noise or Flicker Noise	11
1.2.5.1 Number Fluctuations Theory	13
1.2.5.2 Mobility Fluctuations Theory	16
1.2.5.3Unified Number-Mobility Fluctuations Theory	18
Chapter 2 RTS in pMOSFETs	22
2.1. RTS Theory	22
2.1.1 Average Capture and Emission times	23
2.1.2 Trap Energy Level With Respect to Oxide Valence Band Edge	24
2.1.3 Trap Position into the Oxide From the Si-SiO ₂ Interface	25
2.1.4 Trap Position Along the Channel	26
2.1.5 RTS Magnitude and Screened Scattering Coefficient	28
2.1.6 Trap Capture Cross-section	30
2.1.7 Capture Activation Energy	32
2.1.8 Change in Enthalpy and Entropy	32
2.1.9 Relaxation Energy	34
Chapter 3 Noise Measurement Procedure	36
3.1 Extraction of DC Characteristics	39
3.2 C-V Characteristics	40
3.3 RTS Measurement Procedure	41

3.4 Flicker Noise Measurements	43
3.5 Stress Procedure	44
	16
Chapter 4 RTS Results and Analyses	40
4.1 Device Specifications and Medsurement Conditions	40
4.2 Average Capture and Emission Times	47
4.5 Trap Location from the $SI-SIO_2$ Interface	55
4.4 Trap Position Along the SiO ₂ Bandgap	55
4.5 RTS Magnitude	56
4.6 Screened Scattering Coefficient	58
4.7 Capture Cross-section	58
4.8 Capture Activation Energy	60
4.9 Change in Enthalpy and Entropy	61
4.10 Relaxation Energy	62
4.11 Trap Species	63
Chapter 5 Effects of Channel Hot Carrier Stress on RTS	69
5.1 Stress Conditions, Device Specifications and Measurement Conditions	69
5.2 Results	71
5.3 Average Capture and Emission Times	73
5.4 RTS Amplitude	76
5.5 Trap Location From the Si-SiO ₂ Interface	77
5.6 Trap Capture Cross-sections and Energy Level With Respect to Oxide Valence Band Edge	78
5.7 Trap Creation, Trap Activation and Deactivation	79
5.8 Variable Temperature RTS Measurements	83
Chapter 6 Flicker Noise Measurements and Analyses	91
6.1 Device Specifications, Measurement Conditions	92
6.2 Analysis Procedure	93
6.3 Results	95
6.4 Relation of Process Techniques with the Amount of Observed Flicker Noise	98
6.5 Fitting the Observed Flicker Noise to the UNMF Model	99
Chapter 7 Conclusion	104
References	107
Biographical Information	116

List of Figures

1.1 Switching observed in the drain signal transient in an nMOSFET of area (1.2 μ m × 1.5 μ m) at a gate voltage of 0.85 V, and drain current of 20 nA. The traps were filled using a gate voltage of 4.4 V for 5 min.	3
1.2 Band diagram of an nMOSFET showing the quantized energy levels and charge distribution into the substrate.	4
1.3 A simple RTS with two levels originated due to a single active oxide trap.	9
1.4 A complex RTS with three levels. Three levels are observed because of two active traps. One trap causes the switching between levels 1 and 2. Switching between levels 1 and 3 takes place due to the other trap.	9
1.5 A complex RTS with four levels. Switching because of a fast trap is modulated by switching due to another slow trap. Transitions between levels 1↔3 and 2↔4 take place because of the fast trap, whereas switching between levels 1↔2 and 3↔4 take place due to the slow trap. Such transitions are known as envelope transition.	10
1.6 A four-level RTS with three active traps. The first trap causes switching between levels 1 and 2. Transitions between levels 2 and 3 take place because of the second trap. The third trap originates transitions between levels 2 and 4.	10
1.7 Lorentzian shaped PSD of a simple RTS.	11
1.8 Current PSD depicting flicker noise.	11
2.1 A pMOSFET band diagram at the source terminal.	24
2.2 pMOSFET band diagram at the point along the channel where the trap is located.	26
2.3 Schematic of a pMOSFET.	28
2.4 Configuration coordinate diagram of a pMOSFET with all trap energy parameters.	31
3.1 Packaged chip where several devices are connected to the external leads.	36
3.2 RTS measurement setup.	37
3.3 Biasing circuitry used in the RTS measurement.	38
3.4 Plot of drain-source current (I_{DS}) and transconductance (g_m) as a function of V_{GS} for a pMOSFET.	38
3.5 Plot of I_{DS} as a function of V_{DS} at different V_{GS} for a pMOSFET.	39
3.6 Extraction of V_T in a pMOSFET. V_T is evaluated from the x-axis intercept of the tangent drawn on $(I_{DS})^{1/2}$ at the point where minimum of $d(I_{DS})^{1/2}/dV_{GS}$ occurs.	39
3.7 Setup for extraction of C-V characteristics.	40
3.8 C-V characteristics of a MOS capacitor.	41
3.9 Connection of metallic clips to the leads of the DUT in packaged die.	42
3.10 Connection of pin socket connectors to the leads of the DUT in packaged die.	43
3.11 Measured background noise, overall PSD and the subtracted net PSD of an nMOSFET.	44
3.12 Threshold voltage degradation with stress time for a pMOSFET.	44
4.1 Sample RTS observed in PMOS50 at different temperatures. V_{GS} = -1.5 V, V_{DS} = -0.4 V.	46

- 4.2 Defining limits for each RTS level.
- 4.3 Distribution of time spent at the higher level for PMOS550. $V_{GS} = -1.5$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V, T = 295 K.

47

- 4.4 Band diagram of a pMOSFET. With the increase in gate voltage magnitude, V_{OX} increases. Since trap 49 energy level is measured with respect to the oxide valence band edge, the trap energy level will also move. Therefore, the trap energy level with respect to the silicon valence band edge will change, reflecting a change in the average emission time constant.
- 4.5 Summary of identification of trap types. An attractive center is a termed as a 'donor' for electron traps in MOSFETs, while an attractive center in pMOSFETs is termed as an 'acceptor'. The terms 'attractive' and 'repulsive' have been used in this work to avoid any confusion.
- 4.6 Experimentally measured average hole capture and emission times as a function of V_{GS} and T. For 50 PMOS500, PMOS600 and PMOS700, $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V. For PMOS550, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V.
- 4.7 Trap location of the traps across all the measured temperatures. As expected, the trap location does not 54 show a significant variation with respect to temperature. The physical location does not indicate the type of trap.
- 4.8 Trap energy level with respect to the SiO₂valence band edge: (a) For PMOS700, (b) PMOS500. Both the 55 attractive and repulsive center traps are located around the same energy level along the SiO₂ bandgap. Hence, trap energy level does not indicate the trap type either.
- 4.9 Extraction of RTS magnitude for PMOS550. V_{GS} = -1.5 V, V_{DS} = -0.4 V, T= 295 K. 56
- 4.10 RTS magnitude normalized to drain voltage, number fluctuations, and mobility fluctuations for (a) 57 PMOS500 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, T= 265 K, (b) PMOS550 at V_{DS} = -0.4 V, T=295 K (c) PMOS600 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, T= 295 K and (d) PMOS700 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, T= 295 K. Since PMOS500 is a repulsive center, therefore, the number and mobility fluctuations get added, while the two fluctuations terms get subtracted for the other traps. As a result, PMOS500 shows roughly one order of higher RTS magnitude than the other traps.
- 4.11 Screened scattering coefficient across all the measured V_{GS} and temperatures: (a) For PMOS700 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, (b) PMOS500 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V. Since PMOS500 is a repulsive center and PMOS700 is an attractive center, therefore α values of PMOS500 are around one order of magnitude higher than PMOS700 as a positive charged trap causes more hole scattering than a negatively charged defect.
- 4.12 Capture cross-sections across all the measured V_{GS} and temperatures: (a) For PMOS700 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, 59 (b) PMOS500 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V. With the decrease in temperature, the hole motion slowed down, resulting in a decrease in capture cross-sections.
- 4.13 Arrhenius plot of σ for PMOS550 at different gate voltages at V_{DS} = -0.4 V. Slope of this plot gives the 59 trap capture activation energy (ΔE_B).
- 4.14 Capture activation energy of all the traps. For PMOS500, PMOS600 and PMOS700, V_{DS} = -0.5 V. For 60 PMOS550, V_{DS} = -0.4 V. Switching due to PMOS500 was faster than the other traps because of its lower ΔE_B .
- 4.15 Arrhenius plot of normalized average emission time constant for PMOS550 at different gate voltages at V_{DS} = -0.4 V. Slope of this plot gives the change in enthalpy (ΔH). The y-axis intercept can be used to extract the change in entropy (ΔS).
- 4.16 (a) Change in enthalpy, and (b) change in entropy for all traps. For PMOS500, PMOS600 and 62 PMOS700, V_{DS} = -0.5 V. For PMOS550, V_{DS} = -0.4 V.

- 4.17 Relaxation energy of all the traps. For PMOS500, V_{DS} = -0.5 V, T= 265 K, for PMOS600 and 63 PMOS700, V_{DS} = -0.5 V, T= 295 K, for PMOS550, V_{DS} = -0.4 V, T= 295 K.
- 4.18 (a) Pair of dissociated three-fold coordinated silicon atoms (D-III-SI) acting as a Coulombic attractive 64 center, (b) Puckered/back-projected E_{γ}' center (III-O/III-Si) acting as a repulsive center. The solid lines and arrows indicate Si-O bonds and dangling electrons respectively. The bond angles and lengths are not drawn to scale.
- 5.1 (a)– Sample RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -2.4 \text{ V}$, $V_{DS} = -0.4 \text{ V}$ before applying any stress when traps A and B are active. Switching between levels $1\leftrightarrow 2$ was observed because of trap A, while trap B caused the switching between levels $1\leftrightarrow 3$; (b) Calculation of capture and emission times. Since both traps A and B are attractive centre traps, the upper level of the RTS magnitude corresponds to the capture time, and time spent at the bottom level is the emission time. Green arrows are used to show capture times, whereas black arrows are used to indicate emission times. The two circles at the right denote the states of traps B and A at different RTS levels. Empty circle indicates an empty hole trap (filled with an electron), while a filled circle indicates that the trap is filled with a hole (empty of an electron).
- 5.2 (a)- RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -2.9$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V, 200 seconds of stressing. A third level appeared in the signal which was observed due to trap C. Similar traces were observed after 400, 900, 1000 and 1200 seconds of stressing; (b)- Calculation of capture and emission times for A and C. Unlike Fig. 1, no transitions between $1 \leftrightarrow 3$ take place. Rather the transitions to level 3 occur from level 2. This also indicates that C is filled with a hole only if A is filled with a hole. Level 2 corresponds to emission time of A and capture time of C.
- 5.3 Sample RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -2.3$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V after 200 seconds of stressing when only trap A is 72 active. Similar two-level RTS was observed at other bias and stress conditions when only trap A was active. The time spent at level 1 is the capture time, while level 2 corresponds to the emission time.
- 5.4 Sample RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -1.6$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.6$ V after 800 seconds of stressing when only trap D is 73 active. Similar two-level RTS was observed at low gate voltages after 900 seconds of stressing.
- 5.5 (a)- RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -2.3$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.6$ V after 800 seconds of stressing. In addition to trap D, traps A and B are also active resulting in a 4-level complex RTS. (b)- Calculation of capture and emission times. Since all three traps A, B, and D are attractive centers, upper level of the RTS magnitude due to a particular trap corresponds to the capture time, and bottom level corresponds to the emission time of the respective trap. States of each trap are shown at the right side.
- 5.6 Sample RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -2.1$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.2$ V when only trap E is active. 74
- 5.7 RTS at $V_{GS} = -2.3$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.3$ V when an additional level was observed because of trap F. Both the 74 traps were observed at 2000 seconds of stressing. The capture and emission times were extracted using the same method as shown in Fig 5.2 (b).
- 5.8 RTS recorded at $V_{GS} = -1.7 \text{ V}$, $V_{DS} = -0.2 \text{ V}$ when only trap G is active. 75
- 5.9 RTS at $V_{GS} = -2.1$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.6$ V, where only trap H is active. Both the traces were obtained after 75 2500 seconds of stressing. Trap H is a repulsive center. Therefore, unlike the other traps, for H level 1 corresponds to emission time, while level 2 corresponds to capture time.
- 5.10. Plot of average capture and emission times with respect to stress time for (a) Trap A, (b) Trap B, and 76 (c) Trap C. For traps A and B, $V_{GS} = -2.4$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V. For trap C, $V_{GS} = -2.7$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V. Capture and emission time constants did not show any particular dependence on stressing time for any of the traps.
- 5.11 Drain voltage RTS fluctuations normalized to drain voltage, charge carrier number fluctuations, and 77 mobility fluctuations for (a)- trap A at $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V, 0 sec stress; (b)- trap B at $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V, 0 sec stress; (c) trap C at $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V, 200 sec stress; (d)- trap D at $V_{DS} = -0.6$ V, 800 sec stress; (e)- trap E

at $V_{DS} = -0.2$ V, 2000 sec stress; (f)- trap F at $V_{DS} = -0.3$ V, 2000 sec stress; (g)- trap G at $V_{DS} = -0.2$ V, 2500 sec stress; (h)- trap H at $V_{DS} = -0.6$ V, 2500 sec stress. H is a repulsive centre trap while the other 7 traps are attractive centres, which justifies the larger RTS magnitude due to trap H than that of the other traps. Repulsive centres also result in higher mobility fluctuations.

- 5.12. Plot of normalized RTS magnitude, number and mobility fluctuations as a function of stress interval for (a) Trap A, (b) Trap B, and (c) Trap C. For traps A and B, $V_{GS} = -2.4$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V. For trap C, $V_{GS} = -2.7$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V.
- 5.13 (a)– Band diagram of a pMOS at the source end of the channel; (b)-plot of trap distance from the 78 Si/SiO₂ interface with respect to stress time. x_T and $E_T E_{Vox}$ values indicate that the traps are oxide traps that reside just below the silicon valence band edge.
- 5.14. Plot of trap energy levels with respect to oxide valence band edge and capture cross-sections as a function of stress time for (a) Trap A, (b) Trap B, and (c) Trap C. For traps A and B, $V_{GS} = -2.4$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V. For trap C, $V_{GS} = -2.7$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V.
- 5.15 E' center creation mechanism: Local electric field acting on a neutral oxygen vacancy. The strained Si-Si bond collapses into a planar sp² configuration. The remaining structure with two electrons in the sp³ orbital can act as a hole trap.
- 5.16 Trap deactivation and reactivation phenomena: (a)- Hydrogen passivation of the D-III-Si defect centre, 80 resulting in a Si-H bond; (b)- passivated structure releases the hydrogen by reacting with another hydrogen atom, thus restoring its original structure.
- 5.17 The proposed mechanism for trap volatility: (a)-Channel hot holes release a hydrogen atom from the Si-SiO₂ interface dissociating a Si-H bond. The released hydrogen atom drifts within the oxide to react with a pair of D-III Si defect. The reaction deactivates the defect; (b)- Upon further stressing, channel hot holes release another hydrogen atom from the Si-SiO₂ interface that drifts through the oxide towards the gate and reacts with the passivated D-III Si defect. The defect gets reactivated releasing a H₂ molecule. Black circles represent silicon atoms, red circles indicate oxygen atoms. Hydrogen atom is presented using grey circles, and dangling bonds are indicated using blank ovals. Ovals with bidirectional arrows indicate paired electrons while ovals with a single arrow represent single unpaired electrons.
- 5.18 A 5-level RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -3.4$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V after 5 seconds of stressing. Transitions between 82 different levels in this signal are totally random, making it impossible to analyze.
- 5.19 Two-level RTS observed due to P41 at $V_{GS} = -2.0$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V. Similar two-level RTS was 83 observed due to the other traps.
- 5.20 Average capture time constants as a function of V_{GS} at different temperatures for (a)- trap P221 at V_{DS} 84 = -0.5 V, (b)- trap P222 at V_{DS} = -0.05 V, (c) trap S222₂₀₀ at V_{DS} = -0.15 V, (d)- trap P41 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, (e)- trap P41_{50A} at V_{DS} = -0.1 V, (f)- trap P41_{50B} at V_{DS} = -0.3 V, (g)- trap P61 at V_{DS} = -0.1 V, (h)- trap S61₅₀ at V_{DS} = -0.2 V, (i)- trap S61₁₀₀ at V_{DS} = -0.1V. The mean capture times corresponded to the upper level of the RTS magnitude for all the traps, which means that all the traps were attractive centers.
- 5.21 Average emission time constants as a function of V_{GS} at different temperatures for (a)- trap P221 at V_{DS} 85 = -0.5 V, (b)- trap P222 at V_{DS} = -0.05 V, (c) trap S222₂₀₀ at V_{DS} = -0.15 V, (d)- trap P41 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, (e)- trap P41_{50A} at V_{DS} = -0.1 V, (f)- trap P41_{50B} at V_{DS} = -0.3 V, (g)- trap P61 at V_{DS} = -0.1 V, (h)trap S61₅₀ at V_{DS} = -0.2 V, (i)- trap S61₁₀₀ at V_{DS} = -0.1V. The mean emission times were found to be the average time spent at the lower level of the RTS magnitude for all the traps, meaning that all the traps were attractive centers.

- 5.22 Normalized RTS magnitude, number fluctuations, and mobility fluctuations as a function of V_{GS} at room temperature for (a)- trap P221 at $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V, (b)- trap P222 at $V_{DS} = -0.05$ V, (c) trap S222₂₀₀ at $V_{DS} = -0.15$ V, (d)- trap P41 at $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V, (e)- trap P41_{50A} at $V_{DS} = -0.1$ V, (f)- trap P41_{50B} at $V_{DS} = -0.3$ V, (g)- trap P61 at $V_{DS} = -0.1$ V, (h)- trap S61₅₀ at $V_{DS} = -0.2$ V, (i)- trap S61₁₀₀ at $V_{DS} = -0.1$ V. The RTS magnitudes of the traps were found to be in the similar range of values as the previously reported attractive center traps.
- 5.23 Trap locations of all nine traps across all the measured temperatures.
- 5.24 Trap capture cross-sections as a function of V_{GS} at different temperatures for (a)- trap P221 at V_{DS} = 87 0.5 V, (b)- trap P222 at V_{DS} = -0.05 V, (c) trap S222₂₀₀ at V_{DS} = -0.15 V, (d)- trap P41 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, (e)- trap P41_{50A} at V_{DS} = -0.1 V, (f)- trap P41_{50B} at V_{DS} = -0.3 V, (g)- trap P61 at V_{DS} = -0.1 V, (h)- trap S61₅₀ at V_{DS} = -0.2 V, (i)- trap S61₁₀₀ at V_{DS} = -0.1V.
- 5.25 Trap capture activation energies.

88

87

5.26 (a) Change in enthalpy and (b) Normalized change in entropy of all traps.

88

- 5.27 Trap relaxation energies as a function of gate voltage at room temperature. Similar relaxation energies 89 were obtained at other temperatures. The relaxation energies are within the similar range of the already reported attractive center traps.
- 6.1 Individual Lorentians with different corener frequencies are added to result in 1/f noise spectrum. 91
- 6.2. (a) Background, net measured, and curve fitted flicker noise spectrum (b) Current noise PSD and 93 $(g_m/I_D)^2$ for a MOSFET of $W \times L = 1 \times 1 \ \mu m^2$ from X2388.
- 6.3 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current 94 noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 1 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ and $1 \times 5 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from the wafer X2388, $W \times L = 1 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, 1×20 and $1 \times 4 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.
- 6.4 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current 95 noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 5 \times 0.6 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2388, $W \times L = 5 \times 0.7 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, and $6 \times 0.6 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.
- 6.5 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current 95 noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 5 \times 1 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2388, and $W \times L = 5 \times 1 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.
- 6.6 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current 96 noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 10 \times 1 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2388, and $W \times L = 10 \times 1 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.
- 6.7 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current 96 noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 5 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2388, $W \times L = 5 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, and $6 \times 20 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.
- 6.8 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current 97 noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 10 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2388, $W \times L = 10 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, and $4 \times 20 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.

- 6.9 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current97 noise magnitude for the MOSFETs which don't fall into the first six categories. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.
- 6.10 The experimentally measured current PSD, fitted curve, number and mobility fluctuations for X2338 100 MOSFETs with (a) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.5$, (b) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.8$, (c) $W \times L = 5 \times 10$, and (d) $W \times L = 10 \times 10$.
- 6.11 The experimentally measured current PSD, fitted curve, number and mobility fluctuations for X2550 100 MOSFETs with (a) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.5$, (b) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.7$, (c) $W \times L = 5 \times 10$, and (d) $W \times L = 10 \times 10$.
- 6.12 The experimentally measured current PSD, fitted curve, number and mobility fluctuations for X2396 101 MOSFETs with (a) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.5$, (b) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.7$, (c) $W \times L = 6 \times 20$, and (d) $W \times L = 20 \times 4$.
- 6.13 Normalized (a) number fluctuations and (b) mobility fluctuations as function of I_{DS} exhibited by 102 MOSFETs with $W \times L = 5 \times 10$ and 10×10 of X2388 and X2550, and $W \times L = 20 \times 4$ and 6×20 for X2396.

List of Tables

4.1 Summary of the energy parameters of all the studied defects.	65
5.1 RTS levels and traps active at different stressing times.	70
5.2 Sample of measured MOSFET parameters at different stressing times.	70
5.3 Trap capture cross-sections and energy levels.	79
5.4 Threshold voltage of each device after different stress intervals at room temperature.	84
5.5 $E_T - E_{Vox}$ for all traps at room temperature. Similar values of $E_T - E_{Vox}$ were found at other temperatures.	88
6.1 Optimum values of α_0 , α_1 and N_t obtained from curve fitting	102

List of Symbols

C_{GC}	MOSFET gate to channel capacitance (Fcm ⁻²)
$C_{GC_{inv}}$	MOSFET gate to channel capacitance in the inversion region
	(Fcm^{-2})
C_{ov}	MOSFET overlap capacitance (Fcm ⁻²)
C_{ox}	MOSFET oxide capacitance (Fcm ⁻²)
е	Total absolute error in fitted curve
E_{C}	Silicon conduction band edge (eV)
E_{F}	Fermi energy level (eV)
E_{g}	Silicon bandgap (eV)
E_{F_n}	Quasi Fermi energy level for electrons (eV)
E_{F_p}	Quasi Fermi energy level for holes (eV)
E_y	Electric field along the channel(Vcm ⁻¹)
E_R	Trap relaxation energy (eV)
E_T	Trap energy level (eV)
$E_{_V}$	Silicon valence band edge (eV)
$E_{V_{ox}}$	Silicon dioxide valence band edge (eV)
f	Frequency (Hz)
f_t	Electron trap occupancy function
f_{th}	Hole trap occupancy function
F_m	Number of switching events within duration t_m
F_{S}	Sampling frequency of the oscilloscope (Hz)
g	Trap degeneracy factor
g_d	Donor degeneracy factor

g_D	MOSFET channel conductance, defined as $\partial I_{DS} / \partial V_{DS} (\Omega^{-1})$
<i>g</i> _{<i>m</i>}	MOSFET trans-conductance, defined as $\partial I_{DS} / \partial V_{GS}$ (Ω^{-1})
g_n	Generation rate of trapped oxide charges (s ⁻¹)
h	Planck's constant (J-s)
Ι	Current (A)
I_D	Drain current (A)
I_{DC}	Direct current (A)
I_{DS}	Drain-source current (A)
I _{sh}	Shot noise current (A)
$K_{1/f}$	Ratio of Hooge parameter to fluctuating number of carriers
k _B	Boltzmann's constant (JK ⁻¹)
L	MOSFET channel length (µm)
L_D	Debye length (µm)
М	Total number of bins
m^*_{ox}	Electron effective mass in the oxide (Kg)
m_p^*	Hole effective mass (Kg)
n_0	Inversion layer electron density per unit volume at equilibrium
	(cm^{-3})
$N_{0_{ox}}$	Number of trapped oxide charges at equilibrium
N_{C}	Effective density of states for electrons in the conduction band
	(cm^{-3})
N_D	Background donor doping concentration (cm ⁻³)
N_D^+	Ionized doping concentration (cm ⁻³)
n _i	Intrinsic carrier concentration (cm ⁻³)
N _{inv}	Inversion layer electron density per unit area (cm ⁻²)
N _{ox}	Number of trapped oxide charges
N_p	Total number of points in a signal in the oscilloscope

N_t	Density of occupied electron traps per unit area (cm ⁻²)
N_{V}	Effective density of states for holes in the valence band (cm ⁻³)
P_{inv}	Inversion layer hole density per unit area (cm ⁻²)
P_t	Density of occupied hole traps per unit area (cm ⁻²)
р	Inversion layer hole density per unit volume (cm ⁻³)
$p_0^{}$	Inversion layer hole density per unit volume at equilibrium (cm ⁻³)
q	Electronic charge (C)
Q	Total charge in the inversion layer per unit area (Ccm ⁻²)
Q_{ox}	Total charge in the oxide per unit area (Ccm ⁻²)
Q_s	Total charge in the semiconductor (C)
r	Hole capture rate by trap per unit energy (Hz eV ⁻¹)
r _n	Recombination rate of trapped oxide charges (s^{-1})
R	Resistance (Ω)
S_{I}	Current power spectral density $(A^2 Hz^{-1})$
$S_{I_{DS}}$	Power spectral density for drain-source current $(A^2 Hz^{-1})$
$S_{{\scriptscriptstyle \Delta} I_{DS}}$	Power spectral density for drain-source current fluctuations (A^2
	Hz^{-1})
S_{g}	Power spectral density due to generation in trapped oxide charges (Hz^{-1})
$S_{_N}$	Power spectral density of fluctuations in the number of carriers
	$({\rm Hz}^{-1})$
$S_{N_{ox}}$	Power spectral density of fluctuations in the number of trapped
	charge carriers in the oxide (Hz^{-1})
$S_{\Delta N_t}$	Power spectral density due to local filled traps (Hz ⁻¹)
$S_{\mathcal{Q}_{ox}}$	Power spectral density due to all trapped oxide charges ($C^2 Hz^{-1}$)
$S_{\mathcal{Q}_{oxi}}$	Power spectral density due to a single trapped oxide charge $(C^2 Hz^{-1})$
S_r	Power spectral density due to recombination in trapped oxide

	charges (Hz ⁻¹)
S_{V}	Voltage power spectral density $(V^2 Hz^{-1})$
$S_{V_{DS}}$	Power spectral density for drain-source voltage $(V^2 Hz^{-1})$
$S_{\scriptscriptstyle V_{\scriptscriptstyle FB}}$	Power spectral density due to change in flat band voltage $(V^2 Hz^{-1})$
t	Inversion layer thickness (nm)
t_0	Inversion layer thickness at zero Kelvin temperature (nm)
t_m	Time duration for each bin (s)
Т	Absolute temperature (K)
T_{ox}	Oxide thickness (nm)
T_t	Total time length of a signal in the oscilloscope (s)
V_{C}	Channel voltage (V)
V_D	Drain voltage (V)
V_{DS}	Drain to source voltage (V)
V_{DS_f}	Drain to source voltage in forward mode (V)
V_{DS_r}	Drain to source voltage in reverse mode (V)
$V_{\scriptscriptstyle FB}$	Flat band voltage (V)
V_{GS}	Gate to source voltage (V)
V_{OX}	Amount of bending in valence and conduction bands in SiO_2 (eV)
$V_{_T}$	Threshold voltage (V)
\overline{v}_{th}	Average thermal velocity of channel carriers (cms ⁻¹)
W	MOSFET channel width (µm)
x	Direction into the substrate
X_T	Oxide trap location from Si/SiO ₂ interface (nm)
У	Direction along the channel
\mathcal{Y}_T	Trap position along the channel measured from the source
Z	Direction along the device width
α	Screened scattering coefficient (V-s)

$\alpha_{_m}$	Screened parameter relating change in bulk mobility with change
	in trapped oxide charges (V-s)
$lpha_0$	Fitting parameter in screened scattering coefficient model (V-s)
$lpha_{_1}$	Fitting parameter in screened scattering coefficient model (V-s)
β	Current exponent in current noise PSD
ΔE_B	Trap capture activation energy (eV)
ΔE_{TV}	Trap energy level with respect to silicon valence band edge (eV)
Δf	Noise bandwidth (Hz)
Δg_n	Randomness in trapped oxide charge generation rate (s^{-1})
ΔH	Change in enthalpy (eV)
ΔN	Fluctuation in number of electrons that cause G-R noise
$\Delta N_{_{inv}}$	Number of local inversion layer electrons
ΔN_{ox}	Change in number of charges trapped in oxide
ΔN_t	Number of local filled electron traps
ΔP_{inv}	Number of local inversion layer holes
ΔP_t	Number of local filled traps
Δr_n	Randomness in trapped oxide charge recombination rate (s ⁻¹)
ΔS	Change in entropy (eV)
ΔV_{DS}	Fluctuation in drain to source voltage (V)
ΔV_T	Change in threshold voltage (V)
\mathcal{E}_0	Permittivity of free space (Fm ⁻¹)
\mathcal{E}_{Si}	Dielectric constant of silicon
\mathcal{E}_{SiO_2}	Dielectric constant of silicon dioxide
γ	Frequency exponent in flicker noise PSD
λ	Electron wave attenuation coefficient (cm ⁻¹)
μ	Effective channel carrier mobility (cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹)
μ_0	Effective channel carrier mobility at zero Kelvin temperature

 $(cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1})$

$\mu_{\scriptscriptstyle lat}$	Carrier mobility due to lattice scattering $(cm^2 V^{-1}s^{-1})$
$\mu_{_{imp}}$	Carrier mobility due to impurity scattering (cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹)
$\mu_{_{oth}}$	Channel carrier mobility due to other mechanisms $(cm^2 V^{-1}s^{-1})$
μ_{ox}	Channel carrier mobility limited by gate oxide charge scattering $(cm^2 V^{-1}s^{-1})$
$arphi_0$	Difference between Si and SiO_2 band edges at the interface (eV)
σ	Trap capture cross-section (cm^2)
$\sigma_{_0}$	Trap capture cross-section pre-factor (cm ²)
Ψ	Potential at the channel at any point measured from the Si-SiO ₂
	interface (eV)
Ψ_s	Surface potential at the Si-SiO ₂ interface (eV)
$\overline{ au}$	Average time constant for capture and emission of carriers by the
	trap (s)
$\overline{ au}_0$	Average characteristic time constant (s)
$\overline{ au_1}$	Average time constant for the lower RTS level (s)
$\overline{ au}_2$	Average time constant for the upper RTS level (s)
$\overline{ au}_c$	Average capture time constant for a trap (s)
$\overline{ au}_e$	Average emission time constant for a trap (s)

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Background and Research Motivation

For the last few decades, downscaling of electronic devices has been the primary reason behind the remarkable success of microelectronic industry. Placing millions of transistors in a single chip has allowed higher operating speed and lower power consumption at a cheaper price. Excellent properties of silicon and silicon dioxide have resulted in widespread use of MOSFETs in analog and digital applications. However, with the decrease in device dimensions, these small area devices have been suffering several reliability issues such as random telegraph signals (RTS), flicker noise, gate leakage current, and bias temperature instability (BTI). Oxide defects residing at the oxide-semiconductor interface or in the bulk oxide are responsible behind these mechanisms. In order to ensure reliable operation of the scaled devices, the physical structure and properties of these defects need to be investigated. This investigation would require extensive amount of experimental data and analyses using a trap diagnosis tool. RTS can be used as such a technique.

RTS was first reported by Kandiah *et al.* in a double-gated silicon JFET in 1978 [1], where they observed sudden peaks in the drain current at different gate and substrate bias, and temperatures. They attributed the drain current fluctuations to active Shockley-Read-Hall (SRH) centers in the Debye region, between the channel and fully depleted region. Later, in 1984, Ralls and coworkers observed discrete switching in the device resistances of MOSFETs with gate area of 0.1 μ m × 0.1 μ m at cryogenic temperatures [2]. They found capture and emission of electrons by oxide-semiconductor interface traps of various activation energies to be responsible behind this switching. They also found that although 1/f noise was observed in a large area device of area of 10 μ m × 20 μ m, no discrete switching was observed in that device. Discrete changes in the resistance was observed only in downscaled devices since with the decrease in device dimensions, very few traps will stay within the accessible range of the Fermi energy level to communicate with the channel electrons. Later, in 1988, Karwath and Schulz [3] used the deep level transient spectroscopy (DLTS) technique to study the interface traps in a small area MOSFET (1.2 μ m × 1.5 μ m). They pulsed the device in strong inversion to fill the traps, and then the pulse was applied in weak inversion region to make the filled traps empty. The consequent switching in the drain signal transient was observed (Fig. 1.1). This technique allowed them to access all traps with energy within the vicinity of the Fermi energy level.

However, analyses of these traps were very difficult, and hence very few information such as trap density, activation energy, and capture coefficient of these traps was possible to extract. Since then, RTS has been used as a trap diagnosis tool by numerous researchers [4], [5], [6], [7]. Increasing the drain voltage was found to decrease the average carrier capture time, while average emission time seemed to be independent of drain bias [4]. With the increase in lateral electric field, the channel electron temperature increases. At higher lateral electric fields, phonons emitted by the hot electrons contribute to increase the energy of the empty trap, thus decreasing the trap capture energy [4]. In addition, from the drain bias dependence of average capture and emission times in forward (where the drain and source voltages are applied to the actual drain and source terminals) and reverse (where drain and source terminals are interchanged) modes, effective trap location along the channel was estimated [4]. Trap capture crosssection, trap energy position in the silicon bandgap, and trap distance from the Si-SiO₂ interface were extracted using the gate bias dependence of the average time constants [5]. The average RTS capture and time constants have been found to be larger than the expected tunneling time constants, which indicated that carrier capture and emission process was not an elastic tunneling mechanism [6]. Screened Coulomb scattering theory was introduced and trap scattering coefficient was calculated [7]. Several RTS models have been reported that characterize the oxide defects [8], [9], [10]. Temperature dependence of traps with capture time of ~1s at room temperature was observed totally due to effects of intrinsic carrier density on carrier capture times [8]. Fluctuation in flat band voltage has been used to show that the variations in the normalized drain current RTS amplitudes with gate and drain bias are strongly correlated to the corresponding trans-conductance to drain current ratio [9], meaning that the number fluctuations of the channel electrons dominated over the fluctuations in the carrier mobility. Variable temperature RTS measurements have allowed extraction of important trap energy parameters such as capture activation energy, carrier emission energy, and trap relaxation energy [11], [12], [13]. RTS magnitude has been observed as a function of bias conditions, and device geometries, where in linear region, RTS magnitude has been found to be directly proportional to drain bias, independent of device width, and inversely proportional to the square of device length [14], [15]. Effects of discrete doping on RTS have also been investigated in detail, where inhomogeneous channel has been reported to increase the RTS magnitude [16], [17]. Effects of charge quantization on trap capture and emission times, screening coefficient, and effective channel electron mobility have been published as well [18]. In highly scaled devices, with high substrate doping and transverse electric field along the channel, the electron energy levels would split into discrete levels known as electric sub-bands (Fig. 1.2) [19], [20]. Therefore, while getting emitted

back to the channel, the captured carrier needs to gain additional amount of energy, which would change the carrier capture and emission times by the trap. The charge distribution along the substrate in the channel would peak at a



Fig 1.1 Switching observed in the drain signal transient in an nMOSFET of area ($1.2 \ \mu m \times 1.5 \ \mu m$) at a gate voltage of 0.85 V, and drain current of 20 nA. The traps were filled using a gate voltage of 4.4 V for 5 min. Reprinted with permission from [3]

distance from the Si-SiO₂ interface (Fig. 1.2), which will affect the effective channel electron mobility and screening coefficient. These effects have been modeled in [18]. In addition to simple two-level RTS, observation of complex switching in the drain signals due to multiple active traps have also been reported [21], [22]. RTS has been responsible for read and write bit errors in SRAMs [23], variable retention times in DRAMs [24], read instability in RRAMs [25], and threshold voltage fluctuations in the program-and-erase cycles in flash memories [26], [27].

Not only the aforementioned reliability concerns, several nonlinearities also tend to show up in ultra-scaled MOSFETs such as channel length modulation, drain induced barrier lowering (DIBL), surface scattering, velocity saturation, impact ionization, and hot carrier effects [28]. All these nonlinear effects are responsible for degradation in device parameters in small area devices. DIBL increases the drain to source current in the sub-threshold region. Surface scattering reduces the channel carrier mobility. Velocity saturation decreases the device trans-conductance in the saturation region. Impact ionization creates additional electron-hole pairs leading to a current overrun. And hot carriers can enter the oxide, get trapped rising the oxide charge, thus increasing the device threshold voltage [28]. Moreover, the hot carriers can also create or activate passivated oxide defects that can cause additional RTS at the output. Hence, the hot carrier effects can significantly affect the reliable operation of small area MOSFETs. In order to suppress the hot carrier effects in device reliability, the physical mechanisms behind defect generation and passivation need to be understood. Once again that would need substantial amount of experimental RTS data analyses on stressed MOSFETs.



Fig. 1.2 Band diagram of an nMOSFET showing the quantized energy levels and charge distribution into the substrate. Reprinted with permission from [18]

Most of the IC manufacturing methodologies are developed on CMOS technologies, which would include both active electron and hole traps in the failure mechanisms. Even though RTS is being used as a non-destructive technique to characterize gate oxide traps for a few decades [29], RTS due to hole traps in pMOSFETs are severely under-reported compared to that due to electron traps in nMOSFETs. Most of the articles that reported RTS in pMOSFETs have limited their studies to the physical location, capture activation energy, and capture cross-section of the responsible defects [30], [31], [32]. In 1991, Schulz and Karmann first reported RTS measurements on pMOSFETs at variable temperatures (90 K - 250 K), where they extracted the trap activation energies from the temperature dependence of hole capture and emission times [30]. They indicated Coulombic attractive center defects to be responsible for these RTS, and mentioned the mechanism to be a thermally activated one. Later, in 1993, Schofield and Borland reported RTS in pMOSFETs of area 1.25 μ m × 1.25 μ m varying the temperature between 77 K and 300 K [31]. They also observed hole capture and emission time to be dependent on temperature, and hence concluded the capture and emission process to be thermally activated. In 2000, they measured RTS in pMOSMETs of similar area at temperatures 4.2 K to 300 K [32]. They found the switching rate to be dependent on temperature only above 30 K, and to be independent of temperature below 10 K. From this observation, they reported the thermally activated mechanism to turn into a tunneling process below 10 K. However, neither groups studied the physical behavior of the responsible hole defects. Simoen and Clayes also did RTS measurements on pMOSFETs, where they observed the effects of substrate bias on hole capture and emission times [33], [34]. They reported the hole capture time of a Coulombic repulsive center to be significantly affected by the gate bias because of the exponential dependence of hole trap capture cross-section on the transverse field. However, the hole emission times were found to be unaffected by the gate voltage. In another article, the same group measured RTS as a function of gate and drain voltage to extract the trap characteristics such as trap position in the oxide from the Si-SiO₂ interface, and also along the channel [35]. Different trap characterization techniques have been reported to analyze the hole defects that are responsible for several MOSFET degradation mechanisms. Density functional theory (DFT) calculations have shown that E' centers can trap and de-trap holes [36], [37]. DFT calculations have also suggested E_{δ}' and E_{γ}' centers to be the primary reason behind observing 1/f noise in pMOSFETs [38]. Time dependent defect spectroscopy (TDDS) measurements have shown that hydrogen related defects can cause stress-induced leakage current (SILC), and negative temperature bias instability (NBTI) [39], [40]. None of the reported hole defects have been linked with RTS so far. Therefore, there has been a significant lacking regarding the knowledge in physical behavior of hole traps in pMOSFETs that are responsible for RTS. This is the reason why this research primarily focuses on RTS in pMOSFETs i.e. hole defects in silicon dioxide.

Trap generation or deactivation concepts due to hot carrier stress have also been not studied in detail. Bollu *et al.* first applied electrical stress with high drain voltages on MOSFETs, and compared the switching in the device resistance at low temperatures for both damaged and undamaged FETs [41]. They observed that in case of the

undamaged devices, at low temperatures, due to close proximity of the Fermi energy level to the band edge, multiple traps became active at the same time, and the corresponding Lorentzian spectrum due to individual active defects superimposed on each other, whereas for the damaged FET, only discrete switching due to a single trap was present at all the measured temperatures. Other published reports on electrical stressing have confined their investigation to either capture and emission time constants, trap location both from the Si-SiO₂ interface and along the SiO₂ bandgap [42], [43], or modeling of RTS magnitude and channel degradation because of stressing [44], [45]. Application of electrical stressing has resulted in creation of new defects, which play a detrimental role in degrading the device parameters such as threshold voltage and trans-conductance [46], [47]. Ohata et al. [21] also observed electrical stress-induced RTS. However, they did not provide any analysis of the stress-induced RTS. Fang and coworkers [42] found a channel hot carrier (CHC) generated trap to reside closer to the oxide-semiconductor interface than the process-induced trap. The stress-induced trap had shorter time constants compared to the process-induced traps, and had a stronger influence on the surface mobility. Later, Kang et al. [43] also observed the effect of CHC on RTS in an nMOSFET. They found the trap to stay near the drain terminal along the channel and reported the trap position in the oxide from the oxide-semiconductor interface, and trap energy level with respect to the SiO₂ valence band edge. Simoen et al. worked on modeling the channel degradation observed due to application of CHC in pMOSFETs [48], [49]. They found the RTS magnitude to be increasing with the increase of stress time. However, they did not observe any stress-induced traps in their experiments. None of the published articles clearly explain how the defects are generated or activated upon stressing, and how the stress affects the RTS parameters. Therefore, the trap creation or passivation mechanisms are still very unclear to date. In addition, to minimize the effects of hot carriers on output noise, these defects need to be characterized in terms of position and capture cross-section, and their physical behavior needs to be studied thoroughly.

In this research, extensive RTS measurements were done on pMOSFETs of different areas ($\leq 1 \ \mu m^2$) at different temperatures (165 K – 295 K) both in fresh and stressed conditions. Results of this study have been presented in the next chapters. Chapter 2 explains the RTS theories related to the hole traps in pMOSFETs. Chapter 3 includes the experimental setup used, and the measurement procedures followed in this study. Results and analyses of variable temperature RTS measurements in pMOSFETs are presented in Chapter 4. Hot carrier effects on RTS are discussed in Chapter 5. Chapter 6 includes measured flicker noise data and analyses on large area nMOSFETs (>1 μm^2) of different technologies.

1.2 Basic Mechanisms of Electrical Noise

Electrical noise can be termed as any random undesired fluctuation observed in a wanted signal [50]. Such disturbances in electrical signals can be categorized into two types: (i) Noise coming from external sources such as cross-talk between adjacent circuits, vibrations, interference from AC power lines and radio transmitters, and (ii) noise from internal sources, such as random fluctuations of different circuit components. The external noise can be eliminated employing certain methodologies such as proper shielding, designing layout, or using filters. The internal noise, however, can only be suppressed to a certain extent by appropriate designs such as developing equivalent circuit models for the observed noise, studying the physical behavior of the responsible defects for the noise mechanisms, or in case of analog and digital circuits, using different physical phenomena in electronic devices. Numerous researchers have been using inherent device noise as a technique to characterize the responsible defects. In this section, the discussion has been kept limited to only inherent electrical noise. Fundamental inherent electrical noise mechanisms include thermal noise, shot noise, generation-recombination (G-R) noise, random telegraph signals, and flicker noise.

1.2.1 Thermal Noise

Thermal noise (also known as Johnson noise, or Nyquist noise) originates due to random motion of charge carriers inside a material [51]. Thermal noise was first observed experimentally by J. B. Johnson of Bell Laboratories in 1927, and later analyzed theoretically by H. Nyquist in 1928 [52], [53]. In a conductor or resistor, whenever the temperature goes above 0 K, carrier motions get randomized. Even though the average current in a conductor over a long period of time is zero, the random carrier motions can result in flow of an instant current [50]. The power spectral density (PSD) of a resistor, R is uniform as a function of frequency, and is given by

$$S_I = \frac{4k_B T}{R} \Longrightarrow S_V = 4k_B T R \tag{1.1}$$

where k_B is the Boltzmann constant = 1.38×10^{-23} JK⁻¹, and T is the absolute temperature.

1.2.2 Shot Noise

Shot noise is observed due to appearance of random charges flowing across a potential barrier. The current flown through a potential barrier over a specific period of time is determined by the number of charge carriers, each carrying a charge 1.6×10^{-19} C, which gives the amount of observed shot noise. Shot noise is a Poisson process, and was first observed by W. Schottky in a vacuum tube [50]. The shot noise rms value due to a current I_{DC} is given by

$$I_{sh} = \sqrt{2qI_{DC}\Delta f} \tag{1.2}$$

where q is the charge of an electron, and Δf is the noise bandwidth. The noise PSD can be written as

$$S_I = 2qI_{DC} \tag{1.3}$$

Shot noise is observed only if current is flown across a potential barrier such as vacuum tubes, p-n junctions, heterojunctions, and metal-semiconductor contacts.

1.2.3 Generation-Recombination (G-R) Noise

Electronic states that reside within the semiconductor bandgap, and are present because of various defects or impurities in the semiconductor and at its surfaces are known as traps. Generation-Recombination (G-R) Noise is attributed to the fluctuations in number of carriers available for carrier transport due to random capture and emission of these carriers by traps. The G-R noise PSD because of fluctuations in carrier number, ΔN is given by [54]

$$S_N(f) = \frac{4\Delta N^2 \overline{\tau}}{1 + (2\pi f)^2 \overline{\tau}^2}$$
(1.4)

where f is frequency, and $\overline{\tau}$ is the average time constant associated with the transitions. G-R noise is only important if the trap energy level is within a few k_BT of the Fermi energy level, so that the capture and emission of carriers take place at a similar rate. If the trap energy level is way above or below the Fermi energy level, then the trap will remain empty or filled with most of the time, and hence very few transitions will take place to generate noise.

1.2.4 Random Telegraph Signals (RTS)



Fig. 1.3 A simple RTS with two levels originated due to a single active oxide trap.



Fig. 1.4 A complex RTS with three levels. Three levels are observed because of two active traps. One trap causes the switching between levels 1 and 2. Switching between levels 1 and 3 takes place due to the other trap.

Random Telegraph Signals (RTS) is a special case of G-R noise, which results in multi-level switching in the device output signal (Fig. 1.3). Random capture and emission of single or multiple carriers by gate oxide defects residing at or near the oxide-semiconductor interface causes discrete switching in the device resistance. RTS can be simple (two levels) (Fig. 1.3), or complex (more than 2 levels) (Fig. 1.4). Trapping and de-trapping of a single active defect result in simple RTS, whereas finding the number of defects in a complex signal is quite complicated. A three-level RTS is usually observed because of two active traps [55] (Fig. 1.4). A four-level signal can be originated because of either two (Fig. 1.5) [56], or three traps (Fig. 1.6). RTS with more than 4 levels is almost impossible to analyze as it becomes very difficult to track the individual transitions. For a two-level signal, if the average time constants at the lower and higher level are $\overline{\tau}_1$ and $\overline{\tau}_2$ respectively, then for a fluctuation in current (ΔI), the noise PSD is given by [29]



Fig. 1.5 A complex RTS with four levels. Switching because of a fast trap is modulated by switching due to another slow trap. Transitions between levels $1\leftrightarrow 3$ and $2\leftrightarrow 4$ take place because of the fast trap, whereas switching between levels $1\leftrightarrow 2$ and $3\leftrightarrow 4$ take place due to the slow trap. Such transitions are known as envelope transition [56].

$$S_{I}(f) = \frac{4(\Delta I)^{2}}{\left(\overline{\tau}_{1} + \overline{\tau}_{2}\right)\left[\left(1/\overline{\tau}_{1} + 1/\overline{\tau}_{2}\right)^{2} + \left(2\pi f\right)^{2}\right]}$$
(1.5)



Fig. 1.6 A four-level RTS with three active traps. The first trap causes switching between levels 1 and 2. Transitions between levels 2 and 3 take place because of the second trap. The third trap originates transitions between levels 2 and 4.

The PSD of both RTS and G-R noise is of Lorentzian type (Fig. 1.7). G-R noise can be considered as addition of several RTS of similar time constants. RTS can be observed in time domain only for small number of active traps, and typically observed in small area devices (typically below $1 \ \mu m^2$). For large number of active traps, Lorentzians due to individual traps with different trapping times get added, and the PSD takes the shape of that of flicker noise.

1.2.5 1/f Noise or Flicker Noise



Fig. 1.7 Lorentzian shaped PSD of a simple RTS.

1/f noise or commonly known as flicker noise is observed in electronic devices due to processes that involve wide distribution of time constants such as random capture and emission of carriers, or fluctuations in number and mobility. The noise PSD is proportional to f^{γ} (Fig. 1.8), where γ , the frequency exponent varies between 0.7 and 1.3. The general form of the current PSD is given as



Fig. 1.8 Current PSD depicting flicker noise.

$$S_I = \frac{K_{1/f} I^{\beta}}{f^{\gamma}}$$
(1.6)

where $K_{1/f}$ is a constant, and β is the current exponent. Flicker noise is typically observed in the lower part of the frequency spectrum (10⁻⁵ to 10⁷ Hz) in several conductors and semiconductors [50], [54]. Two mechanisms work behind the current fluctuations: (i) Fluctuations in the number of carriers, or (ii) Fluctuations in carrier mobility.

In the last few decades, articles have been published regarding whether the fluctuations in the number or mobility dominate the flicker noise observed in MOSFETs. Initially the flicker noise was thought to be related to the quality of Si-SiO₂ interface. Hence, the interface trap density and the near interface oxide trap density were considered to be the primary factors behind observing flicker noise [57]. All models developed using this concept fall under number fluctuations theory. However, later, flicker noise observed in nMOSFETs showed excellent match with the number fluctuations theory [58], as well as the bulk mobility fluctuations theory [59], [60]. According to the bulk mobility fluctuations theory, the channel carrier mobility is limited by two mechanisms: lattice scattering, and impurity scattering [61]. The surface induced mobility fluctuations theory, on the other hand, takes into account the scattering between the induced charge carriers with the interfacial traps [62]. Later, it was discovered that upon trapping a channel carrier, fluctuations in the channel carrier number also resulted in a fluctuation in the carrier effective mobility via Coulomb interaction, which is known as correlated mobility fluctuations. Initially, flicker noise observed in the pMOSFETs did not show a good match with the number fluctuations theory [63], [64], [65], [66]. The correlated mobility fluctuation theory was introduced to correct the deviations observed in the number fluctuations model in pMOSFETs [50]. However, as the screening effect was not taken into consideration, that correction factor was reported to be too high to be physical [67]. The screening effect due to the channel carriers, and its effects on the effective channel carrier mobility were later taken into account in the Unified Noise and Mobility Fluctuations theory. The main theories used to explain flicker noise in MOSFETs are discussed in the following sub-sections.

1.2.5.1 Number Fluctuations Theory

Flicker noise due to fluctuation in the number of charge carriers in the MOSFET channel is related to active defects present close to the oxide-semiconductor interface. In 1957, McWorther presented a flicker noise model based on the quantum tunneling transitions taking place between the channel and the gate oxide defects [68]. Since the carrier capture and emission mechanism was considered as an equi-energy tunneling process, and the carrier capture probability by a trap decreases exponentially with the distance from the oxide-semiconductor interface [69], the tunneling time was considered as exponentially varying with distance from the interface. The trap density was taken as uniform with respect to distance and energy to obtain the distribution of time constants responsible for 1/f noise.

When an electron gets captured by an oxide defect, there will be a change in the oxide charge (δQ_{ox}), and the corresponding flat-band voltage, (δV_{FB}). These PSD of these two are related by [70]

$$S_{Q_{or}} = S_{V_{FR}} C_{ox}^2 \tag{1.7}$$

where C_{ox} is the oxide capacitance per unit area. $S_{Q_{ox}}$ can be evaluated using the G-R noise theory. The general equation for the fluctuation in the number of trapped charges in the oxides with respect to time is given by [54]

$$\frac{dN_{ox}}{dt} = g_n \left(N_{ox} \right) - r_n \left(N_{ox} \right) + \Delta g_n \left(t \right) - \Delta r_n \left(t \right)$$
(1.8)

where N_{ox} is the number of trapped charges in the oxide, $g_n(N_{ox})$ and $r_n(N_{ox})$ are the generation and recombination rates respectively, both being functions of N_{ox} , $\Delta g_n(t)$ and $\Delta r_n(t)$ indicate the randomness in the generation and recombination rates. The number of trapped oxide charges can be expressed as $N_{ox} = N_{0_{ox}} + \Delta N_{ox}$, where $N_{0_{ox}}$ and ΔN_{ox} are the equilibrium number of trapped oxide charges and change in the number of trapped oxide charges respectively. At the equilibrium condition, $g_n(N_{0_{ox}}) = r_n(N_{0_{ox}})$. The rate of fluctuation in the trapped oxide charges can be written as [54]

$$\frac{d\Delta N_{ox}}{dt} = \frac{\Delta N_{ox}}{\overline{\tau}} + \Delta g_n(t) - \Delta r_n(t)$$
(1.9)

Both $\Delta g(t)$ and $\Delta r(t)$ show shot noise. Therefore,

$$S_{g}(f) = S_{r}(f) = 2g_{n}(N_{0_{ax}}) = 2r_{n}(N_{0_{ax}})$$
(1.10)

where S_g and S_r are PSDs of shot noise because of randomness in generation and recombination rates respectively. The total PSD of noise due to fluctuations in number of oxide trapped charges is calculated doing the Fourier analysis of Equation (1.9),

$$S_{N_{ax}}(f) = \frac{\overline{\tau}^2}{1 + \omega^2 \overline{\tau}^2} \left[S_g(f) + S_r(f) \right] = 4g_n \left(N_{0_{ax}} \right) \frac{\overline{\tau}^2}{1 + \omega^2 \overline{\tau}^2}$$
(1.11)

where $\omega = 2\pi f$ is the angular frequency. Again, $\int_{0}^{\infty} S_{N_{ox}}(f) = g_n(N_{0_{ox}})\overline{\tau} = \overline{\Delta N_{ox}^2}$. Therefore, Equation (1.11) becomes,

$$S_{N_{ox}}(f) = 4\overline{\Delta N_{ox}^2} \frac{\overline{\tau}}{1 + \omega^2 \overline{\tau}^2}$$
(1.12)

Number of trapped oxide charges can be expressed in terms of oxide charge distribution as $Q_{ox} = qN_{ox}/WL$, where Q_{ox} is the oxide charge per unit area. PSDs due to change in oxide charge and change in number of trapped oxide charge are related as $S_{Q_{oxi}} = q^2 S_{N_{ox}}/W^2 L^2$, where W and L are channel width and length respectively. Hence, PSD of the G-R noise generated due to a single active trap randomly capturing and emitting channel electrons are given as [50]

$$S_{\mathcal{Q}_{oxi}} = \frac{4q^2 \Delta N_{ox}^2}{W^2 L^2} \frac{\overline{\tau}}{1 + (\omega\overline{\tau})^2}$$
(1.13)

 $\overline{\Delta N_{ox}}$ is calculated using Fermi-Dirac statistics

$$\overline{N_{ox}^{2}} = \left(1 - f_{t}\left(E\right)\right) f_{t}\left(E\right) N_{t}$$
(1.14)

where $f_t(E)$ is the trap occupancy function. As the total number of traps is not known, the total PSD is found by integrating the individual PSDs with respect to space and energy [50]

$$S_{\mathcal{Q}_{ox}} = \int_{E_{v}}^{E_{v}} \int_{0}^{\omega} \int_{0}^{UW} \frac{4q^{2}N_{t}\left(E, x, y, z\right)\left(1 - f_{t}\left(E\right)\right)f_{t}\left(E\right)}{W^{2}L^{2}} \left(\frac{\overline{\tau}}{1 + \left(\omega\overline{\tau}\right)^{2}}\right) dz dy dx dE$$
(1.15)

where x, y, and z directions are considered as directions into the substrate, along the channel, and along the device width respectively, N_t is the trap density per unit volume per unit energy, T_{ox} is the oxide thickness, E_v and E_c are the silicon valence band and conduction band edges respectively. As mentioned before, in the McWorther model, the trap density is considered to be uniform with respect to space and energy. Therefore, $N_t(x, y, z, E) = N_t$. The product $(1 - f_t(E))f_t(E) = -k_BT df(E)/dE$ peaks near the Fermi energy level, and acts like a delta function. Hence,

$$S_{Q_{ax}} = \frac{4k_B T q^2}{WL} \int_0^{T_{ax}} N_t \left(\frac{\overline{\tau}}{1 + (\omega\overline{\tau})^2}\right) dx$$
(1.16)

The capture time constant for an electron to tunnel to a trap at a distance x from the oxide-semiconductor interface is given by [50]

$$\tau = \tau_0 e^{\lambda x} \tag{1.17}$$

where τ_0 is the characteristic time constant. The tunneling attenuation length (λ) can be found using the Wentzel-Kramers-Brillouin (WKB) theory [50]

$$\lambda = \left[4\pi \sqrt{2qm_{ox}^* \varphi_0} / h \right] \tag{1.18}$$

where m_{ox}^* is the electron effective mass in the oxide, φ_0 is the difference between Si and SiO₂ conduction band edges at the interface, and *h* is Planck's constant.

If the oxide is thick enough, then the electron can never tunnel through to the gate-oxide interface. Instead, the tunneled electron keeps fluctuating between the trap and the channel conduction band. Therefore, the limit T_{ox} in (1.16) is replaced by ∞ . Therefore, the final PSD becomes

$$S_{\mathcal{Q}_{ax}} = \frac{4k_B T q^2 N_t}{\lambda W L f^{\gamma}} \tag{1.19}$$
γ depends on the trap distribution. If the trap density is higher near the oxide-channel interface than in the bulk oxide, then there are more high frequency traps than low frequency traps, leading to $\gamma < 1$, and $\gamma > 1$ is expected for the opposite case since there will be more low frequency traps than high frequency traps [50]. γ is taken as unity here since the trap distribution is assumed to be uniform with respect to depth. In terms of trans-conductance (g_m), the drain-source current PSD ($S_{I_{res}}$) can be written as [70]

$$S_{I_{DS}}\left(f\right) = \frac{k_B T q^2 N_t}{\lambda W L f C_{ar}^2} g_m^2$$
(1.20)

1.2.5.2 Mobility Fluctuations Theory

According to Hooge's empirical formula [71], the fluctuations in the drain to source current is observed mainly because of fluctuations in the bulk mobility. The current noise PSD is given by

$$S_{I} = \frac{\alpha_{H} I_{DC}^{\beta}}{N f^{\gamma}} = \frac{K_{1/f} I_{DC}^{\beta}}{f^{\gamma}}$$
(1.21)

where α_{H} is the Hooge parameter, which depends on the effective channel electron mobility (μ). In this model, effective channel electron mobility comprises of mobility limited by two physical mechanisms: (i) lattice scattering (μ_{lat}), and (ii) impurity scattering (μ_{imp}). Hooge did not include other mobility limiting mechanisms such as surface roughness, or remote Coulomb scattering because of trapped electrons. According to Mathiessen's Rule, channel electron mobility can be expressed as [71]

$$\frac{1}{\mu} = \frac{1}{\mu_{lat}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{imp}}$$
(1.22)

The Hooge parameter can be evaluated using

$$\alpha_{H} = \left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_{lat}}\right) \alpha_{lat} \tag{1.23}$$

where α_{tat} is the screening coefficient due to lattice scattering. The value of α_{H} is universally accepted as 2×10^{-3} [72]. However, researchers have found values of α_{H} one or several orders of magnitude less than 2×10^{-3} , and α_{H} was also found to be dependent on gate voltage and oxide thickness [73], [74]. While explaining the discrepancies in the values of α_{H} , Hooge and Vandamme suggested that phonon scattering is the only mechanism behind observing flicker noise, and the other scattering mechanisms reduce the value of α_{H} [61]. However, this explanation failed to always increase the observed α_{H} values to the expected value [74].

On the other hand, Ghibaudo *et al.* [70] considered fluctuations in both the number of channel carriers and the correlated effective mobility to be the reason behind observing the drain to source current fluctuations. According to MOSFET theory, change in the number of trapped charges can be represented by change in the MOSFET flat-band voltage. As both number and correlated mobility fluctuations are considered in this theory, the drain-source current fluctuations include fluctuations in both flat-band voltage and effective channel electron mobility is [70]

$$\delta I_{DS} = \frac{\delta I_{DS}}{\delta V_{FB}} \delta V_{FB} + \frac{\delta I_{DS}}{\delta \mu} \frac{\delta \mu}{\delta Q_{ox}} \delta Q_{ox}$$
(1.24)

Again,

$$\frac{\delta I_{DS}}{\delta V_{FB}} = -\frac{\delta I_{DS}}{\delta V_{GS}} = -g_m \tag{1.25}$$

In the linear region of operation,

$$\frac{\delta I_{DS}}{\delta \mu} = \frac{I_{DS}}{\mu} \tag{1.26}$$

Combining equations (1.24), (1.25), and (1.26),

$$\delta I_{DS} = -g_m \delta V_{FB} + \frac{I_{DS}}{\mu} \frac{\delta \mu}{\delta Q_{ox}} \delta Q_{ox}$$
(1.27)

The scattering coefficient is defined using an expression that reflects the variation in oxide charge with respect to carrier mobility [50]

$$\alpha_m = \frac{1}{\mu^2} \frac{\delta \mu}{\delta Q_{ox}} \tag{1.28}$$

Therefore,

$$\delta I_{DS} = -g_m \delta V_{FB} + \mu \alpha_m I_{DS} \delta Q_{ox} = -g_m \delta V_{FB} + \mu \alpha_m I_{DS} \delta V_{FB} C_{ox}$$
(1.29)

The PSD of the drain-source current noise can be expressed as

$$S_{I_{DS}} = S_{V_{FB}} \left(-g_m + \mu \alpha_m I_{DS} C_{ox} \right)^2$$
(1.30)

Therefore, the plot of $(S_{I_{DS}}/I_{DS}^2)$ will follow the trend of $(g_m/I_{DS})^2$ if the number fluctuation term dominates in the drain-source current noise.

1.2.5.3 Unified Number- Mobility Fluctuations Theory

When an inversion layer carrier gets trapped, it changes the number of channel carriers. According to the Unified Number and Mobility Fluctuations (UNMF) model, remote Coulomb scattering due to the charged trap (either at empty or filled state) affects the effective mobility of the channel carriers [72]. In the linear region of operation, the drain-source current in a MOSFET can be expressed as

$$I_{DS} = qW\mu N_{inv}E_{v} \tag{1.31}$$

where N_{inv} is the inversion layer electron concentration per unit area, and E_y is the applied electric field along the channel. For a small portion of the channel of width W and length Δy , the normalized change in drain-source current can be written as

$$\frac{\delta I_{DS}}{I_{DS}} = -\left(\frac{1}{\Delta N_{inv}}\delta\Delta N_{inv} \pm \frac{1}{\mu}\mu\right)$$
(1.32)

where ΔN_{inv} is the inversion layer electron number for that small portion of channel. In strong inversion, the number of inversion layer charge carriers becomes much larger than the number of depletion charge, gate charge, and oxide charges. Therefore, if the charge state of a single trap is changed because of capturing an electron, that charge is most likely to be the inversion charge, and that electron to be the inversion layer electron i.e. $\delta \Delta N_{inv} / \delta \Delta N_t = 1$, where ΔN_t is the number of filled traps. Moreover, $\Delta N_{inv} = W \Delta y N_{inv}$, and $\Delta N_t = W \Delta y N_t$. Equation (1.32) becomes

$$\frac{\delta I_{DS}}{I_{DS}} = -\left(\frac{1}{\Delta N_{inv}}\frac{\delta\Delta N_{inv}}{\delta\Delta N_{t}} \pm \frac{1}{\mu}\frac{\delta\mu}{\delta\Delta N_{t}}\right)\delta\Delta N_{t}$$
(1.33)

In this theory, the fluctuations in effective channel electron mobility are considered to be dominated by remote Coulomb scattering caused by captured electron. According to Mathiessen's Rule [72], the effective channel mobility is given by [75]

$$\frac{1}{\mu} = \frac{1}{\mu_{oth}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{ox}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{oth}} + \alpha N_t$$
(1.34)

where $\mu_{ox} = 1/\alpha N_t$ is the channel electron mobility limited by oxide charge scattering, and μ_{oth} is the channel electron mobility limited by other mechanism such as surface roughness, lattice scattering, and impurity scattering [76]. Fluctuations in the channel electron mobility due to fluctuation in the number of filled traps can be expressed as

$$\frac{\delta\mu}{\delta N_t} = -\frac{\alpha\mu_{oth}^2}{\left(1 + \alpha N_t \mu_{oth}^2\right)} = -\alpha\mu^2$$
(1.35)

Therefore,

$$\frac{\delta I_{DS}}{I_{DS}} = -\left(\frac{1}{W\Delta y N_{inv}} \pm \alpha \mu \frac{1}{W\Delta y}\right) \delta \Delta N_{t} \rightarrow -\left(\frac{1}{N_{inv}} \pm \alpha \mu\right) \frac{\delta \Delta N_{t}}{W\Delta y}$$
(1.36)

The corresponding noise PSD is given by

$$S_{\Delta I_{DS}} = \left[\frac{I_{DS}}{\Delta N_{inv}} \left(1 \pm \alpha \mu N_{inv}\right)\right]^2 S_{\Delta N_i}$$
(1.37)

 $S_{\Delta N_t}$ can be found using the number fluctuations theory:

$$S_{\Delta N_{t}} = 4 \int_{E_{v}}^{E_{c}} \int_{0}^{W} \int_{0}^{\tau_{ax}} \int_{0}^{\Delta y} \Delta N_{t}^{2} \left(\frac{\overline{\tau}}{1 + (\omega \overline{\tau})^{2}} \right) dx dy dz dE$$
(1.38)

For a defect to get filled with an electron, not only an electron needs to stay at the trap energy level, but also the trap needs to be empty at the same time. Therefore, as discussed before, ΔN_t^2 can be expressed as $\Delta N_t^2 = f_t(E)(1-f_t(E))N_t$. Therefore, Equation 1.33 becomes

$$S_{\Delta N_{t}} = 4 \int_{E_{v}} \int_{0}^{W} \int_{0}^{T_{ax}} N_{t} \left(x, y, z, E \right) \left(1 - f_{t} \left(E \right) \right) f_{t} \left(E \right) \Delta y \left(\frac{\overline{\tau}}{1 + \left(\omega \overline{\tau} \right)^{2}} \right) dx dz dE$$
(1.39)

 $(1 - f_t(E))f_t(E) = -k_BT df_t(E)/dE$, which peaks near the Fermi energy level, and behaves like a delta function. As discussed before, uniform trap density is assumed here, i.e. $N_t(x, y, z, E) = N_t$. The tunneling capture time constant at a distance x from the Si-SiO₂ interface can be written as $\overline{\tau} = \overline{\tau}_0 e^{\lambda x}$. For thick oxides, the tunneling electron is never able to travel through the entire oxide layer, and that electron keeps moving back and forth from the trap to the conduction band. Hence, the limit T_{ox} can be replaced with ∞ . Replacing ω with $2\pi f$, and evaluating the integral in (1.39),

$$S_{\Delta N_{t}} = \frac{k_{B}TW\Delta y N_{t}}{\lambda f}$$
(1.40)

The average PSD of I_{DS} because of fluctuation in I_{DS} due to fluctuation in number of carriers in a small portion of Δy along the channel is given as [77]

$$S_{I_{DS}} = \frac{1}{L^2} \int_{0}^{L} S_{\Delta I_{DS}} \Delta y dy$$
(1.41)

Therefore the drain to source current PSD becomes

$$S_{I_{DS}} = \frac{k_B T I_{DS}^2 N_t}{\lambda f W L} \left(\frac{1}{N_{inv}} \pm \alpha \mu \right)^2$$
(1.42)

Here, '+' sign is used if the trap is a repulsive center (neutral when empty, negatively charged when full), and '-' sign is used if the trap is an attractive center (positively charged when empty, neutral when full). As a repulsive

center defect if negatively charged after capturing an electron, it affects the effective channel electron mobility via remote Coulomb scattering only at the filled state. Hence, a positive change in the fluctuation in the channel electron number causes a positive change in the effective channel electron mobility, resulting in a '+' sign. On the other hand, an attractive center trap is neutral when it is full. Therefore, there is no remote Coulomb scattering when the trap captures an electron. Hence, a positive change in the number fluctuations results in a negative change in the mobility fluctuations, leading to a '-' sign. These two trap types have been explained in detail in the later chapters.

In summary, the basic input electrical noise mechanisms and the relevant theories have been discussed briefly in this chapter. Careful analyses of these noise data can be used to investigate the responsible trap properties. This research confines its limit to low-frequency noise, or more specifically, random telegraph signals. The RTS parameters can provide important trap characteristics that can be used to study the structural behavior of oxide traps. This has been explained further in the following chapters.

Chapter 2 RTS in pMOSFETs

RTS is typically observed in small area devices ($\leq 1 \ \mu m^2$), while flicker noise is observed in devices with large gate areas (> 1 μ m²). Since the number of active defects is decreased in scaled devices, the probability of observing noise in the output signal due to a single active trap increases in small area devices. With the increase in device dimensions, more active traps with similar time constants start to show up, and hence the Lorentzians due to each active defect in the frequency spectrum fall onto one another, resulting in the 1/f noise spectrum. Hole capture and emission mechanism by oxide traps in pMOSFETs is similar to the trapping and de-trapping phenomena in nMOSFETs. However, in case of nMOSFETs, electron emission is due to the the release of a free electron from the trap to the conduction band, while for pMOSFETs, hole emission involves capture of a bonded electron from the valence band. This chapter discusses the theories, as well as RTS and trap characteristic parameters related to the capture and emission of channel holes by oxide defects. Extensive amount of RTS measurements as a function of temperature is required to extract the RTS and trap parameters. Some RTS and hole trap characteristics can be obtained from the measurements at a particular temperature such as average capture times ($\overline{\tau}_{0}$) and emission times $(\overline{\tau}_e)$, trap energy level with respect to oxide valence band edge $(E_T - E_{V_{ox}})$, trap position into the oxide from the Si-SiO₂ interface (x_T), trap position along the channel (y_T), RTS magnitude (ΔV_{DS}), screened scattering coefficient (α), and trap capture cross-section (σ). However, extraction of the trap energy parameters requires variable temperature RTS measurements. Such parameters include capture activation energy (ΔE_B), change in enthalpy (ΔH), change in entropy (ΔS), and relaxation energy (E_R).

2.1 RTS Theory

Random capture and emission of channel holes by defects at or near the $Si-SiO_2$ interface are known to be responsible for observing discrete switching in the drain signals of pMOSFETs [29]. RTS analyses provide a useful tool to extract the trapping characteristics of the defects. Some of those trap characteristic parameters are discussed in the following subsections.

2.1.1 Average Capture and Emission Times

Hole capture time is the time span when the trap remains empty, and the emission time indicates the time at which the trap remains filled with a hole [29]. The trap energy level in the SiO₂ bandgap affects the hole capture time, which depends exponentially on the trap energy level with respect to the Fermi energy level. The relation of the trap capture and emission times with the trap energy level comes from the basic Fermi-Dirac distribution. Let E(n+1/n) indicate the defect energy level, where the defect hole occupancy changes from n electrons to n+1 electrons. The probability that the defect will be found at the state with n+1 holes can be expressed as [29]

$$f_{th} = 1 - f_t = 1 - \left\{ 1 + g \exp\left[\frac{E(n+1/n) - E_F}{k_B T}\right] \right\}^{-1}$$
(2.1)

where f_{th} is the trap hole occupancy function, f_t is the trap electron occupancy function, E_F is the Fermi energy level, and g is the trap degeneracy. If the trap at energy level E(n+1/n) generates an RTS with average capture and emission times $\overline{\tau}_c$ and $\overline{\tau}_e$ respectively, then the probability that the defect will be filled with a hole is given by

$$f_{th} = 1 - f_t = 1 - \frac{\overline{\tau}_e}{\overline{\tau}_c + \overline{\tau}_e} = 1 - \left\{ 1 + g \exp\left[\frac{E(n+1/n) - E_F}{k_B T}\right] \right\}^{-1}$$
(2.2)

$$\frac{\overline{\tau_c} + \overline{\tau_e}}{\overline{\tau_c}} = \frac{\left\{1 + g \exp\left[\frac{E(n+1/n) - E_F}{k_B T}\right]\right\}}{g \exp\left[\frac{E(n+1/n) - E_F}{k_B T}\right]}$$
(2.3)

$$\frac{\overline{\tau_e}}{\overline{\tau_c}} = \frac{1}{g \exp\left[\frac{E(n+1/n) - E_F}{k_B T}\right]}$$
(2.4)

Denoting the trap energy level as E_T and taking the trap degeneracy factor as unity,

$$\frac{\overline{\tau}_c}{\overline{\tau}_e} = \exp\left[\frac{E_T - E_F}{k_B T}\right]$$
(2.5)

For a pMOSFET, with the increase of gate voltage magnitude, the hole occupancy, f_{th} increases. Hence, $(\overline{\tau}_c/\overline{\tau}_e)$ decreases with the increase of gate voltage magnitude. This theory can be applied to find out whether the upper level or the lower level of an RTS voltage magnitude corresponds to τ_c [22]. This can be used further to determine the trap charge state before and after the hole capture. This has been explained in detail in Chapter 4, where RTS data analyses are reported.

2.1.2. Trap Energy Level With Respect to Oxide Valence Band Edge



Fig. 2.1 A pMOSFET band diagram at the source terminal.

The band diagram of a typical pMOSFET at the source terminal, and the relevant symbols are shown in Fig. 2.1. According to Fig. 2.1,

$$\frac{E'}{x_T} = \frac{qV_{ox}}{T_{ox}}$$
(2.6)

$$E'' = q\psi_s - \left(E_F - E_V\right) \tag{2.7}$$

$$\phi_0 - E'' = E' + \left(E_T - E_{V_{ox}} \right) - \left(E_T - E_F \right)$$
(2.8)

where V_{ox} is the amount of band bending inside the oxide. Using the values of E' and E'',

$$E_T - E_F = \frac{qV_{ox}x_T}{T_{ox}} + \left(E_T - E_{V_{ox}}\right) - \phi_0 + E"$$
(2.9)

$$E_{T} - E_{F} = \frac{qV_{ox}x_{T}}{T_{ox}} + \left(E_{T} - E_{V_{ox}}\right) - \phi_{0} + q\psi_{s} - \left(E_{F} - E_{V}\right)$$
(2.10)

Now,

$$V_{ox} = V_{GS} - V_{FB} - \psi_s \tag{2.11}$$

where V_{GS} is the applied gate to source voltage. Therefore, combining Equations (2.5) and (2.10),

$$\ln\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_{c}}{\overline{\tau}_{e}}\right) = -\frac{1}{k_{B}T}\left[\left(E_{T} - E_{V_{ox}}\right) - \left(E_{F} - E_{V}\right) - \phi_{0} + q\psi_{s} + \frac{qx_{T}}{T_{ox}}\left(V_{GS} - V_{FB} - \psi_{s}\right)\right]$$
(2.12)

Equation 2.12 can be used to calculate $E_T - E_{V_{ox}}$.

2.1.3. Trap Position into the Oxide From the Si-SiO₂ Interface

 x_T can be found differentiating equation 2.12 with respect to V_{GS} .

$$x_{T} = \frac{k_{B}TT_{ox}}{q} \frac{d\ln\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_{c}}{\overline{\tau}_{e}}\right)}{dV_{GS}}$$
(2.13)

If a trap remains active for a high range of gate voltage, then the surface potential changes significantly over the gate voltage range. Therefore, to correctly extract x_T , this change in ψ_s needs to be incorporated while differentiating Equation 2.12 with respect to V_{GS} . Taking this change of ψ_s with respect to V_{GS} into account,

$$\frac{d\ln(\overline{\tau}_c/\overline{\tau}_e)}{dV_{GS}} = -\frac{1}{k_B T} \left[q \frac{d\psi_s}{dV_{GS}} + \frac{qx_T}{T_{ox}} \left(1 - \frac{d\psi_s}{dV_{GS}} \right) \right]$$
(2.14)
$$x_T = \frac{T_{ox} \left[\frac{kT}{q} \frac{d\ln(\overline{\tau}_c/\overline{\tau}_e)}{dV_{GS}} + \frac{d\psi_s}{dV_{GS}} \right]}{\frac{d\psi_s}{dV_{GS}} - 1}$$
(2.15)

2.1.4. Trap Position Along the Channel



Fig. 2.2 pMOSFET band diagram at the point along the channel where the trap is located.

To extract the trap position along the channel, RTS measurements need to be taken at various drain voltages. If y is a point along the channel measured from the source, and V_c is the channel voltage at that point, then $V_c \approx yV_{DS}/L$ [78], where V_{DS} is the applied drain to source voltage. The band diagram for any point in the channel is shown in Fig. 2.2. The average hole capture and emission times will then be exponentially dependent on the trap energy level with respect to the quasi-Fermi energy level for holes. Therefore, in equation 2.12, E_F and ψ_s will be replaced by ($E_F + qV_c$) and ($\psi_s + V_c$) respectively [79]. Then Equation 2.12 becomes

$$\ln\left(\frac{\overline{\tau_c}}{\overline{\tau_e}}\right) = -\frac{1}{k_B T} \left[\left(E_V - E_F + qV_C\right) + \left(E_T - E_{V_{ox}}\right) - \phi_0 + q\left(\psi_s + V_C\right) + \frac{qx_T}{T_{ox}}\left(V_{GS} - V_{FB} - \psi_s - V_C\right) \right]$$
(2.16)

 V_c increases with the increase of V_{DS} , unless saturation mode is reached where the channel length starts to decrease. Therefore, $(\overline{\tau}_c/\overline{\tau}_e)$ increases with the increase of V_{DS} in the linear region. Once the saturation mode arrives, $(\overline{\tau}_c/\overline{\tau}_e)$ starts to decrease. Hence, $(\overline{\tau}_c/\overline{\tau}_e)$ value reaches the maximum on the verge of saturation region. Since V_c depends on y, therefore, the drain voltage at which the maxima of $(\overline{\tau}_c/\overline{\tau}_e)$ is observed depends on the

trap location along the channel. In the forward mode, where V_{DS} is applied between the actual drain and source terminals of the device, Equation 2.16 can be written as

$$\ln\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_{c}}{\overline{\tau}_{e}}\right)_{f} = -\frac{1}{k_{B}T}\left[\left(E_{V}-E_{F}\right)+\left(E_{T}-E_{V_{ox}}\right)+qV_{C}-\phi_{0}+q\psi_{s}+qV_{C}+\frac{qx_{T}}{T_{ox}}\left(V_{GS}-V_{FB}-\psi_{s}\right)-\frac{qx_{T}}{T_{ox}}\frac{y}{L}V_{DS_{f}}\right]$$
(2.17)

where V_{DS_f} is the applied drain to source voltage in the forward mode of operation. In the reverse mode of operation, the drain and source terminals are switched. Hence, in the reverse mode of operation, $V_C \approx \left(1 - \frac{y}{L}\right) V_{DS}$,

and Equation 2.16 can be re-written as

$$\ln\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_{c}}{\overline{\tau}_{e}}\right)_{r} = -\frac{1}{k_{B}T}\left[\left(E_{V} - E_{F}\right) + \left(E_{T} - E_{V_{ax}}\right) + qV_{C} - \phi_{0} + q\psi_{s} + qV_{C} + \frac{qx_{T}}{T_{ox}}\left(V_{GS} - V_{FB} + \psi_{s}\right) - \frac{qx_{T}}{T_{ox}}\left(1 - \frac{y}{L}\right)V_{DS_{r}}\right]$$
(2.18)

where V_{DS_r} is the applied drain to source voltage in the reverse mode.

Therefore,

$$\ln\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_{c}}{\overline{\tau}_{e}}\right)_{f} - \ln\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_{c}}{\overline{\tau}_{e}}\right)_{r} = \frac{1}{k_{B}T}\left[q\frac{x_{T}}{T_{ox}}\frac{y}{L}V_{DS_{f}} - q\frac{x_{T}}{T_{ox}}\left(1 - \frac{y}{L}\right)V_{DS_{r}}\right]$$
(2.19)

$$\frac{k_B T}{q} \ln \frac{\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_c}{\overline{\tau}_e}\right)_f}{\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_c}{\overline{\tau}_e}\right)_r} = \frac{x_T}{T_{ox}} \frac{y}{L} \left(V_{DS_f} + V_{DS_r}\right) - \frac{x_T}{T_{ox}} V_{DS_r}$$
(2.20)

Hence, the trap location along the channel can be expressed as

$$\frac{\frac{Y_{T}}{T}}{L} = \frac{\left(\frac{T_{ox}k_{B}T}{x_{T}q}\right) \ln \left(\frac{\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_{e}}{\overline{\tau}_{e}}\right)_{f_{max}}}{\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_{e}}{\overline{\tau}_{e}}\right)_{r_{max}}} + V_{DS_{rmax}}}{\left(V_{DS_{fmax}} + V_{DS_{rmax}}\right)}$$
(2.21)

2.1.5. RTS Magnitude and Screened Scattering Coefficient

When a channel hole gets trapped, both the number and effective mobility of the inversion layer holes get affected causing a switching in the device resistance. The drain to source current can be expressed as [29]



Fig. 2.3 Schematic of a pMOSFET.

$$I_{DS} = W \,\mu q P_{inv} E_{v} \tag{2.22}$$

where P_{inv} is the inversion layer hole concentration per unit area. Now, if a section of width W and length Δy in the channel is considered (Fig. 2.3), then for that small portion of the channel,

$$\Delta P_{inv} = P_{inv} W \Delta y \tag{2.23}$$

$$\Delta P_t = P_t W \Delta y \tag{2.24}$$

where ΔP_{inv} and ΔP_i are the number of channel holes and filled traps in the small element respectively. The effective channel hole mobility can be modeled as [75]

$$\frac{1}{\mu} = \frac{1}{\mu_{oth}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{ox}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{oth}} + \alpha P_t$$
(2.25)

The effective channel hole mobility is dominated by the screening effect as well as the trap location from the Si-SiO₂ interface [72]. Therefore, $\mu = 1/(\alpha P_t)$, and

$$\frac{\partial \mu}{\partial P_t} = -\frac{1}{\alpha P_t^2} \tag{2.26}$$

$$\partial \mu = -\alpha \mu^2 \partial P_t \tag{2.27}$$

Now,

$$\partial \Delta P_t = \partial P_t W \Delta y \tag{2.28}$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{\partial \mu}{\partial \Delta P_t} = -\left(\frac{\alpha \mu^2}{W \Delta y}\right) \tag{2.29}$$

From Equation 2.22,

$$\partial \Delta I_{DS} = WqE_{y} \left[\mu \frac{\partial \Delta P_{inv}}{\partial \Delta P_{t}} \pm \Delta P_{inv} \frac{\partial \mu}{\partial \Delta P_{t}} \right] \partial \Delta P_{t}$$
(2.30)

Therefore,

$$\frac{\partial \Delta I_{DS}}{I_{DS}} = \left[\frac{1}{\Delta P_{inv}} \frac{\partial \Delta P_{inv}}{\partial \Delta P_{t}} \pm \frac{1}{\mu} \frac{\partial \mu}{\partial \Delta P_{t}}\right] \partial \Delta P_{t}$$
(2.31)

Since increase in the number of filled trap decreases the number of channel holes and vice versa, the coupling coefficient between the fluctuations in channel holes to that in filled trap is negative, and in strong inversion, it is close to unity [76]. Hence, $\partial \Delta P_{inv} / \partial \Delta P_{t} \approx -1$. In addition, for trapping of single inversion layer hole, $\partial \Delta P_{t} = 1$. Therefore,

$$\frac{\partial \Delta I_{DS}}{I_{DS}} = \left[\frac{1}{P_{inv}W\Delta y}\left(-1\right) \pm \left(-\frac{\alpha\mu}{W\Delta y}\right)\right] \partial \Delta P_t$$
(2.32)

$$\frac{\partial \Delta I_{DS}}{I_{DS}} = \left[-\frac{1}{\Delta P_{inv}} \pm \alpha \mu \right] \frac{\partial \Delta P_{t}}{W \Delta y}$$
(2.33)

Again,

$$\partial \Delta I_{DS} = \partial I_{DS} \frac{L}{\Delta y} \tag{2.34}$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{\partial I_{DS}}{I_{DS}} = -\left(\frac{1}{\Delta P_{inv}} \pm \alpha \mu\right) \frac{1}{WL}$$
(2.35)

In strong inversion,

$$\frac{\Delta V_{DS}}{V_{DS}} \approx \frac{\Delta I_{DS}}{I_{DS}} = -\left(\frac{1}{P_{inv}} \pm \alpha \mu\right) \frac{1}{WL}$$
(2.36)

Here, the first term in the parenthesis is called number fluctuations, and the second term is known as mobility fluctuations. The sign between the two fluctuation terms depend on whether the trap is an attractive center, or a repulsive center. Repulsive center traps are neutral in empty state, and become positively charged in filled state. Therefore, the remote Coulomb scattering between the channel holes and the defect filled with a hole increases with the increase in number fluctuations. Hence, the positive sign is used for the repulsive center traps. On the other hand, attractive centers are negatively charged before capturing a hole, and become neutral after trapping a channel hole. Hence, the scattering between the channel holes and the filled defect decreases with the increase in fluctuations in channel holes. Therefore, these two fluctuation terms work in the opposite direction, resulting in a negative sign in Equation 2.36.

The screened scattering coefficient (α) can be calculated using Equation 2.36 once the RTS magnitude is extracted. α can be related with P_{inv} as $\alpha = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \ln(P_{inv})$, where α_0 and α_1 are fitting parameters [72]. Since the amount of screening will decrease with the increase of inversion layer hole numbers, therefore $\alpha_1 < 0$.

2.1.6. Trap Capture Cross-section

The hole capture rate for a defect residing at the oxide-semiconductor interface is given by [29]

$$\frac{1}{\overline{\tau}_c} = \int_{-\infty}^{E_v} r(E) dE$$
(2.37)

where r(E) is the rate of transition per unit energy at energy E, and can be expressed as product of the particle flux and trap capture cross-section.

$$\frac{1}{\overline{\tau}_{c}} = \int_{-\infty}^{E_{V}} p(E) \overline{v}_{th}(E) \sigma(E) dE$$
(2.38)

where p(E) is the hole concentration per unit volume per unit energy at energy E, and $\overline{v}_{th}(E)$ is the average thermal velocity of holes at energy E. A more simplified form of Equation 2.38 is used for calculation, where the hole concentration, mean thermal energy, and trap capture cross-section are considered uniform with respect to energy. Hence,

$$\frac{1}{\overline{\tau}_{c}} = p\overline{v}_{th}\sigma$$
(2.39)

Therefore, σ can be calculated using the extracted mean capture time of RTS.



Fig 2.4 Configuration coordinate diagram of a pMOSFET with all trap energy parameters.

The hole capture and emission by oxide defects is a phonon assisted tunneling process [29]. Before trapping an inversion layer hole, the defect undergoes thermal vibrations. This thermal vibration is accompanied by vibrations from the surrounding lattice particles. This phenomenon helps the channel hole to get captured by the defect [11]. In order to get captured, the hole needs to cross a certain barrier, known as capture activation energy (ΔE_B). Upon getting trapped, the hole relaxes to the trap energy level, thereby emitting several phonons, which is related to the structural relaxation energy of the defect (E_R). To get released back to the valence band, the hole trapped hole needs to obtain a certain amount of energy, known as emission energy. The excess energy from the hole capture and emission process is Gibbs free energy, which can be divided in to two parts: trap binding enthalpy (ΔH) , and change in entropy (ΔS) . This excess energy also gives the trap energy level with respect to the silicon valence band edge (ΔE_{TV}) . The complete hole trapping and de-trapping process, along with the trap energy parameters are shown in Fig. 2.4.

2.1.7. Capture Activation Energy

Trap capture activation energy (ΔE_B) is an important trap energy parameter that can be used to study the structural behavior of the trap. Hole capture rate is largely affected by ΔE_B . In general, traps with higher ΔE_B show slower RTS than traps with lower ΔE_B values. ΔE_B can be related to the trap capture cross-section as [29]

$$\sigma = \sigma_0 e^{(-\Delta E_B/k_B T)} \tag{2.40}$$

where σ_0 is the trap capture cross-section pre-factor. It is obvious from Equation 2.40 that the Arrhenius plot of σ can be used to obtain both σ_0 , and ΔE_B .

2.1.8. Change in Enthalpy and Entropy

In the linear region of MOSFET operation, the drain to source current is given as [29]

$$I_{DS}(T) = p(T)q\mu(T)V_{DS}t(T)W/L$$
(2.41)

where t is the inversion layer thickness. The effective channel hole mobility and inversion layer thickness is dependent on temperature, and this dependence can be expressed as [29]

$$\mu(T) = \mu_0 T^{-3/2} \tag{2.42}$$

$$t(T) = t_0 T \tag{2.43}$$

where μ_0 and t_0 are the effective channel hole mobility and inversion layer thickness at zero Kelvin temperature. Combining Equations 2.41, 2.42, and 2.43,

$$p(T) = \frac{I_{DS}(T)T^{1/2}}{q\mu_0 V_{DS} t_0 (W/L)}$$
(2.44)

Mean thermal hole velocity can be expressed as

$$\overline{v}_{th} = \left(8k_B T / \pi m_p^*\right)^{1/2} \tag{2.45}$$

where m_p^* is the hole effective mass. Combining Equations 2.39, 2.40, 2.44, and 2.45,

$$\overline{\tau}_{c} = \frac{q\mu_{0}V_{DS}t_{0}\left(W/L\right)\exp\left(\Delta E_{B}/k_{B}T\right)}{\sigma_{0}\left(8k_{B}T/\pi m_{p}^{*}\right)^{1/2}I_{DS}\left(T\right)T^{1/2}}$$
(2.46)

Again, for holes,

$$\frac{\overline{\tau}_e}{\overline{\tau}_c} = \frac{1}{g} \exp\left[-\frac{E_T - E_F}{k_B T}\right]$$
(2.47)

Therefore,

$$\overline{\tau}_{c} = \frac{\exp\left(\Delta E_{B}/k_{B}T\right)\exp\left(E_{T}-E_{F}/k_{B}T\right)}{g\sigma_{0}\left(8k_{B}T/\pi m_{p}^{*}\right)^{1/2}p(T)}$$
(2.48)

The inversion layer hole density can be expressed as

$$p(T) = N_V \left[\frac{E_V - E_F}{k_B T} \right]$$
(2.49)

Hence,

$$\overline{\tau}_{e} = \frac{\exp\left[\left(\Delta E_{B} + \Delta E_{TV} / k_{B}T\right)\right]}{g\sigma_{0}\left(8k_{B}T / \pi m_{p}^{*}\right)^{1/2} N_{V}}$$
(2.50)

 $\Delta E_{TV} = E_T - E_V$ can be written in terms of trap binding enthalpy and change in entropy as $\Delta E_{TV} = \Delta H - T\Delta S$ [29].

Therefore, from Equation (2.50),

$$\overline{\tau}_{e} = \left(\frac{1}{g\sigma_{0}\left(8k_{B}T/\pi m_{p}^{*}\right)^{1/2}}N_{V}\exp\left(\Delta S/k_{B}T\right)\right)\exp\left[\left(\Delta E_{B}+\Delta H/k_{B}T\right)\right]$$
(2.51)

Therefore, from the Arrhenius plot of $\overline{\tau}_e(T)N_V(T)\left[T/(m_p^*(T))\right]^{1/2}$, $(\Delta E_B + \Delta H)$, and ΔS can be extracted. ΔH can be easily calculated since ΔE_B is already known from the Arrhenius plot of σ . ΔH and ΔS provide

information about the internal energy and structural disorder of the system. Positive ΔH indicates an endothermic process i.e. hole emission is followed by heat absorption in the system, whereas negative ΔH means that the process is exothermic, and heat is evolved from the system following hole emission. Positive value of ΔS means that the system is more disordered when the hole is emitted back to the channel. Negative ΔS indicates less structural disorder in the system after hole emission.

2.1.9. Relaxation Energy

Another important trap identification energy parameter is relaxation energy (E_R). E_R can be expressed using the parabolic approximation of the E - k diagram of the system (Fig. 2.4). According to Fig. 2.4, equating the two parabolas at $k_1 = 0$,

$$K^{2} = \left(K - K_{2}\right)^{2} + \left(\Delta H - T\Delta S\right)$$

$$(2.52)$$

If the two parabolas intersect each other at the point K_c , then,

$$K_{c}^{2} = (K_{c} - K_{2})^{2} + (\Delta H - T\Delta S)$$
(2.53)

From the two curves, $E_{\rm R} = K_2^2$, $\Delta E_B = K_c^2$. Therefore,

$$K_{c}^{2} = K_{c}^{2} - 2K_{c}K_{2} + K_{2}^{2} + (\Delta H - T\Delta S)$$
(2.54)

$$4K_c^2 K_2^2 = \left(E_R + \left(\Delta H - T\Delta S\right)\right)^2 \tag{2.55}$$

$$\Delta E_B = \frac{\left(E_R + \left(\Delta H - T\Delta S\right)\right)^2}{4E_R} \tag{2.56}$$

The temperature dependent trap energy parameters provide important information for identifying the physical structure of the defects responsible for RTS. In addition to the multi-phonon assisted tunneling mechanism explained in this chapter, quantum tunneling is also possible between the two states shown in Fig. 2.4 [80], [81]. However, to exhibit RTS, a trap needs to be very close to the silicon valence band edge. For those small values of $(E_T - E_V)$, the tunneling process would be too fast to be observed in the time frame used for RTS [82]. This

supports the observation of Scofield *et al.* [32], where they found the tunneling mechanism to be responsible for hole capture and emission only below 10 K, when the trap carriers slow down by several orders of magnitude.

The RTS theories required for RTS data analyses have been discussed in this chapter. Application of these theories allows identification and analyses of the physical structure and behavior of the hole traps responsible for RTS in pMOSFETs. Detailed analyses of the actual defect species identified using the trap parameters such as ΔE_B , E_R , $(E_T - E_{V_{ar}})$ have been presented in the following chapters.

Chapter 3 Noise Measurement Procedure

In order to characterize the defects correctly, it is very important to have robust RTS data and distinct RTS levels in the measured signal. As noise and interference from both internal and external sources in the setup can corrupt the RTS data, it is very important to follow certain precautions while taking measurements to minimize those undesired effects. The 60 Hz frequency components from the power line will also overlap with the output signal if steps are not taken to eliminate that. It is also essential to protect the devices from electrostatic discharge (ESD). During taking the noise measurements, appropriate techniques were used to encounter the aforementioned issues.



Fig. 3.1 Packaged chip where several devices are connected to the external leads.

At the wafer level, to isolate the device under test (DUT) from the external environment, a Micromanipulator 8600 series probe station was used. Once the functionality was verified and observation of RTS was confirmed in several devices, the wafer was diced into several dies and packaged to place it inside the cryostat (Fig. 3.1). Most of the experimental setup is placed inside a metallic shielded room (Fig. 3.2) to minimize the electromagnetic interference from the outside to the environment of the DUT in the cryostat. To protect the DUT from ESD, all the leads of that device were connected at the same potential when no experiment was going on. To bias the devices, a custom made, DC battery operated biasing circuitry was used (Fig. 3.3). While taking the measurements, static charges may flow into the terminals of the DUT and degrade the device. To prevent this, the device was always



Fig. 3.2 RTS measurement setup.

handled using a static wrist strap. To eliminate the effect of the 60 Hz component originating from the power line, all DC operated equipment such as the biasing circuitry, preamplifier were placed inside the shielded room, while the AC operated equipment such as the semiconductor parameter analyzer (SPA), oscilloscope were placed outside the shielded room. The shielded room was kept completely closed during the noise measurements to minimize interferences from outside.

The variable temperature measurements were done with an open end flow system, where liquid nitrogen evaporation was used as the cooling method. The pressure at which the liquid nitrogen is released from the dewar had to be adjusted carefully for lowering the temperature accurately. To precisely control the temperature, a liquid nitrogen gas cylinder was kept inside the shielded room. A Matheson-Trigas dual stage general purpose pressure regulator regulated the pressure between the gas cylinder and the dewar at the dewar inlet. Liquid nitrogen was



Fig. 3.3 Biasing circuitry used in the RTS measurement.



Fig. 3.4 Plot of drain-source current (I_{DS}) and transconductance (g_m) as a function of V_{GS} for a pMOSFET.

flown from a refillable liquid nitrogen dewar. Heat was applied using a wire wound resistive heater, which was located at the base of the stage where the DUT was placed. A Lakeshore 330 Autotuning Temperature Controller, which includes a PID controller, helped to obtain the desired temperature control. The proportional, integral, and differential constants were varied independently to make the temperature stable. The whole measurement consists of three steps: extraction of DC characteristics, extraction of C-V characteristics, and measurement of noise.

3.1 Extraction of DC Characteristics



Fig. 3.5 Plot of I_{DS} as a function of V_{DS} at different V_{GS} for a pMOSFET.

DC parameters of the DUT such as drain current (I_D) , trans-conductance (g_m) , and channel conductance (g_D) were found with an Agilent 4156A SPA. Plot of I_{DS} and g_m as a function of both V_{GS} (Fig. 3.4) and V_{DS} (Fig. 3.5) were observed to verify the device functionality. The threshold voltage, V_T was determined from the x-axis intercept of the tangent drawn on $\sqrt{I_{DS}}$ at the point where $d\sqrt{I_{DS}}/dV_{GS}$ is minimum (Fig. 3.6). The aforementioned DC parameters were obtained following the same procedure at each temperature at which RTS was found.



Fig. 3.6 Extraction of V_T in a pMOSFET. V_T is evaluated from the x-axis intercept of the tangent drawn on $(I_{DS})^{1/2}$ at the point where minimum of $d(I_{DS})^{1/2}/dV_{GS}$ occurs.



Fig. 3.7 Setup for extraction of C-V characteristics.

The C-V characteristics were plotted with the data obtained from an Agilent 4294A impedance analyzer. The C-V characteristic curve allowed calculating the oxide thickness. The gate to channel capacitance (C_{GC}) was measured by connecting the gate terminal to high end of the impedance analyzer, and drain and source to the low end of the impedance analyzer (Fig. 3.7). The total inversion layer charge (Q_{inv}) was obtained calculating the total area under the C-V curve. The inversion layer hole concentration was determined using [83]

$$P_{inv} = Q_{inv} \left(V_{GS} \right) = q \int_{0}^{V_{GS}} C_{GC} \left(V_{GS} \right) dV$$
(3.1)

The effective channel length ($L_{\! e\!f\!f}$) was found through [83]

$$L_{eff} = L \left(1 - \frac{C_{GC_{ov}}}{C_{GC_{inv}}} \right)$$
(3.2)

where $C_{GC_{ov}}$ and $C_{GC_{inv}}$ are gate to channel overlap capacitance, and gate to channel capacitance in the inversion region respectively. Finally, the oxide thickness (T_{ox}) was computed using $T_{ox} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{SiO_2} / C_{ox}$, where C_{ox} is the



Fig. 3.8 C-V characteristics of a MOS capacitor.

corrected gate to channel capacitance obtained by subtracting the overlap capacitance from the raw gate to channel capacitance (Fig. 3.8), ε_0 is the permittivity of free space, and ε_{SiO_2} is the dielectric constant of silicon dioxide.

3.3 RTS Measurement Procedure

After verifying the DC characteristics and finding the C-V curve, RTS measurements were done at room temperature. After mounting the DUT in the cryostat, the effect of ESD was eliminated with the help of four metallic test clips so that all the leads had the same known voltage (Fig. 3.9). The leads were disconnected from the outer frame of the package with care so that the metallic clips connected to the leads do not come out. Then, the leads were connected to the cryostat connectors via four pin socket connectors (Fig. 3.10). The metallic test clips were taken out one by one with caution. All four terminals i.e. gate, source, drain and substrate were shorted together while connecting the test clips and disconnecting the device leads. Before applying bias to the device, the connections that shorted the four device terminals were taken out. The V_{GS} and V_{DS} were varied to find a suitable bias range in which an RTS was observed. Once the devices were biased, the output signal was amplified through an EG&G PAR113 low-noise preamplifier before feeding to an Agilent 54832B oscilloscope. The preamplifier was

operated in the AC coupling mode to suppress the DC components from the output signal. The source and substrate terminals were connected to the virtual ground of the biasing circuitry. However, grounding the substrate of the



Fig. 3.9 Connection of metallic clips to the leads of the DUT in packaged die.

device to the virtual ground of the biasing box was not enough to quiet the extraneous noise which interfered with the RTS. The terminals needed to be connected to the actual ground, which was in turn connected outside the central system. Once an RTS was observed, measurements were taken at 8-10 bias points varying the V_{GS} and keeping the V_{DS} constant, all in the linear region of pMOSFET operation. The sampling frequency of the oscilloscope (F_S) is calculated using $F_S = N_p/T_t$, where N_p is the number of total points, and T_t is the length of the total time span of the signal. While recording the RTS traces, selection of the appropriate sampling frequency is essential. Lower sampling frequency will result in loss of observed switching events, while too many samples will add unnecessary points to the signal. The sampling frequency, as well as the time span was varied in such a way so that at least 500 switching events were present in each RTS trace. At low temperatures, the capture and emission processes slow down be several orders of magnitude because of lower carrier energy. Hence, it is very difficult to obtain 500 transitions between the RTS levels even in the maximum signal time span of the oscilloscope. In those cases, multiple traces for that bias point were recorded. These traces were then stitched together during the RTS analyses.

After finishing the room temperature RTS measurements, the temperature was dropped at different intervals. The cryostat pressure was kept below 65mTorr using a vacuum pump. The proportional, integral, and differential gains of the Lakeshore 330 temperature controller were fixed at 350, 50, and 0 respectively to have the optimal temperature control [84]. After obtaining the desired vacuum level around 40 μ m Hg, the liquid nitrogen and nitrogen gas cylinder nozzles were opened slowly to prevent liquid nitrogen overflow. The temperature controller display monitor was used to note down the temperature inside the cryostat. By trial and error, it was observed that for a pressure of nitrogen gas flow between 8 and 12 psi resulted in optimum cooling. Therefore, the nitrogen gas



Pin socket connectors used to connect the device terminals to the cryostat connectors

Fig. 3.10 Connection of pin socket connectors to the leads of the DUT in packaged die.

cylinder gauge pressure was set to between 8 and 12 psi. This pressure is very important for precise control of temperature. If less pressure is applied, the temperature will longer than usual to get fixed at the desired value. Application of too much pressure will result in the wastage of nitrogen gas.

3.4 Flicker Noise Measurements

The flicker noise measurements were taken at room temperature with the devices placed in the Micromanipulator 8600 series probe station. The flicker noise measurements were done with the same setup explained earlier. A HP 3562A dynamic signal analyzer, interfaced with a computer provided the flicker noise PSD. The PSD was obtained for three decades of frequency (Fig. 3.11). When there is no current flowing in a MOSFET, noise coming from the system background will be observed at the output, which includes noise coming from the preamplifier, 60 Hz power line, biasing circuitry, contact of the probe tips, and device thermal noise. PSD for background noise at each bias point was extracted, and was subtracted from the overall flicker noise during analyses

(Fig. 3.11). The AC power cord of the signal analyzer was grounded to the actual ground outside the system through a power outlet. This helped to reduce the effects of harmonics of the 60 Hz signal on the overall noise.



Fig. 3.11 Measured background noise, overall PSD and the subtracted net PSD of an nMOSFET.

3.5 Stress Procedure

To analyze the effects of hot carriers on RTS and trap characteristics, the devices were stressed using the Agilent 4156A SPA. RTS measurements were done at variable temperatures. However, the devices were stressed



Fig. 3.12 Threshold voltage degradation with stress time for a pMOSFET.

only at room temperature so that the carriers have sufficient energy to degrade the DC characteristics. After completing the variable temperature RTS measurements at a particular stress interval, the device temperature was allowed to come up to the room temperature before any further stressing was done. After each stressing interval, the aforementioned DC characteristic parameters were recorded. Stress was applied at different intervals until around 30% degradation on the threshold voltage (V_T) was observed (Fig. 3.12).

This Chapter describes all the necessary techniques followed during RTS and flicker noise measurements. The accuracy of the noise analyses covered in the next Chapters highly depends on the minimization of outside interferences in the recorded noise data. The setups and measurement procedures described in this Chapter certainly ensure to obtain noise data with negligible overlap with outside disturbances.

Chapter 4 RTS Results and Analyses

RTS is observed because of alternate capture and emission of channel carriers by defects residing near the Si-SiO₂ interface and in SiO₂. RTS can be used as a technique to characterize the gate oxide defects. However, in order to extract the defect characteristics, it is essential to correctly analyze the measured RTS data. First step is to find out if the responsible trap is an attractive center (negatively charged when empty, neutral when full), or a repulsive center (neutral when empty, positively charged when full). Consequentially, careful analyses need to be carried out to determine whether the upper level or the lower level of the RTS corresponds to the capture time. For RTS with more than two levels, extraction of time constants for each RTS level is also very important. This chapter focuses on the RTS data obtained from measurements at variable temperatures, and their analyses.

4.1 Device Specifications and Measurement Conditions

RTS measurements at variable temperatures were taken on 15 pMOSFETs in total from room temperature down to 165 K, all in linear region of operation. Representative results of 4 devices are presented here. The devices



Fig. 4.1 Sample RTS observed in PMOS50 at different temperatures. V_{GS} = -1.5 V, V_{DS} = -0.4 V.

are named as PMOS500 ($W \times L = 1 \ \mu m \times 0.5 \ \mu m$), PMOS550 ($W \times L = 1 \ \mu m \times 0.55 \ \mu m$), PMOS600 ($W \times L = 1 \ \mu m \times 0.6 \ \mu m$), and PMOS700 ($W \times L = 1 \ \mu m \times 0.7 \ \mu m$). For the device PMOS700, the measurement conditions were T = 245-295 K, $V_{GS} = -1.8$ to -2.3 V, and $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V. For PMOS550, RTS was observed at T = 215-295 K, $V_{GS} = -1.5$ to -2.3 V, and $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V. For PMOS600, the bias and temperature conditions were T = 215-295 K, $V_{GS} = -1.65$ to -1.9 V, and $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V. For PMOS500, the RTS was present at T = 175-265 K, $V_{GS} = -2.15$ to -2.5 V, and $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V. For PMOS500, the RTS was present at T = 175-265 K, $V_{GS} = -2.15$ to -2.5 V, and $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V. A sample two-level RTS recorded in the device PMOS550 at different temperatures are shown in Fig. 4.1. Similar two-level RTS was found in all four devices in the measured temperature and bias ranges mentioned above. Observation of two-level RTS indicates that a single trap is responsible for RTS in each device. All devices were 5 V rated. The oxide thickness of the devices was measured to be 12.1 nm.

4.2 Average Capture and Emission Times



Fig. 4.2 Defining limits for each RTS level.

RTS analyses started with defining a high and low limit for each of the RTS levels (Fig. 4.2). A MATLAB code was developed to compute the time spent at each RTS level for each switching event. The probability to switch from one RTS level to another follows Poisson's statistics, and the time spent at each RTS level follows an exponential distribution (Fig. 4.3) [56], [85]. The average time spent at each level was calculated using $\overline{\tau} = \sum_{m=1}^{M} t_m |F_m| / \sum_{m=1}^{M} |F_m|$, where t_m is the time duration for each bin m, M is the total number of bins, and F_m is the

number of switching events within the duration t_m . The behavior of the average capture time as a function of V_{GS}



Fig. 4.3 Distribution of time spent at the higher level for PMOS550. $V_{GS} = -1.5$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V, T = 295 K.

can be used to find out whether the trap is an attractive center or a repulsive center. For a pMOSFET, $\overline{\tau}_c/\overline{\tau}_e = f_t/(1-f_t) = (1-f_{th})/f_{th}$. Equations 2.40 and 2.50 are re-written here for convenience:

$$\overline{\tau}_{c} = \frac{e^{(\Delta E_{B}/k_{B}T)}}{\sigma_{0} p \overline{\nu}_{th}}$$
(4.1)

$$\overline{\tau}_{e} = \frac{\exp\left[\left(\Delta E_{B} + \Delta E_{TV}/k_{B}T\right)\right]}{g\sigma_{0}\left(8k_{B}T/\pi m_{p}^{*}\right)^{1/2}N_{V}}$$
(4.2)

With the increase in gate voltage magnitude, in addition to the increase in inversion layer hole number, the trap hole occupancy also increases. The increase in inversion layer hole concentration decreases the average hole capture time ($\overline{\tau}_c$) (Eq. 4.1). Depending on the trap energy level with respect to the silicon valence band edge, the average emission time might increase or decrease with the increase of gate voltage magnitude. Fig. 4.4 shows the band diagram of a pMOSFET. With the increase in gate voltage magnitude, the amount of bending in the oxide valence band (V_{ox}) increases. The increase in V_{ox} shifts the trap energy level with respect to the silicon valence band edge as well (Fig. 4.4). Hence, depending on the trap energy level with respect to the silicon valence band edge, the

average emission time $(\overline{\tau}_e)$ might increase, decrease, or remain the same with the increase in $|V_{GS}|$. Even if $\overline{\tau}_e$ experiences a decrease with the increase in $|V_{GS}|$, the decrease in $\overline{\tau}_e$ is less than the decrease in $\overline{\tau}_c$ because of the denominator in Eq. 4.2. Therefore, $\overline{\tau}_c/\overline{\tau}_e$ will decrease with the increase in $|V_{GS}|$. During analyses, the pattern of average time spent at each RTS level is observed as a function of V_{GS} . If the average time spent at the lower level



Fig. 4.4. Band diagram of a pMOSFET. With the increase in gate voltage magnitude, V_{OX} increases. Since trap energy level is measured with respect to the oxide valence band edge, the trap energy level will also move. Therefore, the trap energy level with respect to the silicon valence band edge will change, reflecting a change in the average emission time constant.

For electron traps:



Fig. 4.5 Summary of identification of trap types. An attractive center is a termed as a 'donor' for electron traps in nMOSFETs, while an attractive center in pMOSFETs is termed as an 'acceptor'. The terms 'attractive' and 'repulsive' have been used in this work to avoid any confusion.

decreases with the increase in V_{GS} magnitude, then the bottom level corresponds to capture time constant, $\overline{\tau}_c$. If the average time constant for the upper level shows a decrease when the magnitude in V_{GS} increases, then the average time spent at the upper level is $\overline{\tau}_c$.

When a trap is charged, the channel holes will experience remote Coulomb scattering because of the positively charged channel holes, and the charged trap. This remote Coulomb scattering between the channel holes and the charged trap will increase the channel resistance. The pMOSFETs used in the experiments were biased with



Fig. 4.6 Experimentally measured average hole capture and emission times as a function of V_{GS} and T. For PMOS500, PMOS600 and PMOS700, $V_{DS} = -0.5 \text{ V}$. For PMOS550, $V_{DS} = -0.4 \text{ V}$.

a constant current source. Hence, a charge trap will result in an increase in the V_{DS} magnitude. An attractive center hole trap is negatively charged when empty, while a repulsive center trap is positively charged when it captures a hole. Therefore, if the lower level of an RTS in absolute value is found to be indicating $\overline{\tau}_c$, then the trap responsible is empty when it is not charged i.e. the trap is a repulsive center. If $\overline{\tau}_{o}$ corresponds to the upper level of an RTS in absolute value, then the trap is charged when it is empty, which makes the trap an attractive center. Commonly, the trap types are mentioned as 'donors' and 'acceptors' [85]. However, the terms 'donors' and 'acceptors' are defined in terms of charge states related to the capture and emission of electrons. Using similar terms in case of hole traps might make the definitions of the trap types complicated and confusing. Therefore, to avoid any confusion, 'attractive centers' and 'repulsive centers' have been used in this work to indicate the charge states of the traps prior and after hole capture. Definition of both trap types in case of both electron and hole traps have been summarized in Fig. 4.5. For the devices PMOS550, PMOS600, and PMOS700, the upper level of the RTS correspond to $\overline{\tau}_c$, and for PMOS500, the bottom level correspond to $\overline{\tau}_c$. Hence, PMOS500 is a repulsive center, whereas PMOS550, PMOS600, and PMOS700 are attractive center traps. It is important to note that the observation of attractive and repulsive center traps in the MOSFETs is totally random. If another device of same dimensions is taken, either of the two types of traps can be observed. Comments about the trap type cannot be made before taking the RTS measurements. However, the distribution of the traps can be statistically quantified using RTSSIM [85]. The plots of experimentally measured $\overline{\tau}_c$ and $\overline{\tau}_e$ are shown in Fig. 4.6 as a function of V_{GS} and temperature for all four devices.

To extract the trap characteristic parameters, the following parameters are used [86]:

Average thermal velocity of inversion layer holes, $\overline{v}_{th}(T) = \sqrt{\frac{8k_BT}{\pi m_p^*}}$.

Electron effective mass, $m_n^*(T) = m_0(1.053 + 0.00012T)$, where m_0 is mass of an electron.

Hole effective mass, $m_p^*(T) = m_0(0.6135 + 0.00269T - 3x10^{-6}T^2)$.

Silicon bandgap, $E_g(T) = 1.166 - \frac{4.730 \times 10^{-4} T^2}{(T+636)}$.
Effective density states of electrons in the conduction band, $N_C(T) = 2 \left(\frac{2\pi m_n^* k_B T}{h^2}\right)^{3/2}$.

Effective density states of holes in the valence band, $N_V(T) = 2 \left(\frac{2\pi m_p^* k_B T}{h^2}\right)^{3/2}$.

Intrinsic carrier concentration at equilibrium, $n_i(T) = \sqrt{N_C N_V} e^{-E_g/(2k_B T)}$.

Hole concentration per unit volume, p is calculated using $p(T) = p_0(T)e^{-(q\Psi_s/k_BT)}$ [86], [82], where p_0 is the equilibrium hole concentration. Here,

$$p_{0} = \frac{n_{i}^{2}(T)}{n_{0}(T)} \approx \frac{n_{i}^{2}(T)}{N_{D}(T)} \approx \frac{n_{i}^{2}(T)}{N_{D}^{+}(T)}$$
(4.3)

where n_0 is the equilibrium electron concentration, N_D and N_D^+ are the background donor doping concentration, and ionized doping concentration respectively. However, at low temperatures, some of the carriers freeze out. Therefore, at low temperatures, we cannot assume the background donor doping concentration to be equal to the electron concentration i.e. $n_0 = N_D^+ \neq N_D$. The equilibrium electron concentration can be expressed as [86] $n_0(T) = N_C(T)e^{(E_F - E_C)/k_B T}$. The ionized donor concentration is related to the background donor doping concentration by

$$N_D^+(T) = n_0(T) = \frac{N_D}{1 + g_d e^{(E_F - E_D)/k_B T}}$$
(4.4)

where E_D and g_d are the donor energy level and donor degeneracy factors respectively. Equation (4.4) can be modified as

$$n_{0}(T) = \frac{N_{D}}{1 + g_{d} e^{(E_{F} - E_{C})/k_{B}T}} e^{(E_{C} - E_{D})/k_{B}T}} = \frac{N_{D}}{1 + \left(\frac{g_{d}}{N_{C}(T)}\right)} e^{(E_{C} - E_{D})/k_{B}T} n_{0}(T)$$
(4.5)

$$\left(\frac{g_d}{N_c}\right)e^{(E_c - E_D)/k_B T}n_0^2 + n_0 - N_D = 0$$
(4.6)

Solving Equation (4.6) n_0 can be written as

$$n_{0}(T) = \frac{-1 \pm \sqrt{1 + 4 \left[\left(\frac{g_{d}}{N_{C}(T)} \right) e^{(E_{C} - E_{D})/k_{B}T} \right] N_{D}}}{2 \left[\left(\frac{g_{d}}{N_{C}(T)} \right) e^{(E_{C} - E_{D})/k_{B}T} \right]}$$
(4.7)

The surface potential (ψ_s) also needs to be calculated for analyzing the trap parameters. ψ_s is calculated via the Poisson's equation. From the charge neutrality equation, Poisson's equation can be expressed as [86]

$$\frac{\delta^2 \psi(x)}{\delta x^2} = \frac{\delta}{\delta x} \left(\frac{\delta \psi(x)}{\delta x} \right) = \frac{-q}{\varepsilon_{si}} \left[p_0 \left(e^{q \psi(x)/k_B T} - 1 \right) - n_0 \left(e^{-q \psi(x)/k_B T} - 1 \right) \right]$$
(4.8)

where $\psi(x)$ is the potential at the channel measured at a point x from the Si-SiO₂ interface. The total charge in the semiconductor (Q_s) is computed by integrating Equation (4.8) from the bulk towards the interface. Q_s is calculated as

$$Q_{S} = \sqrt{2k_{B}Tn_{0}\varepsilon_{Si}} \left\{ \left(e^{-q\psi_{s}/k_{B}T} + \frac{q\psi_{s}}{k_{B}T} - 1 \right) + \left(\frac{n_{i}}{n_{0}} \right)^{2} \left(e^{q\psi_{s}/k_{B}T} - \frac{q\psi_{s}}{k_{B}T} - 1 \right) \right\}^{1/2}$$
(4.9)

Finally, ψ_s is calculated using the measured P_{inv} through the C-V characteristics, and by solving Equation (4.9).

$$P_{inv} = \left\{ \frac{\sqrt{2\varepsilon_{si}}k_BT}{q^2 L_D(T)} \sqrt{\left(u + e^{-u} - 1\right) + \left(\frac{n_i}{n_0}\right)^2 \left(e^u - u - 1\right)} \right\} - n_0 \sqrt{\frac{2\varepsilon_{si}\psi_s}{qn_0}}$$
(4.10)

where $u = q\psi_s/k_BT$, and $L_D(T) = \sqrt{\left(\epsilon_{si}k_BT/q^2n_0\right)}$ is the Debye length.

4.3 Trap Location From the Si-SiO₂ Interface

The trap distance from the Si-SiO₂ interface (x_T) was extracted through [82]

$$x_{T} = \frac{T_{ox} \left[\frac{kT}{q} \frac{d \ln(\overline{\tau_{c}}/\overline{\tau_{e}})}{dV_{GS}} + \frac{d\psi_{s}}{dV_{GS}} \right]}{\frac{d\psi_{s}}{dV_{GS}} - 1}$$
(4.11)

As mentioned in Chapter 3, T_{ox} was calculated from the C-V characteristics via $T_{ox} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{SiO_2} / C_{ox} \cdot x_T$ is shown in Fig. 4.7 for all four devices at different temperatures. The trap locations of the four devices varied from 0.39 nm to 1.4 nm. According to R. Salh [87], the Si-O bond length in the SiO₂ network varies between 0.154 nm and 0.169



Fig. 4.7 Trap location of the traps across all the measured temperatures. As expected, the trap location does not show a significant variation with respect to temperature. The physical location does not indicate the type of trap.

nm. This indicates that the traps responsible for RTS in the devices are not Pb centers (a trivalent Si center at the Si-SiO₂ interface) [88]. Both attractive center and repulsive center defects were found to be residing at similar locations from the Si-SiO₂ interface. Hence, the physical location was not an indicator of the trap types. No correlation was found between the time constants of the traps and their location from the Si-SiO₂ interface. This is consistent with

the observations reported by Nagumo *et al.* [89]. This supports the fact that the random capture and emission of the channel holes by the gate oxide defects is indeed phonon-assisted tunneling, and not elastic tunneling.



4.4 Trap Position Along the SiO₂ Bandgap

Fig. 4.8 Trap energy level with respect to the SiO₂valence band edge: (a) For PMOS700, (b) PMOS500. Both the attractive and repulsive center traps are located around the same energy level along the SiO₂ bandgap. Hence, trap energy level does not indicate the trap type either.

The trap energy level with respect to the SiO_2 valence band edge was found from the following expression.

$$\ln\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}_{c}}{\overline{\tau}_{e}}\right) = -\frac{1}{k_{B}T} \left[\left(E_{T} - E_{V_{ox}}\right) - \left(E_{F} - E_{V}\right) - \phi_{0} + q\psi_{s} + \frac{qx_{T}}{T_{ox}} \left(V_{GS} - V_{FB} - \psi_{s}\right) \right]$$
(4.12)

 $E_T - E_{V_{ax}}$ for all the traps are shown in Fig. 4.8. The values of $E_T - E_{V_{ax}}$ vary from 4.68-4.78 eV. This indicates that the traps are located just below the silicon valence band edge. Hence, the traps were easily accessible by the channel holes since the Fermi level is close to E_V at these bias points.

4.5 RTS Magnitude

Each of the RTS levels corresponded to a Gaussian distribution in the histogram (Fig. 4.9). The RTS magnitude was extracted from the difference between the peaks of the Gaussian distributions. When a channel hole



Fig. 4.9 Extraction of RTS magnitude for PMOS550. V_{GS} = -1.5 V, V_{DS} = -0.4 V, T= 295 K.

gets captured by a trap, number of the channel hole fluctuates. According to the unified number and mobility fluctuations theory (UNMF) [72], in addition to the change in the channel hole number fluctuations, the charged trap also causes fluctuations in the effective mobility of the channel hole via remote Coulomb scattering. In strong inversion, the normalized fluctuation in drain voltage can be written as [72]

$$\frac{\Delta V_{DS}}{V_{DS}} = -\left(\frac{1}{P_{inv}} \pm \alpha \mu\right) \frac{1}{WL}$$
(4.13)

As explained in Chapter 2, the sign between the fluctuation terms in the parenthesis depends on the trap charge states before and after hole capture: '-' sign is used in case of attractive center traps, and '+' sign is used for repulsive center traps. Therefore, everything else being equal, a repulsive center trap will result in higher RTS magnitude than an attractive center. This is evident from Fig. 4.10, where PMOS500, being a repulsive center exhibits around one order of higher RTS magnitude than the attractive center traps.

The number and mobility fluctuation terms in Eq. (4.13) were calculated from the measured RTS magnitude. P_{inv} was extracted by integrating the measured C-V characteristics [85]. $1/P_{inv}$ was computed using the

extracted P_{inv} . The mobility fluctuations were calculated by subtracting the number fluctuations from the normalized RTS magnitude. Since the devices are almost identical in size, therefore, the hole number fluctuations of all the traps were similar. On the other hand, PMOS500 showed roughly one order of magnitude higher mobility fluctuations than the other traps since a positively charged trap causes more scattering than a negatively charged trap (Fig. 4.10).



Fig. 4.10 RTS magnitude normalized to drain voltage, number fluctuations, and mobility fluctuations for (a) PMOS500 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, T= 265 K, (b) PMOS550 at V_{DS} = -0.4 V, T=295 K (c) PMOS600 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, T= 295 K and (d) PMOS700 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, T= 295 K. Since PMOS500 is a repulsive center, therefore, the number and mobility fluctuations get added, while the two fluctuations terms get subtracted for the other traps. As a result, PMOS500 shows roughly one order of higher RTS magnitude than the other traps.

4.6 Screened Scattering Coefficient

Screened scattering coefficient (α) was found from the mobility fluctuations term extracted through Equation 4.13. μ was calculated using $\mu = g_D L/WqP_{inv}$. The calculated α values at different V_{GS} and temperatures



Fig. 4.11 Screened scattering coefficient across all the measured V_{GS} and temperatures: (a) For PMOS700 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, (b) PMOS500 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V. Since PMOS500 is a repulsive center and PMOS700 is an attractive center, therefore α values of PMOS500 are around one order of magnitude higher than PMOS700 as a positive charged trap causes more hole scattering than a negatively charged defect.

are shown in Fig. 4.11. With the increase of V_{GS} , channel hole concentration increases. This reduces the amount of screening and hence α is decreased. With the increase in temperature, μ is decreased due to increased phonon scattering. However, the mobility fluctuation decreased with the increase of temperature. Therefore, α showed a slight decrease with the increase in temperature.

4.7 Capture Cross-section

Capture cross-section of the traps were calculated through the Shockley-Read-Hall statistics [29]:

$$\sigma = \frac{1}{p\overline{v}_{th}\overline{\tau}_c} \tag{4.14}$$

Capture cross-sections of PMOS500 and PMOS550 are shown in Fig. 4.12. The values of σ varied from $10^{-27} - 10^{-23}$ cm², which were within the similar range of the capture cross-section values, previously reported using RTS [90]. However, the aforementioned σ values disagreed with some other published trap capture cross-section values



Fig. 4.12 Capture cross-sections across all the measured V_{CS} and temperatures: (a) For PMOS700 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, (b) PMOS500 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V. With the decrease in temperature, the hole motion slowed down, resulting in a decrease in capture cross-sections.



Fig. 4.13 Arrhenius plot of σ for PMOS550 at different gate voltages at V_{DS} = -0.4 V. Slope of this plot gives the trap capture activation energy (ΔE_B).

extracted through charge pumping measurements [91], [92], [93]. This was partially because of the slower time constants, and partially due to the limitations of the formulation used by Kirton and Uren [29]. In addition, Equation 4.14 assumes the trap to be surrounded by uniform layer of channel carriers, and not a distance away from them as a trap would be from the channel carriers. However, the carrier distribution is not uniform along the channel. Moreover, position of the peak of the carrier concentration in silicon changes with gate voltage. Therefore, Equation 4.14 is only an approximation [94]. Furthermore, the vibration frequencies of the two charge carrier states are assumed to be same (i.e. same curvature for both parabolas in Fig. 2.4). This is also incorrect and would need some corrections to be made in the expressions used to calculate the capture cross-sections [95], [96]. However, that topic is beyond the scope of this work.

4.8 Capture Activation Energy

As mentioned in Chapter 2, trap capture activation energy (ΔE_B) is related to the capture cross-section as [29]:

$$\sigma = \sigma_0 e^{\left(-\Delta E_B / k_B T\right)} \tag{4.15}$$



Fig. 4.14 Capture activation energy of all the traps. For PMOS500, PMOS600 and PMOS700, V_{DS} = -0.5 V. For PMOS550, V_{DS} = -0.4 V. Switching due to PMOS500 was faster than the other traps because of its lower ΔE_B .

 ΔE_B and capture cross-section pre-factor (σ_0) were found through the Arrhenius plot of σ (Fig. 4.13). ΔE_B values of PMOS550, PMOS600, and PMOS700 (attractive centers) were found to be ~0.5 eV, whereas the ΔE_B values of PMOS500 (repulsive center) was ~0.2 eV (Fig. 4.14). This higher ΔE_B value of the attractive centers was the primary reason behind the higher time constants for the attractive center defects [13]. The narrow V_{GS} range in the RTS experiments has kept the change in ΔE_B negligible (Fig. 4.14) [12], [29]. Since the average capture time is exponentially dependent on ΔE_B , even a slight change in ΔE_B causes a significant change in $\overline{\tau}_c$.

4.9 Change in Enthalpy and Entropy



Fig. 4.15 Arrhenius plot of normalized average emission time constant for PMOS550 at different gate voltages at V_{DS} = -0.4 V. Slope of this plot gives the change in enthalpy (ΔH). The y-axis intercept can be used to extract the change in entropy (ΔS).

Arrhenius plot of $\overline{\tau}_e N_V \left(T/m_p^*\right)^{1/2}$ was used to find $(\Delta E_B + \Delta H)$ and $\Delta S/k_B$ (Fig. 4.15). ΔH was calculated by subtracting ΔE_B from the obtained $(\Delta E_B + \Delta H)$ values. ΔH values of the traps are shown in Fig. 4.16(a). Positive values of ΔH indicate that the hole emission is an endothermic process, whereas negative ΔH

infer an exothermic process. ΔS values (Fig. 4.16(b)) indicated the amount of disorder in the system. Negative ΔS values suggested more disorder in the local environment around the defect in lattice after capturing a hole, whereas positive ΔS values meant that the system was more disordered after emitting the hole back to the channel. Negative ΔH means that heat is transferred to the lattice when the captured hole is emitted back to the channel. The



Fig. 4.16 (a) Change in enthalpy, and (b) change in entropy for all traps. For PMOS500, PMOS600 and PMOS700, V_{DS} = -0.5 V. For PMOS550, V_{DS} = -0.4 V.

transferred heat might increase the binding force between the neighboring atoms, leading to less entropy when the trap is empty of a hole. The $(\Delta H - T\Delta S)$ values of the traps varied from -53.6 meV up to 8.14 meV across the measured V_{GS} and temperature range. This observation confirmed that the traps were located near the silicon valence band edge at the Si-SiO₂ interface [82].

4.10 Relaxation Energy

Another important parameter to identify the defect structures is relaxation energy (E_R), which gives information about structural relaxation of the defects due to phonon exchange during capture and emission of the channel holes. When a carrier gets trapped, it relaxes to the trap energy level by emitting several phonons, and this determines the value of the relaxation energy. E_R was calculated through the obtained ΔE_B , ΔH and ΔS values solving:

$$\Delta E_B = \frac{\left(E_R + \left(\Delta H - T\Delta S\right)\right)^2}{4E_B} \tag{4.16}$$



Fig. 4.17 Relaxation energy of all the traps. For PMOS500, V_{DS} = -0.5 V, T= 265 K, for PMOS600 and PMOS700, V_{DS} = -0.5 V, T= 295 K, for PMOS550, V_{DS} = -0.4 V, T= 295 K.

As shown in Fig. 4.17, E_R of PMOS500 (repulsive) was ~0.8 eV, whereas the other traps showed a relaxation energy of ~2.0 eV (attractive). Comparing to the other traps, smaller ΔE_B values resulted in smaller E_R values for PMOS500. However, it is still not clear why the ΔE_B and E_R were observed to be much lower than the other traps.

4.11 Trap Species

To identify the defect structures responsible for RTS, the experimentally found ΔE_B , E_R and $E_T - E_{V_{ox}}$ values were compared to the already published defect parameters. A list of parameters of all the studied defects is shown in Table 4.1. $E_T - E_{V_{ox}}$ values of our traps varied between 4.6 and 4.8 eV across all measured gate voltages and temperatures. This eliminates certain types of E' center defects from possible defect candidates such as two-fold

coordinated silicon neutral vacancy centers (II-Si), and a pair of under-coordinated oxygen atom and overcoordinated silicon atom (III-O/V-Si) since both of these defects are close to either $E_{V_{ox}}$ or $E_{C_{ax}}$ [37]. $E_T - E_{V_{ox}}$ values of hydrogen defects and hydroxyl E' center defects matched with the $E_T - E_{V_{ox}}$ values of our traps [38], [39], [97], [98], [99]. However, the ΔE_B and E_R values of the hydrogen defects and the hydroxyl E' centers are reported to be higher than that of the defects presented in this Chapter [38], [39], [97], [98], [99]. This ruled out both the hydrogen related defects and the hydroxyl E' centers from the possible candidates.

According to the density functional theory calculations using generalized gradient approximation (DFT-GGA), a certain type of E' center, a pair of three-coordinated silicon defects (D-III-Si) exhibits a relaxation energy of ~1 – 2 eV upon capturing a hole from the channel [37]. This defect lies deep in the SiO₂ bandgap, with energy levels around 4.8 – 5.6 eV from the SiO₂ $E_{V_{ac}}$. Since both E_R and $E_T - E_{V_{ac}}$ of the D-III-Si defect match with those of the attractive center defects observed through RTS, therefore D-III-Si defect is thought to be the attractive center defect responsible for RTS. One silicon atom in the D-III-Si defect has a doubly occupied sp³ orbital. Upon capturing a hole, one of the paired electrons is neutralized, and hence the structure behaves like an attractive center defect defined earlier. After trapping a hole, the O-Si-O bond angle increases from ~103⁰ to ~107⁰ (Fig. 4.18(a)) [37].



Fig. 4.18 (a) Pair of dissociated three-fold coordinated silicon atoms (D-III-SI) acting as a Coulombic attractive center, (b) Puckered/back-projected E_{γ}' center (III-O/III-Si) acting as a repulsive center. The solid lines and arrows indicate Si-O bonds and dangling electrons respectively. The bond angles and lengths are not drawn to scale.

$$\equiv \mathbf{S}\mathbf{i}^{*} + \equiv \mathbf{S}\mathbf{i}^{-} + \mathbf{h}^{+} \leftrightarrow \equiv \mathbf{S}\mathbf{i}^{*} + \equiv \mathbf{S}\mathbf{i}^{*}$$

$$(4.17)$$

where \equiv indicates three silicon-oxygen bonds, \cdot means a single unpaired electron, and : represents paired electrons in a single sp³ orbital. These defect centers are negatively charged when empty, and get neutralized after trapping a

	Trap	Capture activation energy	Relaxation energy		
Trap species	Туре	(ΔE_B) (eV)	(E_R) (eV)	$E_T - E_{V_{\alpha\alpha}}$ (eV)	$E_T - E_V$ (eV)
Aforementioned attractive centers	-/0	0.47-0.55	1.91-2.28	4.69-4.81	-0.04 - +0.02
D-III-Si	-/0		0.5-2.3 [37]	4.8-5.6 [37]	
H bridge defect	-/0		2.5 [38], 1.71 [99]	4-6.5 [38], 3.8-5.2 [97]	
III-Si/V-Si	-/0		1.7-2.1 [37]	5.0-5.6 [37]	
III-O/V-Si	-/0		~1.7 [37]	5.1-6.3 [37]	
NOV	-/0		0.5-1 [37]	~7.1 [37]	
II-Si	-/0		~1.2 [37]	~6.9 [37]	
Aforementioned repulsive center	0/+	<mark>0.18-0.20</mark>	<mark>0.81-0.89</mark>	<mark>4.68 – 4.73</mark>	-0.070.04
Aforementioned repulsive center III-O/III-Si	0/+	0.18-0.20	0.81-0.89 0.5-1.8 [37]	<mark>4.68 – 4.73</mark> 3.9-5.3 [37]	-0.070.04 -0 [97]*
Aforementioned repulsive center III-O/III-Si H bridge defect	0/+ 0/+ 0/+	0.18-0.20 0.1-1.0 [39]	0.81-0.89 0.5-1.8 [37] 1.5-2.0 [39]**, 2.0-2.5 [38], 2.22 [99]	4.68 – 4.73 3.9-5.3 [37] 4-6.5 [38], 4.3-4.9 [97]	-0.070.04 ~0 [97]* -1.0 - +0.5 [39], [98]
Aforementioned repulsive center III-O/III-Si H bridge defect Hydroxyl E' center	0/+ 0/+ 0/+	0.18-0.20 0.1-1.0 [39] 0.2-1.0 [39], ~ 0.4 [98]	0.81-0.89 0.5-1.8 [37] 1.5-2.0 [39]**, 2.0-2.5 [38], 2.22 [99] ~2.0 [39]***	4.68 – 4.73 3.9-5.3 [37] 4-6.5 [38], 4.3-4.9 [97]	-0.070.04 ~0 [97]* -1.0 - +0.5 [39], [98] -1 - +1 [39], [98]
Aforementioned repulsive center III-O/III-Si H bridge defect Hydroxyl E' center $E_{\delta}^{'}$ center	0/+ 0/+ 0/+ 0/+	0.18-0.20 0.1-1.0 [39] 0.2-1.0 [39], ~ 0.4 [98]	0.81-0.89 0.5-1.8 [37] 1.5-2.0 [39]**, 2.0-2.5 [38], 2.22 [99] ~2.0 [39]***	4.68 – 4.73 3.9-5.3 [37] 4-6.5 [38], 4.3-4.9 [97] 2.9-3.1 [97]	-0.070.04 ~0 [97]* -1.0 - +0.5 [39], [98] -1 - +1 [39], [98]
Aforementioned repulsive center III-O/III-Si H bridge defect Hydroxyl E' center $\vec{E_{\delta}}$ center NOV	0/+ 0/+ 0/+ 0/+ 0/+	0.18-0.20 0.1-1.0 [39] 0.2-1.0 [39], ~ 0.4 [98] 1.5 – 2.5 [39]	0.81-0.89 0.5-1.8 [37] 1.5-2.0 [39]**, 2.0-2.5 [38], 2.22 [99] ~2.0 [39]*** ~1.0 [37], ~ 3.0 [39]	4.68 – 4.73 3.9-5.3 [37] 4-6.5 [38], 4.3-4.9 [97] 2.9-3.1 [97] 1.6-2.4 [37]	-0.070.04 0 [97]* -1.0 - +0.5 [39], [98] -1 - +1 [39], [98] -1.33.7 [98], [39]
Aforementioned repulsive center III-O/III-Si H bridge defect Hydroxyl E' center $E_{\delta}^{'}$ center NOV III-Si/V-Si	0/+ 0/+ 0/+ 0/+ 0/+ 0/+	0.18-0.20 0.1-1.0 [39] 0.2-1.0 [39], ~ 0.4 [98] 1.5 – 2.5 [39]	0.81-0.89 0.5-1.8 [37] 1.5-2.0 [39]**, 2.0-2.5 [38], 2.22 [99] ~2.0 [39]*** ~1.0 [37], ~ 3.0 [39] ~1.0 [37]	4.68 – 4.73 3.9-5.3 [37] 4-6.5 [38], 4.3-4.9 [97] 2.9-3.1 [97] 1.6-2.4 [37] 2.1-2.9 [37]	-0.070.04 ~0 [97]* -1.0 - +0.5 [39], [98] -1 - +1 [39], [98] -1.33.7 [98], [39]

Table 4.1- Summary of the energy parameters of all the studied defects.

Green highlights: agreement with the attractive trapping centers reported our manuscript.

Yellow highlights: agreement with the repulsive center reported in our manuscript.

Gray highlights: disagreement with the values reported in our manuscript.

*Referred as the "puckered configuration of E_{γ} " in [97]. ** Calculated from Fig. 13 of [39].

*** Calculated from Fig. 16 of [39].

hole, which is similar to the charge states observed in an attractive center.

On the other hand, the repulsive center, PMOS500 was considered to be another type of E' center, a pair of under-coordinated Si atom and over-coordinated oxygen atom (III-O/III-Si) [37] (also known as puckered/back-projected oxygen vacancy center [97], [100]). According to the DFT-GGA calculations [37], energy level of the III-O/III-Si defect varies from 3.8 eV to 5.2 eV from the oxide valence band. Upon capturing a hole, the defect structure undergoes a relaxation of ~0.8 – 1.5 eV. Both these parameters match with the $E_T - E_{V_{ax}}$ and E_R of the repulsive center, PMOS500. After trapping a hole from the silicon valence band, one of the dangling bond electron is neutralized, increasing the average O-Si-O bond angle to ~108-109⁰ from ~103⁰ (Fig. 4.18(b)) [37]. This defect is neutral when empty of a hole, and becomes positively charged when filled with a hole. Hence, the charge states of this defect before and after hole trapping also match with those of a typical repulsive center defect.

$${}^{+} \equiv \mathbf{O} + \equiv \mathbf{Si} : {}^{-} + \mathbf{h}^{+} \leftrightarrow {}^{+} \equiv \mathbf{O} + \equiv \mathbf{Si}^{-}$$

$$(4.18)$$

Since the D-III-Si and the III-O/III-Si defects are the closest to the silicon valence band edge [37], therefore these two defects are predicted to be the most dominant defects during hole capture in pMOSFETs. This prediction matches with the results observed through RTS experiments.

A major concern was the bandgap calculated through DFT calculations. The SiO₂ bandgap was found to be ~6 eV using DFT calculations [37], whereas the actual SiO₂ is ~9.1 eV. Therefore, a correction in the band edges as well as the defect energy levels were needed while finding the $E_T - E_{V_{ax}}$ using the DFT calculations. According to Lany and Zunger [101], while correcting the energy levels for deep SiO₂ bandgap defects, correcting only the $E_{V_{ax}}$ and $E_{C_{ax}}$ keeping E_T constant would be sufficient. Therefore, keeping the defect levels (Fig. 2 in [37]) fixed [102], the G₀W₀ scheme in hybrid DFT calculations were used in correcting the band edges [103]. After correcting the band edges, $E_T - E_{V_{ax}}$ of the defects reported in [37] was found to be ~4.8 eV, which matched with that of the defects observed in RTS experiments.

The traps reported in this Chapter differ from the results reported by Grasser *et al* [39], [40], [98], where they used time dependent defect spectroscopy (TDDS) experiments to characterize the oxide defects, and predicted hydrogen defects and hydroxyl E' centers to be responsible for RTS. RTS probes into switching traps that lead to noise in drain signal, whereas TDDS characterizes the oxide traps that causes gate oxide leakage and threshold degradation. Therefore, these two techniques analyze two different types of traps. The fact that the TDDS experiments are done at elevated temperatures ($\sim 125^{0}$ C) [98] also supports this. RTS can detect traps within a narrow energy window, but is capable of differentiating the attractive center traps from the repulsive centers. TDDS, on the other hand, is able to detect traps of a much broader energy window, but it cannot be utilized to identify the attractive or repulsive center defects.

E' centers have been reported to be amphoteric in nature, capable of capturing both electrons and holes [82]. It is therefore not surprising to find E' centers to be responsible for RTS in nMOSFETs [12], [13], [85], as well as pMOSFETs [82]. It is also interesting to observe that the capture cross-sections, capture activation energies, change in enthalpy and entropy and relaxation energies of repulsive center defects in pMOSFETs are within the similar range of values as the repulsive center traps in nMOSFETs [12], [13]. Therefore, the repulsive center defect structure, the puckered/back-projected E_{γ}' center (also called $E_{\gamma 4}'$ center in [38], [100]) is capable of capturing an electron from the silicon conduction band and releasing it to the valence band. Cobden *et al.* [94] also reported similar findings in their RTS analyses. However, they did not comment about the defect type in their article. Their results also agree with Nicklaw *et al.* [100] and Anderson *et al.* [37], who calculated the defect energy levels using DFT. These findings point towards the III-O/III-Si defects to be responsible for RTS in both nMOSFETs and pMOSFETs.

Another interesting point to notice is that in case of both attractive and repulsive center defects, only one under-coordinates silicon atom (\equiv Si^{*}) takes part in switching charge states and undergoes structural changes. The counterparts in both the defect pairs take no part in switching the defect charge state. This can be the reason behind the ΔH and ΔS values falling under the same trend line as a function of V_{GS} (Figs. 4.16 (a)-(b)). However, the PMOS550 showed RTS at a lower V_{DS} than the other traps, and exhibiter higher ΔH and ΔS than the other traps. A possible explanation behind this is that the trap might be located near the drain side along the channel since the emission activation energy depends on the position of the quasi-Fermi energy with respect to the trap energy level. Therefore, higher energy would require for PMOS550 to emit the capture hole back to the channel, which would reflect in higher values of ΔH and ΔS . In summary, variable temperature RTS measurements were done on 15 different sized pMOSFETs, among which four devices have been presented in this chapter. Two different types of E' centers were found to be responsible for RTS in these devices: a pair of dissociated three-coordinated Si defects (D-III-Si) as attractive centers, and a puckered/ back-projected oxygen vacancy center as repulsive center. This is one of the very few works that suggest a defect structure responsible for RTS in pMOSFETs.

Chapter 5 Effects of Channel Hot Carrier Stress on RTS

Hot carrier effects have been a major concern in short channel devices in recent times. Channel holes with excess energy in a pMOSFET can damage the oxide-semiconductor interface and hence alter the device parameters such as threshold voltage and transconductance. To investigate in detail the mechanisms behind hot carrier-induced damage to the device parameters, application of hot carrier stress on MOS devices has been a matter of interest for the last several years. In addition to degrading the device parameters, some hot holes might gain enough energy to cross the barriers between the valence bands of oxide and semiconductor [86]. Hence, those highly energetic holes can tunnel to the oxide, damage the oxide lattice, and create additional defects in the lattice [86]. Those newly created defects can capture channel holes during MOSFET operation, and cause additional RTS at the output signal. In Chapter 4, characterization of process-induced oxide defects was presented using variable temperature RTS measurements, and a possible structure of the responsible defect was proposed. However, no information on the above mentioned stress-induced traps was obtained in that work. To clearly understand the mechanism behind the creation of stress-induced traps that might be responsible for RTS, extensive amount of stress and RTS measurements need to be done followed by careful analyses of the obtained noise data. This Chapter discusses the bias conditions and cumulative times of stress applied on the MOSFETs under test. RTS measurements after each stress, and detailed analyses of the obtained RTS data are also included. Finally, the trap generation mechanism and the stress-induced defect structure have been suggested.

5.1 Stress Conditions, Device Specifications and Measurement Conditions

Determination of the appropriate stress condition was the first step in the experiments. Among all types of electrical stress conditions, channel hot carrier (CHC) stress is known to cause the maximum degradation in device parameters [104]. The condition for worst degradation in CHC are (i) $V_G = V_D/2$ for devices with channel length <0.25 µm [105], [106], and (ii) $V_G = V_D$ for devices with channel length >0.25 µm [107], [108], [109], [110], where V_G and V_D are applied gate and drain voltage, respectively. The pMOSFET device lengths varied from 0.5 to 1 µm. Even though stressing at $V_G = V_D/2$ would result in worst degradation in the device characteristics, interface degradation would dominate over the bulk oxide degradation in such stress [110]. The bulk oxide degradation

mechanism dominates over the interface degradation when a device is stressed at $V_G = V_D$ [110]. All measured pMOSFETs are 5 V rated devices. Therefore, while stressing the devices, a voltage higher than 5 V had to be applied across the gate and drain terminals. To find out the optimum stress bias condition, the devices were stressed at $V_G = V_D = -6$ V, and $V_G = V_D = -7$ V for different durations. The device threshold voltage and transconductance degradation were monitored right after each stress step. Stressing at $V_G = V_D = -7$ V resulted in very fast degradation in the device threshold voltage, whereas applying $V_G = V_D = -6$ V as stress condition caused very slow degradation in the device threshold voltage. Therefore, an intermediate stress condition, $V_G = V_D = -6.5$ V was chosen as the

Cumulative stress time	Number of levels in	Traps
(sec)	RTS	active
0, 5, 10, 40, 70, 100	3	A, B
200	2, 3	A, C
300	2	А
400	2, 3	A, C
500	3	A, B
600	2	А
700	3	A, B
800	2, 3, 4	A, B, D
900, 1000, 1200	2, 3	A, C, D
1500	3	A, B
2000	2, 3	E, F
2500	2	G, H
3000	No RTS	N/A

Table 5.1- RTS levels and traps active at different stressing times.

Table 5.2- Sample of measured MOSFET parameters at different stressing times.

Cumulative stress time (sec)	Threshold voltage (V)	Mobility Degradation*	Gate leakage current* (A)
0	-0.616	N/A	-1.73×10^{-7}
5	-0.617	0.52%	$-2.69 imes 10^{-7}$
10	-0.620	0.43%	$-2.28 imes 10^{-7}$
40	-0.620	1.74%	$-2.27 imes 10^{-7}$
70	-0.624	2.44%	$-2.22 imes 10^{-7}$
100	-0.625	2.68%	$-2.25 imes 10^{-7}$
200	-0.630	4.40%	$-2.12 imes 10^{-7}$
300	-0.641	5.68%	$-2.05 imes 10^{-7}$
400	-0.645	7.15%	$-2.05 imes 10^{-7}$
500	-0.646	8.28%	$-2.05 imes 10^{-7}$
600	-0.646	9.90%	$-2.44 imes 10^{-7}$
700	-0.651	9.54%	$-2.09 imes 10^{-7}$
800	-0.655	10.53%	$-2.20 imes 10^{-7}$
900	-0.655	11.80%	$-2.11 imes 10^{-7}$
1000	-0.659	12.72%	$-2.00 imes 10^{-7}$
1200	-0.671	14.00%	$-2.03 imes 10^{-7}$
1500	-0.689	16.59%	$-2.07 imes 10^{-7}$
2000	-0.727	18.39%	$-2.09 imes 10^{-7}$
2500	-0.762	22.25%	$-2.38 imes 10^{-7}$

stress voltage.

In order to investigate the process-induced traps, RTS measurements were taken on different μ m-sized pMOSFETs at room temperature. Upon finishing the RTS measurements on the MOSFETs in pre-stress condition, CHC was applied using $V_{GS} = V_{DS} = -6.5$ V for different durations to probe the stress-induced traps (Table 5.1). RTS experiments were done right after each stress step to minimize the effects of carrier relaxation. Measurements were



Fig 5.1 (a)– Sample RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -2.4$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V before applying any stress when traps A and B are active. Switching between levels $1\leftrightarrow 2$ was observed because of trap A, while trap B caused the switching between levels $1\leftrightarrow 3$; (b) Calculation of capture and emission times. Since both traps A and B are attractive centre traps, the upper level of the RTS magnitude corresponds to the capture time, and time spent at the bottom level is the emission time. Green arrows are used to show capture times, whereas black arrows are used to indicate emission times. The two circles at the right denote the states of traps B and A at different RTS levels. Empty circle indicates an empty hole trap (filled with an electron), while a filled circle indicates that the trap is filled with a hole (empty of an electron).

taken on eight pMOSFETs in total, among which representative results of one pMOSFET of $W \times L = 1 \times 0.7 \,\mu\text{m}^2$ are presented in this Chapter. For RTS experiments, V_{GS} was varied from -1.6 V to -3.6 V. While taking the RTS data due to a particular trap, V_{DS} was kept constant. Different traps became active at different V_{GS} ranges, as well as at different V_{DS} values. V_{DS} had to be varied between -0.2 V and -0.6 V to capture RTS due to all active traps. The C-V measurements were taken on a MOS capacitor of $W \times L = 90 \times 100 \,\mu\text{m}^2$ using the procedure described in Chapter 3. As mentioned in Chapter 3, the C-V data were used to calculate P_{inv} and T_{ox} . The DC characteristics were verified, and the threshold voltage and transconductance were found using the SPA. The MOSFETs were stressed using the SPA. Cumulative stress of 3000 seconds was applied using the aforementioned conditions with step size of 5 seconds to 500 seconds (Table 5.1). The sampling frequency and the total time span of the recorded RTS signal were adjusted to record at least 500 transitions between different RTS levels.

5.2 Results

Before application of any stress, a 3-level RTS was observed (Fig. 5.1(a)). A 3-level RTS can be attributed to two different traps [55]. The two pre-stress traps are named as A and B. After 200 seconds of stress, trap B

disappears and a new trap C was observed that resulted in another 3-level RTS (Fig. 5.2(a)). Later, traps B and C were found to be volatile in nature, appearing and disappearing with subsequent stress. A simple 2-level RTS (Fig. 5.3) was observed after 300 and 600 seconds of stress, where only trap A was active (Table 5.1). Upon 800 seconds of stress, a new trap D was observed (Fig. 5.4), which was later found to interact with the pre-stress traps A and B, and result in a 4-level RTS (Fig. 5.5(a)). After 2000 seconds of stress, traps A, B and C disappeared, and two new traps, E and F were observed (Figs. 5.6 and 5.7). Traps E and F disappeared after further stress. Two other traps, G and H appeared after 2500 seconds of stress (Figs. 5.8 and 5.9), which got deactivated after 3000 seconds of stress. The summary of the observed traps at each stress step is shown in Table 5.1. Each trap was differentiated from the



Fig 5.2 (a)- RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -2.9$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V, 200 seconds of stressing. A third level appeared in the signal which was observed due to trap C. Similar traces were observed after 400, 900, 1000 and 1200 seconds of stressing; (b)- Calculation of capture and emission times for A and C. Unlike Fig. 1, no transitions between $1 \leftrightarrow 3$ take place. Rather the transitions to level 3 occur from level 2. This also indicates that C is filled with a hole only if A is filled with a hole. Level 2 corresponds to emission time of A and capture time of C.



Fig 5.3 Sample RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -2.3$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V after 200 seconds of stressing when only trap A is active. Similar two-level RTS was observed at other bias and stress conditions when only trap A was active. The time spent at level 1 is the capture time, while level 2 corresponds to the emission time.

other traps by its active gate voltage ranges, average time constants, and RTS magnitude. Using the procedure explained in Chapter 4, the rate of change of time constant ratio with respect to gate voltage was used to find out if a trap is an attractive or a repulsive center. Depending on the number of active traps and number of bias points, RTS measurements duration after each step of stress varied from an hour to three and a half hours. During RTS



Fig 5.4 Sample RTS observed at V_{GS} = -1.6 V, V_{DS} = -0.6 V after 800 seconds of stressing when only trap D is active. Similar two-level RTS was observed at low gate voltages after 900 seconds of stressing.



Fig 5.5 (a)- RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -2.3$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.6$ V after 800 seconds of stressing. In addition to trap D, traps A and B are also active resulting in a 4-level complex RTS. (b)- Calculation of capture and emission times. Since all three traps A, B, and D are attractive centers, upper level of the RTS magnitude due to a particular trap corresponds to the capture time, and bottom level corresponds to the emission time of the respective trap. States of each trap are shown at the right side.

measurements, only the permanent effects of stress were observed. During the RTS experiments at a particular stress time, the RTS recorded before that stress interval was not observed at any point. After 2500 seconds of stress, the device threshold voltage, hole mobility and gate leakage current varied by 23.7%, 35.8% and 37.6% respectively (Table 5.2). It is important to note that the traps mentioned above are the ones electrically active and close to the Fermi energy level and hence accessible to us with the oscilloscope sampling rate and measurement time spans.

5.3 Average Capture and Emission Times

Multiple traps might become active at the same time while taking the RTS measurements, resulting in complex RTS. MATLAB codes were written to calculate the average time spent at each RTS level using the same procedure described in Chapter 4. Since the switching probabilities follow Poisson's statistics, the time constants at each RTS level followed exponential distribution [56], [85]. For a particular trap, with the increase in gate voltage magnitude, the ratio of average capture to emission time decreases [82]. The pattern of each particular RTS level as



Fig 5.6 Sample RTS observed at $V_{GS} = -2.1$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.2$ V when only trap E is active.



Fig 5.7 RTS at V_{GS} = -2.3 V, V_{DS} = -0.3 V when an additional level was observed because of trap F. Both the traps were observed at 2000 seconds of stressing. The capture and emission times were extracted using the same method as shown in Fig 5.2 (b).

a function of V_{GS} was observed to find out if a particular level corresponds to $\overline{\tau}_c$ or $\overline{\tau}_e$ for a particular trap. The upper level of $|\Delta V_{DS}|$ corresponded to $\overline{\tau}_e$ for trap H, and $\overline{\tau}_c$ for the other traps. Hence, traps A to G were found to be Coulombic attractive center traps, whereas trap H was found to be a repulsive center trap.

Extraction of $\overline{\tau}_c$ and $\overline{\tau}_e$ for a simple 2-level RTS is straight forward and explained in Chapter 4. However, calculation of $\overline{\tau}_c$ or $\overline{\tau}_e$ for a complex RTS is complicated and needs special attention. A sample RTS trace is shown in Fig. 5.1(a) where traps A and B are active. All transitions in the RTS in Fig. 5.1(a) take place from level 1. This indicates that the occupancy of traps A and B do not depend on each other. As both A and B are attractive centers, level 1 corresponds to $\overline{\tau}_c$ for both A and B, level 2 indicates $\overline{\tau}_e$ for A, and $\overline{\tau}_c$ for B, and level 3 belong to $\overline{\tau}_c$ for A and, $\overline{\tau}_e$ for B (Fig. 5.1(b)). After 200 seconds of stress when traps A and C are active, the switching events take place between levels 1 \leftrightarrow 2 and 2 \leftrightarrow 3 (Fig. 5.2(a)). Therefore, the occupancy of trap C is dependent on the occupancy of trap A. Using similar analysis procedure as explained in Chapter 4, average time spent at level 1 can be found as $\overline{\tau}_c$ for trap A, and mean time spent at level 3 is $\overline{\tau}_e$ for trap C (Fig. 5.2(b)). At level 2, trap A is filled with a hole and

trap C is empty of a hole. Hence, $\overline{\tau}_e$ for trap A is constituted by consecutive levels 2 and 3, whereas $\overline{\tau}_c$ for trap C is made up of levels 1 and 2 (Fig. 5.2(b)).



Fig 5.8 RTS recorded at $V_{GS} = -1.7$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.2$ V when only trap G is active.



Fig 5.9 RTS at $V_{GS} = -2.1$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.6$ V, where only trap H is active. Both the traces were obtained after 2500 seconds of stressing. Trap H is a repulsive center. Therefore, unlike the other traps, for H level 1 corresponds to emission time, while level 2 corresponds to capture time.

After 800 seconds of stress, at lower gate voltages, a 2-level RTS was recorded, due to a new trap D (Fig. 5.4). Therefore, at higher gate voltages, when RTS because of traps A and B was added to the already present RTS, it was possible to identify 3 traps: A, B and D from the resultant 4-level RTS (Fig. 5.5(a)). Therefore, in Fig. 5.5(b), level 1 indicates $\overline{\tau}_c$ for traps A, B and D, level 2 belongs to $\overline{\tau}_c$ for A and B, and $\overline{\tau}_e$ for D, level 3 corresponds to $\overline{\tau}_c$ for B, and $\overline{\tau}_e$ for A and D, and finally, the time spent at level 4 is $\overline{\tau}_c$ for A, and $\overline{\tau}_e$ for B and D. In Figs. 5.1(b), 5.2(b) and 5.5(b), occupancies of the traps are shown. In addition, identification of $\overline{\tau}_c$ and $\overline{\tau}_e$ for each of the traps are included as well. As shown in Fig. 5.10, $\overline{\tau}_c$ or $\overline{\tau}_e$ of the traps did not show any dependence on stress time.



Fig 5.10. Plot of average capture and emission times with respect to stress time for (a) Trap A, (b) Trap B, and (c) Trap C. For traps A and B, V_{GS} = -2.4 V, V_{DS} = -0.4 V. For trap C, V_{GS} = -2.7 V, V_{DS} = -0.4 V. Capture and emission time constants did not show any particular dependence on stressing time for any of the traps.

5.4 RTS Amplitude

RTS amplitude for each trap was calculated from the difference in the Gaussian peaks in the amplitude histograms of the corresponding RTS levels [13]. RTS magnitude of trap H is around one order of magnitude higher than the other traps (Fig. 5.11 (a)-(h)). This is another indication that trap H is a repulsive center defect, while the other traps are attractive centers [82]. As explained in Chapter 4, normalized RTS magnitude is the resultant of two voltage fluctuation components: number fluctuations, and mobility fluctuations. Number fluctuations were calculated using P_{inv} obtained from the C-V data. After each stressing, for a particular trap, the applied V_{GS} range was kept the same to ensure a similar inversion layer. However, V_T may be shifted after each stressing. Hence, after a stressing interval, the inversion layer hole concentration at a particular V_{GS} may not be the same as the pre-stress condition. To solve this issue, while calculating P_{inv} at a particular stress, change in the threshold voltage (ΔV_T) at that stress was taken into account, and P_{inv} was calculated at the corresponding $V_{GS} - |\Delta V_T|$. At a given channel inversion condition, the contributions of the channel carrier number fluctuations should be the same no matter what the trap is. Since trap H is a repulsive center, the '+' sign is used between the two voltage fluctuation components in the UNMF model, whereas the '-' sign is used for the other traps. This addition of the two fluctuation components results in higher RTS amplitude in repulsive centers. This explains roughly one order of magnitude higher RTS



amplitude for H compared to others (Fig. 5.11). However, as a function of stress time, none of the traps show any particular behavior (Fig. 5.12).

Fig 5.11 Drain voltage RTS fluctuations normalized to drain voltage, charge carrier number fluctuations, and mobility fluctuations for (a)- trap A at $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V, 0 sec stress; (b)- trap B at $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V, 0 sec stress; (c) trap C at $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V, 200 sec stress; (d)- trap D at $V_{DS} = -0.6$ V, 800 sec stress; (e)- trap E at $V_{DS} = -0.2$ V, 2000 sec stress; (f)- trap F at $V_{DS} = -0.3$ V, 2000 sec stress; (g)- trap G at $V_{DS} = -0.2$ V, 2500 sec stress; (h)- trap H at $V_{DS} = -0.6$ V, 2500 sec stress. H is a repulsive centre trap while the other 7 traps are attractive centres, which justifies the larger RTS magnitude due to trap H than that of the other traps. Repulsive centres also result in higher mobility fluctuations.



Fig 5.12. Plot of normalized RTS magnitude, number and mobility fluctuations as a function of stress interval for (a) Trap A, (b) Trap B, and (c) Trap C. For traps A and B, $V_{GS} = -2.4$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V. For trap C, $V_{GS} = -2.7$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V.

5.5 Trap Location From the Si-SiO₂ Interface

The trap distances from the Si-SiO₂ were from the $(\overline{\tau}_c/\overline{\tau}_e)$ ratio using the expression derived in Chapter 2. x_T of all the traps varied from 0.60 – 1.65 nm. As mentioned in Chapter 4, the Si-O bond length varies from 0.1540.169 nm [87] (Fig. 5.13(a)). Hence, the traps are located deeper than one SiO₂ tetrahedral structure from the Si-SiO₂ interface. Therefore, like the traps reported in Chapter 4, these traps are not Pb centers either. Comparing to the



Fig 5.13 (a)– Band diagram of a pMOS at the source end of the channel; (b)-plot of trap distance from the Si/SiO₂ interface with respect to stress time. x_T and $E_T - E_{Vox}$ values indicate that the traps are oxide traps that reside just below the silicon valence band edge.

process-induced traps, the stress-induced traps were found to be located both in the bulk SiO_2 and closer to the Si- SiO_2 interface. The random position of the stress-induced traps in the oxide can be attributed to the injection of hot carriers into the bulk oxide [110].

5.6 Trap Capture Cross-sections and Energy Level With Respect to Oxide Valence Band Edge

Trap capture cross-sections and $E_T - E_{V_{ox}}$ for traps A, B and C are shown in Fig 5.14 as a function of gate

voltages at different stress times. $E_T - E_{V_{or}}$ of all the traps varied from 4.6 eV to 4.78 eV, indicating that both the



Fig 5.14. Plot of trap energy levels with respect to oxide valence band edge and capture cross-sections as a function of stress time for (a) Trap A, (b) Trap B, and (c) Trap C. For traps A and B, $V_{GS} = -2.4$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V. For trap C, $V_{GS} = -2.7$ V, $V_{DS} = -0.4$ V.

process-induced and stress-induced traps are located just below the valence band edge of silicon (Fig. 5.13(b)). Hence, the traps can readily capture channel holes at the active gate biases. σ and $E_T - E_{V_{ox}}$ for all traps are summarized at Table 5.3. The fact that $\overline{\tau}_c$ and $\overline{\tau}_c$ did not exhibit any particular trend as a function of stress time is

Trap	Capture cross-section (σ) (cm ²)	$E_T - E_{Vox}$ (eV)
A (0 sec stress)	$4.92 - 7.92 \ge 10^{-27}$	4.61 - 4.68
B (0 sec stress)	$2.61 - 5.88 \ge 10^{-27}$	4.61 - 4.68
C (200 sec stress)	$4.83 - 6.35 \ge 10^{-27}$	4.67 - 4.71
D (800 sec stress)	$3.42 - 6.37 \ge 10^{-26}$	4.74 - 4.85
E (2000 sec stress)	$2.12 - 4.58 \ge 10^{-25}$	4.66 - 4.71
F (2000 sec stress)	$5.98 - 18.3 \ge 10^{-27}$	4.58 - 4.63
G (2500 sec stress)	$7.11 - 8.19 \ge 10^{-26}$	4.64 - 4.67
H (2500 sec stress)	$5.65 - 5.81 \ge 10^{-26}$	4.72 - 4.74

Table 5.3- Trap capture cross-sections and energy levels.

reflected in the invariability of σ and $E_T - E_{V_{ox}}$ (Fig. 5.14). For a particular trap, as similar values of σ and $E_T - E_{V_{ox}}$ were observed at each stress time, it is clear that the application of stress did not change the existing trap characteristics. Rather it affected only the creation, passivation, and reactivation of the traps. The σ and $E_T - E_{V_{ox}}$ values for all the process-induced as well as stress-induced traps were in the similar range as those of the traps listed in Chapter 4. This is the primary reason behind considering the attractive center traps earlier in this Chapter (both process-induced and stress-induced) as a pair of D-III-Si defects, and the repulsive center as puckered/back-projected oxygen vacancy defect.

5.7 Trap Creation, Trap Activation and Deactivation

Application of the large vertical electrical field during CHC is believed to be the reason behind the creation of E' centers in the aforementioned device. The application of an electric field introduces lattice distortion that leads to charge polarization [111]. Because of the polarization, each SiO₂ molecule experiences a net local electric field that is much larger than the applied electric field. At the earlier mentioned stressed condition, the induced electric field reduces the activation energy of the Si-Si bond in an oxygen vacancy from 1.15 eV to 0.77 eV (Fig. 5.15) [111]. This lower activation energy indicates that the Si-Si bond breakdown process can take place at room temperature upon stressing. In addition, the broken structure shown in Fig. 5.19 resembles to the structures of the D-



Fig 5.15 E' center creation mechanism: Local electric field acting on a neutral oxygen vacancy. The strained Si-Si bond collapses into a planar sp² configuration. The remaining structure with two electrons in the sp³ orbital can act as a hole trap.

III-Si and puckered/back-projected oxygen vacancy defect published by our group before [82]. The similarity of the broken structure, together with the match in the σ and $E_T - E_{V_{ax}}$ values suggest that the creation of E' centers might be one of the reasons behind observing the stress-induced RTS. Self-heating (SH) of the channel carriers might, however, contribute to the generation of oxide defects as well. Self-heating of the channel carriers might become quite high during application of high gate and drain voltages. This self-heating might cause additional degradation in



Fig 5.16 Trap deactivation and reactivation phenomena: (a)- Hydrogen passivation of the D-III-Si defect centre, resulting in a Si-H bond; (b)passivated structure releases the hydrogen by reacting with another hydrogen atom, thus restoring its original structure.

the device threshold voltage and transconductance via trapping in interfacial and bulk oxide traps [112], [113]. Stressing at such high drain voltage causes damage primarily due to bulk oxide trap generation [114]. These SHinduced bulk oxide traps might get activated during MOSFET operation and cause additional RTS. Moreover, the SH mechanism can result in additional bias temperature instability (BTI) degradation and lead to errors in hot carrier injection (HCI) and time dependent dielectric breakdown (TDDB) lifetime predictions [115]. However, it was not possible to separate the effects of self-heating on degradation of the device characteristics and oxide trap generation. Reaction of hydrogen atom released from the Si-SiO₂ interface due to channel hot carriers with E' centers is proposed to be the reason behind volatility of traps B and C. The barrier for the hydrogen atom with an E' center is ~0.4 eV [116], [117], whereas the reaction barrier for releasing the hydrogen by reacting with another hydrogen atom is <0.5 eV [118]. Hence, it is possible for both the reactions to readily take place at room temperature.



Fig 5.17 The proposed mechanism for trap volatility: (a)-Channel hot holes release a hydrogen atom from the Si-SiO₂ interface dissociating a Si-H bond. The released hydrogen atom drifts within the oxide to react with a pair of D-III Si defect. The reaction deactivates the defect; (b)-Upon further stressing, channel hot holes release another hydrogen atom from the Si-SiO₂ interface that drifts through the oxide towards the gate and reacts with the passivated D-III Si defect. The defect gets reactivated releasing a H₂ molecule. Black circles represent silicon atoms, red circles indicate oxygen atoms. Hydrogen atom is presented using grey circles, and dangling bonds are indicated using blank ovals. Ovals with bidirectional arrows indicate paired electrons while ovals with a single arrow represent single unpaired electrons.

Hydrogen atoms are already known for passivating and de-passivating interface defects [119]. The small barrier energies for the aforementioned reactions are indications that the capture and release of hydrogen atoms with E' centers with subsequent stress might be the reason behind the volatility of the trapping centers B and C. The defects get passivated when they react with a hydrogen atom, and become reactivated again by releasing H_2 upon reacting with another stress-released hydrogen atom (Figs. 5.16(a)-(b)). The reactivation of an already passivated trap can obviously be another reason behind observing the stress-induced RTS.

$$\mathrm{Si}^{\cdot} + \mathrm{H} \to \mathrm{Si} - \mathrm{H} \tag{5.1}$$

$$\mathrm{Si} - \mathrm{H} + \mathrm{H} \to \mathrm{Si}^* + \mathrm{H}_2 \tag{5.2}$$

where "" represents a single unpaired electron, and Si-H indicates a single bond between silicon and hydrogen.

The primary concern remains about the source of the reactant hydrogen atoms. Presence of large amount of hydrogen in bound form has been reported before [120], [121]. Hydrogen can remain bound to the oxidesemiconductor interface, or get trapped by the defects residing in the oxide [122]. When the channel hot carriers are introduced, they cause impact damage to the Si-SiO₂ interface, and generate new interface traps releasing hydrogen atoms [123], [124]. The released hydrogen atoms drift towards the gate where they react with the oxide defects. The whole mechanism is presented in Fig. 5.17. The H/H₂ reaction/diffusion (R-D) model for interface traps depicts that the interface trap-released hydrogen atoms diffuse out from the Si-SiO₂ interface [125]. However, in our case, the applied negative bias drifts the hydrogen atoms towards the gate [126]. It is important to note that the R-D mechanism has been used to explain only the motion of the released hydrogen atoms in the oxide and their interactions with the E' centers, not to represent the generation of oxide defects. In addition, application of high electric field and reaction of stress-released hydrogen atoms with the oxide defects are suggested only as the trap



Fig. 5.18 A 5-level RTS observed at V_{GS} = -3.4 V, V_{DS} = -0.4 V after 5 seconds of stressing. Transitions between different levels in this signal are totally random, making it impossible to analyze.

generation, trap activation and passivation mechanism, not the phenomena responsible for RTS. The RTS theory has already been explained in Chapter 2.

Even though possible theories behind finding stress-generated RTS and trap volatility have been provided here, some other observations in this work are still beyond explanation. In addition to the RTS traces shown at the beginning of this Chapter, some more complex RTS were also recorded (Fig. 5.18). This might happen due to activation of more oxide traps, or metastability of the already existing defects. Such complex RTS is impossible to analyze and hence the reason behind such multi-level switching is still unknown. In addition, upon 200 seconds of stress, at higher gate voltages, the occupancy of a stress-induced trap was found to be dependent on that of a process-induced trap. Trap C remained empty until trap A captures a hole (Fig. 5.2(b)). This means that trap C can release the bonded electron to the silicon valence band only if trap A releases its trapped electron back to the valence band. The physical reasons behind such finding are yet to be understood.



5.8 Variable Temperature RTS Measurements

Fig. 5.19 Two-level RTS observed due to P41 at V_{GS} = -2.0 V, V_{DS} = -0.5 V. Similar two-level RTS was observed due to the other traps.

To investigate the trap energy parameters and the trap structures further, variable temperature RTS measurements were done in both fresh and stressed pMOSFETs. Using the same techniques and setup described in Chapter 3, RTS experiments were taken at different temperatures (255 K – 295 K). Stress was applied using the same bias conditions mentioned earlier in this Chapter at suitable intervals. Stress was applied only at room temperature to ensure that the carriers have sufficient energy to degrade the device characteristics. Variable temperature RTS measurements were taken as soon as the stress for a particular interval was finished. Measurements were done on 10 devices in total, among which 4 devices are reported in this Section: (i) SP41 with $W \times L = (1 \times 1) \mu m^2$, in which a process induced trap P41 was observed, which disappeared after 50 seconds of stress, and two stress-induced traps, S41_{50A} and S41_{50B} were found to be active at two different bias ranges. The stress-induced traps

became inactive after further stress. (ii) SP221 of $W \times L = (1 \times 0.5) \,\mu\text{m}^2$, in which a process-induced trap, P221 was present, which disappeared after stress, and no other trap was active upon stress. (iii) SP222 with $W \times L = (1 \times 0.5) \,\mu\text{m}^2$, in which existence of a process-induced trap, P222 was found, which disappeared after stress. After 200



Fig 5.20 Average capture time constants as a function of V_{GS} at different temperatures for (a)- trap P221 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, (b)- trap P222 at V_{DS} = -0.05 V, (c) trap S222₂₀₀ at V_{DS} = -0.15 V, (d)- trap P41 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, (e)- trap P41_{50A} at V_{DS} = -0.1 V, (f)- trap P41_{50B} at V_{DS} = -0.3 V, (g)- trap P61 at V_{DS} = -0.1 V, (h)- trap S61₅₀ at V_{DS} = -0.2 V, (i)- trap S61₁₀₀ at V_{DS} = -0.1V. The mean capture times corresponded to the upper level of the RTS magnitude for all the traps, which means that all the traps were attractive centers.

	Table 5.4– Threshold	voltage of each	device after d	lifferent stress i	intervals at ro	om temperature.
--	----------------------	-----------------	----------------	--------------------	-----------------	-----------------

Cumulative stress time (sec)	SP221	SP222	SP41	SP61
0	-0.587	-0.517	-0.624	-0.602
50	-0.604	-0.570	-0.624	-0.602
100	-0.608	-0.594	-0.640	-0.609
200	-0.638	-0.717	-0.651	-0.612
500	-0.765		-0.681	-0.629
1000			-0.772	-0.743

seconds of stress, a stress-induced trap S222₂₀₀ was observed, and that trap was not present anymore after application of stress, and (iv) SP61 of $W \times L = (1 \times 0.7) \,\mu\text{m}^2$, in which a process-induced trap, P61 was observed, which got deactivated after stress. Two stress-induced traps, S61₅₀, and S61₁₀₀ were observed after 50 and 100 seconds of stress, respectively. Trap S61₅₀ was absent when further stress was applied on the 50 seconds stressed-



Fig 5.21 Average emission time constants as a function of V_{GS} at different temperatures for (a)- trap P221 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, (b)- trap P222 at V_{DS} = -0.05 V, (c) trap S222₂₀₀ at V_{DS} = -0.15 V, (d)- trap P41 at V_{DS} = -0.5 V, (e)- trap P41_{50A} at V_{DS} = -0.1 V, (f)- trap P41_{50B} at V_{DS} = -0.3 V, (g)- trap P61 at V_{DS} = -0.1 V, (h)- trap S61₅₀ at V_{DS} = -0.2 V, (i)- trap S61₁₀₀ at V_{DS} = -0.1V. The mean emission times were found to be the average time spent at the lower level of the RTS magnitude for all the traps, meaning that all the traps were attractive centers.

device, and trap $S61_{100}$ was not active any more when the 100 seconds stressed-device was further stressed. Therefore, nine traps were found to be responsible in total: four process-induced and five stress-induced, each showing a simple 2-level RTS (Fig. 5.19). The first letters in the names of the traps denote whether the trap is process-induced or stress-induced. The first letter is followed by the device name. Finally, the number in the subscript in the trap names are the particular stress time in seconds at which the corresponding trap became active. The threshold voltage degradation for each of the aforementioned four devices with stress times are shown in Table 5.4. Depending on the active range of a particular trap, V_{GS} was varied from -1.25 V to -2.7 V, range of V_{DS} was between -0.05 V and -0.5 V, and the temperature was varied between 255 K and 295 K decreasing 10 K at a time.



Fig 5.22 Normalized RTS magnitude, number fluctuations, and mobility fluctuations as a function of V_{GS} at room temperature for (a)- trap P221 at $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V, (b)- trap P222 at $V_{DS} = -0.05$ V, (c) trap S222₂₀₀ at $V_{DS} = -0.15$ V, (d)- trap P41 at $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V, (e)- trap P41_{50A} at $V_{DS} = -0.1$ V, (f)- trap P41_{50B} at $V_{DS} = -0.3$ V, (g)- trap P61 at $V_{DS} = -0.1$ V, (h)- trap S61₅₀ at $V_{DS} = -0.2$ V, (i)- trap S61₁₀₀ at $V_{DS} = -0.1$ V. The RTS magnitudes of the traps were found to be in the similar range of values as the previously reported attractive center traps.

The fact that the all the process-induced and stress-induced traps disappear upon application of further stress indicates that stressing the devices does not alter the trap parameters. Rather stress affects only trap generation and deactivation. This supports the finding reported earlier in this Chapter. The average capture and emission time of each RTS traces (Fig. 5.20-5.21) is calculated using the same procedure described in Chapter 4. From the pattern of average time constants of higher and lower levels of RTS, all nine traps were found to be attractive centers. RTS magnitude and the normalized voltage fluctuations (Fig. 5.22) also match with those of the attractive centers reported earlier in this Chapter 4. x_T of the traps varied from 0.6 - 2.1 nm (Fig. 5.23). Hence,

just like the already reported traps, the aforementioned nine traps are not Pb centers.



Fig. 5.23 Trap locations of all nine traps across all the measured temperatures.



Fig. 5.24 Trap capture cross-sections as a function of V_{GS} at different temperatures for (a)- trap P221 at $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V, (b)- trap P222 at $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V, (c) trap S222₂₀₀ at $V_{DS} = -0.15$ V, (d)- trap P41 at $V_{DS} = -0.5$ V, (e)- trap P41_{50A} at $V_{DS} = -0.1$ V, (f)- trap P41_{50B} at $V_{DS} = -0.3$ V, (g)- trap P61 at $V_{DS} = -0.1$ V, (h)- trap S61₅₀ at $V_{DS} = -0.2$ V, (i)- trap S61₁₀₀ at $V_{DS} = -0.1$ V.
Trap	$E_T - E_{Vox}$ (eV)
P221	4.68 - 4.72
P222	4.70 - 4.74
$S222_{200}$	4.56 - 4.63
P41	4.68 - 4.75
S41 _{50A}	4.56 - 4.63
$S41_{50B}$	4.71 - 4.77
P61	4.61 - 4.67
P61 ₅₀	4.73 - 4.78
P61 ₁₀₀	4.62 - 4.68

0.60 0.55 (>0.50 ⊕ ₽ 0.45 S222 P41 S41 + P61 0.40 \$41 × • S61 P221 S61 P222 0.35 -2 V_{GS} (V) -3 -2.5 -1.5 -1

Fig. 5.25 Trap capture activation energies.



Fig. 5.26 (a) Change in enthalpy and (b) Normalized change in entropy of all traps.

Table 5.5- $E_T - E_{Vox}$ for all traps at room temperature. Similar values of $E_T - E_{Vox}$ were found at other temperatures.

σ (Fig. 5.24) and $E_T - E_{V_{ax}}$ (Table 5.5) values were in similar ranges as the other attractive center traps in Chapters 4 and 5. $E_T - E_{V_{ax}}$ values varied from 4.56 eV to 4.78 eV, once again indicating that the traps are located just below



Fig. 5.27 Trap relaxation energies as a function of gate voltage at room temperature. Similar relaxation energies were obtained at other temperatures. The relaxation energies are within the similar range of the already reported attractive center traps.

the silicon valence band edge.

The values of ΔE_B , ΔH , ΔS and E_R for all the traps are shown in Figs. 5.25, 5.26(a), 5.26(b) and 5.27 respectively. σ , E_R , and $E_T - E_{V_{\alpha\alpha}}$ values of the traps are within similar ranges as the D-III Si defect pair, shown in Table 4.1. This confirms our conclusion made earlier in this Chapter that both process-induced and stress-induced attractive center traps are in fact D-III-Si defects. This also supports the trap generation mechanism explained in Fig. 5.15.

In summary, impact of introducing channel hot carriers on creation or passivation of traps responsible for RTS in pMOSFETs has been explored in detail, and presented in this Chapter. Applied stress was found to activate and deactivate traps, but not alter their RTS characteristics. The capture cross-section, σ and $E_T - E_{V_{ex}}$ values for the traps obtained from room temperature RTS experiments were in similar ranges as the σ and $E_T - E_{V_{ex}}$ for the traps reported in Chapter 4. Therefore, the process-induced and stress-induced attractive center traps were suggested to be a pair of D-III-Si defects, and the repulsive center was proposed to be a puckered/back-projected oxygen vacancy center defect. Application of high vertical field is thought to be the primary reason behind creating stress-

induced defects. Movement of stress-released hydrogen atoms within the SiO_2 and their reactions with the newly generated and already passivated E' center defect are most likely the mechanism behind observing volatile traps upon stress. Later, variable temperature RTS measurements were carried out. From the trap characteristic parameters, the process-induced and stress-induced attractive center defects were found to be D-III-Si defects, which supports the conclusions made from the room temperature RTS measurements. The observations and theory behind such remarks that are presented in this Chapter can bring new insight into the effects of stress on RTS in pMOSFETs as RTS in pMOSFETs have been severely underreported compared to nMOSFETs.

Chapter 6 Flicker Noise Measurements and Analyses

Flicker noise or 1/f noise is one of the major sources of noise in MOSFETs. Flicker noise is observed due to the interaction of a large number of traps with distributed trapping time constants situated at the Si-SiO₂ interface or in the oxide with the channel carriers. In frequency domain, the power spectral density (PSD) of a RTS trace is given by a Lorentzian spectrum [29]. When a large number of traps with different trapping time constants become active at the same time, each of the active traps corresponds to a Lorentzian of a specific corner frequency. The individual Lorentzians get added and the final shape looks like a 1/f noise spectrum – a straight line with a downward slope of ~1 (Fig. 6.1) [127]. Therefore, RTS measurements are typically taken on small area devices (<1 μ m²), whereas the flicker noise experiments are done on large area devices (>1 μ m²). The effects of different gate



Fig. 6.1 Individual Lorentians with different corener frequencies are added to result in 1/f noise spectrum. Reprinted with permission from [127].

oxide processing techniques on oxide defects leading to low-frequency noise in MOSFETs need to be quantified. The contributions to low frequency noise by all types of oxygen vacancies such as Pb centers and E' centers need to be reduced as much as possible, and a realistically achievable limit of flicker noise need to be determined. The main goal of this study was to investigate the effects of different gate oxide processing techniques on oxide defects that act as electron traps and are responsible for RTS or 1/f noise.

In this work, flicker noise measurements were performed on different sized nMOSFETs of three different wafers that were fabricated using different processing techniques by Texas Instruments. The voltage PSDs of nMOSFETs from the three wafers were normalized with respect to W, L, and T_{ox} to achieve meaningful comparison. The process steps used in fabricating the wafers were related to the amount of flicker noise observed. Finally, the number and mobility fluctuations observed on the three wafers were compared to find out the dominant noise mechanisms.

6.1 Device Specifications, Measurement Conditions

An HP 3562A Dynamic Signal Analyzer was used to obtain the flicker noise spectra of nMOS devices of different sizes from three different technologies, referred as X2388, X2550, and X2396. The gate dielectric of all three wafers is SiO₂. The nominal oxide thickness of X2388, X2550, and X2396 are 8.7 nm, 12.1 nm, and 12.7 nm, respectively. The channel widths of the measured devices varied from 0.5 μ m to 20 μ m, and the channel lengths varied from 1 μ m to 10 μ m. Verification of the device functionality, DC characteristics extraction, biasing the devices, and C-V characteristics extraction were done following the same procedure described in Chapter 3. Once flicker noise spectrum was observed in the dynamic signal analyzer, measurements were taken for $V_{GS} - V_T = 0.25$ V to 2.25 V with a step size of 0.25 V, keeping the drain voltage fixed at 0.2 V. For each bias point, the voltage noise spectrum was observed for 3 decades of frequency, from 1 Hz to 1000 Hz. The drain current at each bias point was measured using a multimeter, and the conductance (g_D) was found using $g_D = I_{DS}/V_{DS}$. Flicker noise PSDs in MOSFETs of the three wafers with similar dimensions were compared together. Based on the dimensions, the MOSFETs were divided into seven different categories where similar devices with similar gate area were kept in the same category:

(i) MOSFETs with $W \times L = 1 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ and $1 \times 5 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from the wafer X2388, $W \times L = 1 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, 1×20 and $1 \times 4 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396.

(ii) MOSFETs with $W \times L = 5 \times 0.7 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2388, $W \times L = 5 \times 0.7 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, and $6 \times 0.6 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396.

(iii) MOSFETs with $W \times L = 5 \times 1 \ \mu m^2$ from X2388, and $W \times L = 5 \times 1 \ \mu m^2$ from X2550.

(iv) MOSFETs with $W \times L = 10 \times 1 \ \mu m^2$ from X2388, $W \times L = 10 \times 1 \ \mu m^2$ from X2550.

(v) MOSFETs with $W \times L = 5 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from the X2388, $W \times L = 5 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, and $6 \times 20 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396.

(vi) MOSFETs with $W \times L = 10 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from the X2388, $W \times L = 10 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, and 4×20 μm^2 from X2396.

(vii) MOSFETs with all other dimensions from the three wafers.

6.2 Analysis Procedure

At each gate voltage, the background noise (obtained at $V_{DS} = 0$ V) was subtracted from the measured 1/f noise (Fig. 6.2(a)). A straight line was fitted on each log-log voltage noise PSD plot to as high frequency as possible. The value of γ , the frequency component of 1/f⁷ spectral shape was obtained from that fitting (Fig. 6.2 (a)). For the small length devices, there were some bias points at which either RTS was observed, or the flicker noise magnitude could not be distinguished from the background noise by more than one order of magnitude. Those noise data were excluded from the analysis. For comparing the noise magnitude of different devices, the curve-fitted 10 Hz noise magnitude was used.



Fig. 6.2. (a) Background, net measured, and curve fitted flicker noise spectrum (b) Current noise PSD and $(g_m/I_D)^2$ for a MOSFET of $W \times L = 1 \times 1$ μm^2 from X2388.

The drain current noise magnitude was calculated using $S_{I_{DS}} = g_D^2 S_{V_{DS}}$, where $S_{V_{DS}}$ is the drain-source voltage noise PSD. The transconductance was extracted through

$$g_m = \frac{\delta I_{DS}}{\delta V_{GS}} = \mu C_{ox} \frac{W}{L} V_{DS}$$
(6.1)

For all MOSFETs, the normalized current noise spectrum showed the similar trend as $(g_m/I_D)^2$ as a function of I_{DS} , which indicates that the flicker noise observed in these devices follow the number fluctuation theory (Fig. 6.2 (b)) [50]. Normalization of the noise spectra was done according to the number fluctuation theory to achieve a meaningful comparison of the three different wafers [50].

$$\frac{S_{I_{DS}}(f)WL}{I_{DS}^2 T_{ox}^2} = \frac{k_B T q^2 N_t(E_F)}{\lambda f \varepsilon_{ox}^2} \frac{g_m^2}{I_{DS}^2}$$
(6.2)



Fig. 6.3 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 1 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ and $1 \times 5 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from the wafer X2388, $W \times L = 1 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, 1×20 and $1 \times 4 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.

6.3 Results

Normalized voltage and current noise magnitude for all the categories of the MOSFETs are shown in Figs. 6.3-6.9.



Fig .6.4 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 5 \times 0.6 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2388, $W \times L = 5 \times 0.7 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, and $6 \times 0.6 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.



Fig. 6.5 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 5 \times 1 \ \mu m^2$ from X2388, and $W \times L = 5 \times 1 \ \mu m^2$ from X2550. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.



Fig. 6.6 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 10 \times 1 \ \mu m^2$ from X2388, and $W \times L = 10 \times 1 \ \mu m^2$ from X2550. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.



Fig. 6.7 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 5 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2388, $W \times L = 5 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, and $6 \times 20 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.



Fig. 6.8 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current noise magnitude for the MOSFETs of $W \times L = 10 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2388, $W \times L = 10 \times 10 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2550, and $4 \times 20 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ from X2396. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.



Fig. 6.9 Comparison of (a) voltage noise magnitude, (b) current noise magnitude, (c) and (d) normalized current noise magnitude for the MOSFETs which don't fall into the first six categories. The numbers in the brackets denote the number of MOSFETs measured for that particular dimension.

Figures 6.3-6.9 show that MOSFETs falling in categories (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (vii) (smaller gate area comparing to the other two categories) do not provide trustable noise data to compare the gate oxide process variations. Only the large area MOSFETs (>10 μ m²) in categories (v) and (vi) provide a consistent pattern of flicker noise PSDs of the three wafers. MOSFETs in wafer X2396 showed the lowest amount of noise, whereas MOSFETs in X2388 and X2550 showed intermediate and highest amount of 1/f noise, respectively. These observations also justify the fact that with the decrease in gate area, the variability in the measured 1/f noise increases [24]. The data obtained from MOSFETs of categories (v) and (vi) were studied thoroughly, and were be used for further research works.

6.4 Relation of Process Techniques with the Amount of Observed Flicker Noise

The three wafers were fabricated using three different process techniques. Differences in the fabrication steps such as doping concentrations, dose of dopants, annealing temperature led to the difference in the obtained 1/f noise in the wafers. Rapid increase of oxygen vacancy has been reported if greater than 875^oC is used as an annealing temperature [128]. The annealing temperature for X2388, X2550 and X2396 were 850^oC, 900^oC, and 850^oC, respectively. Therefore X2550 is expected to show higher 1/f noise than the other two wafers, which matches with the results of our experiments.

Fluorine implantation has been used in the wafers X2550 and X2396. Fluorine is capable of creating Si-F bond with the oxygen vacancies located at or near the Si-SiO₂ interface [129]. Hence the silicon dangling bonds presented at the interface or bulk oxide get passivated and less 1/f noise is observed [130]. Higher dose of fluorine implantation in X2396 would allow diffusion of more fluorine atoms through the oxide layer towards the Si-SiO₂ interface [131]. Therefore, X2396 was predicted to show less amount flicker noise than the other two wafers. The results in our experiments matched with this prediction.

Wafers X2550 and X2396 were sintered with H_2 for 30 minutes. The hydrogen species are capable of diffusing through the oxide and create Si-H bonds, thus passivating the silicon dangling bonds at or near the Si-SiO₂ interface [129]. Hence, X2550 and X2396 are expected to show less 1/f noise than X2388, which did not match with our observations. However, even though the effects of individual process steps have been discussed here, the

correlated effects of the steps are still unknown. Therefore, it is difficult to relate the amount of 1/f noise to the fabrication techniques.

6.5 Fitting the Observed Flicker Noise to the UNMF Model

As discussed in Chapter 1, according to the UNMF noise model, the drain-to-source current noise PSD can be expressed as [50]

$$S_{I_{DS}} = \frac{k_B T I_{DS}^2 N_t}{\lambda f W L} \left(\frac{1}{N_{inv}} \pm \alpha \mu \right)^2$$
(6.3)

The observed flicker noise PSDs were curve-fitted to the UNMF noise theory to extract the trap density and screened scattering coefficient. The first and second terms in the parenthesis in (6.3) is known as number fluctuations and mobility fluctuations, respectively. The '+' sign is used for repulsive center traps, whereas the '-' sign is used for attractive center traps. Since only repulsive center traps were observed in the nMOSFETs [85], the '+' sign was used to fit the flicker noise data to the UNMF noise model. The screened scattering coefficient, α can be expressed as $\alpha = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \ln(N_{inv})$, where $\alpha_1 < 0$ [72]. To fit the noise PSD curves to the UNMF noise model, the absolute error minimization technique was used. The absolute error values at the bias points were added together and differentiated with respect to α_0 and α_1 to find the optimum α_0 and α_1 . The total absolute error value can be expressed as

$$e = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| S_{IDS_{i}} - c \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{N_{inv_{i}}^{2}} - 2\alpha_{0} \frac{1}{N_{inv_{i}}} \mu_{i} - 2\alpha_{1} \frac{1}{N_{inv_{i}}} \ln\left(N_{inv_{i}}\right) \mu_{i} - \alpha_{0}^{2} \mu_{i}^{2} \\ -2\alpha_{0}\alpha_{1} \ln\left(N_{inv_{i}}\right) \mu_{i}^{2} - \alpha_{1}^{2} \left\{ \ln\left(N_{inv_{i}}\right) \right\}^{2} \mu_{i}^{2} \end{bmatrix} N_{i} I_{DS_{i}}^{2} \right|$$
(6.4)

where $c = k_B T / \lambda fWL$. Differentiating 6.4 with respect to α_0 and equating to zero,

$$\alpha_0 \sum \mu^2 I_{DS}^2 + \alpha_1 \sum \left\{ \ln \left(N_{inv} \right) \mu^2 I_{DS}^2 \right\} = -\sum \frac{1}{N_{inv}} \mu I_{DS}^2$$
(6.5)

Similarly, differentiating 6.4 with respect to α_1 and equating to zero,

$$\alpha_0 \sum \ln(N_{inv}) \mu^2 I_{DS}^2 + \alpha_1 \sum \left\{ \ln(N_{inv})^2 \mu^2 I_{DS}^2 \right\} = -\sum \left\{ \ln(N_{inv}) \right\} \mu I_{DS}^2$$
(6.6)



Fig. 6.10 The experimentally measured current PSD, fitted curve, number and mobility fluctuations for X2338 MOSFETs with (a) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.5$, (b) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.8$, (c) $W \times L = 5 \times 10$, and (d) $W \times L = 10 \times 10$.



Fig. 6.11 The experimentally measured current PSD, fitted curve, number and mobility fluctuations for X2550 MOSFETs with (a) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.5$, (b) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.7$, (c) $W \times L = 5 \times 10$, and (d) $W \times L = 10 \times 10$.

Solving 6.5 and 6.6, the optimum α_0 and α_1 were found. For all the measured flicker noises, the number fluctuation at the 1st bias point dominated the mobility fluctuation by at least two orders of magnitudes. Therefore, at the first bias point, the mobility fluctuation term was neglected, and the value of N_r was calculated from that.

$$S_{I_{DS}} = c \frac{1}{N_{inv}^2} N_t I_{DS}^2 \Longrightarrow N_t = \frac{S_{I_{DS}} N_{inv}^2}{c I_{DS}^2}$$
(6.7)

The obtained values of α_0 , α_1 , and N_r are listed in Table 6.1 for all categories of devices in all three wafers. The measured, curve-fitted normalized current noise PSD, number fluctuations and mobility fluctuations components for different sized devices of the three wafers are shown in Figs. 6.10-6.12.

Since MOSFETs with large gate area (>10 μ m²) showed less variability, their data exhibited a better fit. For the large gate area MOSFETs, it is clear from Figures 6.10-6.12 that the number fluctuation term dominates over the mobility fluctuations for all three wafers. The normalized number, and mobility fluctuations terms for the large area MSOFETs have been compared in Figs. 6.13 and 6.14, respectively. The normalized number fluctuations



Fig. 6.12 The experimentally measured current PSD, fitted curve, number and mobility fluctuations for X2396 MOSFETs with (a) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.5$, (b) $W \times L = 1 \times 0.7$, (c) $W \times L = 6 \times 20$, and (d) $W \times L = 20 \times 4$.

exhibited by MOSFETs with W \times L= 20 \times 4 for X2396 are comparable with the other two wafers at some of the bias points. For all other cases, the fluctuation terms of X2396 are significantly lower than X2388 and X2396.



Fig. 6.13 Normalized (a) number fluctuations and (b) mobility fluctuations as function of I_{DS} exhibited by MOSFETs with $W \times L = 5 \times 10$ and 10×10 of X2388 and X2550, and $W \times L = 20 \times 4$ and 6×20 for X2396.

Wafer	Dimension $(W \times L)$	N_t (cm ⁻³ ev ⁻¹)	α_0 (V-s)	α_l (V-s)	error
X2388	5×10	$6.81 imes 10^{16}$	1.00×10^{-16}	-1.18×10^{-18}	$8.78 imes10^{-46}$
	10×10	$3.49 imes 10^{16}$	$2.54 imes 10^{-15}$	$-1.55 imes 10^{-16}$	$2.23 imes 10^{-45}$
	1 imes 0.5	$2.05 imes 10^{15}$	$7.95 imes 10^{-16}$	$-1.57 imes 10^{-17}$	$6.21 imes 10^{-41}$
	1 imes 0.8	$3.80 imes 10^{15}$	$3.95 imes 10^{-16}$	-3.16×10^{-17}	$1.48 imes10^{-41}$
X2550	5×10	2.49×10^{17}	5.66×10^{-15}	-3.80×10^{-16}	3.21×10^{-44}
	10×10	$3.18 imes10^{17}$	$4.40 imes 10^{-15}$	$-2.92 imes 10^{-16}$	2.91×10^{-43}
	1 imes 0.5	$5.12 imes10^{15}$	$7.01 imes10^{-16}$	$-5.71 imes 10^{-17}$	$7.52 imes10^{-41}$
	1 imes 0.7	7.85×10^{15}	$5.48 imes10^{-16}$	$-5.09 imes 10^{-17}$	$4.60 imes 10^{-42}$
X2396	6×20	1.33×10^{16}	$1.64 imes 10^{-16}$	$-1.07 imes 10^{-17}$	3.00×10^{-49}
	20 imes 4	$1.90 imes10^{16}$	$2.86 imes 10^{-17}$	$-1.00 imes 10^{-18}$	$1.19 imes 10^{-43}$
	1 imes 0.5	$2.41 imes10^{14}$	$4.58 imes 10^{-16}$	$-1.00 imes 10^{-18}$	$3.90 imes 10^{-44}$
	1 imes 0.7	2.38×10^{14}	$3.18 imes 10^{-16}$	$-1.00 imes 10^{-18}$	$1.69\times10^{\text{-}45}$

Table 6.1– Optimum values of α_0 , α_1 and N_t obtained from curve fitting

In summary, flicker noise measurements were taken on nMOSFETs of three different technologies. The noise PSDs of differently sized MOSFETs were compared. Only devices with a gate area >10 μ m² exhibited consistent and comparable noise data. Wafer X2550 showed the maximum 1/f noise, while X2396 was the wafer with the lowest amount of noise. Individual correlations of the noise data with some of the fabrication steps were investigated. The experimentally obtained noise data curves were fit to the UNMF noise model to extract the trap density and screened scattering coefficients. The number fluctuation term dominated over the fluctuations in

mobility in most of the cases. The normalized number and mobility fluctuation terms obtained from three wafers were also compared. In most of the cases, both the normalized number and mobility fluctuation terms of X2388 and X2550 dominated over those from X2396.

Chapter 7 Conclusion

This research concentrates on measuring and analyzing RTS in pMOSFETs to study the associated hole defects located at or near the Si-SiO2 interface. RTS experiments were done at room temperature as well as lower temperatures down to 165 K. The variable temperature RTS data allowed extraction of trap characteristic parameters such as capture activation energy, change in enthalpy and entropy and relaxation energy. The calculated trap energy parameters were compared to the already published trap parameters found using other techniques. This helped to investigate the physical structures and behaviors of the responsible defects. From the pattern of the average time spent at RTS upper and lower levels as a function of gate bias, traps were identified to be attractive or repulsive centers. Both Coulombic attractive and repulsive center defects were found to cause the switching in the MOSFET drain voltage. The attractive center traps were identified as a pair of dissociated three-coordinated silicon atoms (commonly known as D-III-Si), and the repulsive center trap showed similar trap parameters to a pair of under coordinated silicon and over coordinated oxygen atom (III-O/III-Si, also known as puckered/back-projected oxygen vacancy defect). Mostly nMOSFETs are used in the modern analog and high-speed circuits because of higher drive current and electron mobility. This might be one of the reasons for which hole defects responsible for RTS in pMOSFETs have not gained much attention compared to the electron defects in nMOSFETs. However, pMOSFETs are also a major part in digital CMOS applications where low power consumption is one of the primary performance criteria. Most of the research works concentrating on hole defects limited their study to the physical location of the trap from the oxide-semiconductor interface, and along the channel. This is the first work to investigate the hole trap characteristics in such detail, and to suggest physical structures for the traps that might lead to RTS.

To study the hot carrier effects on RTS and trap parameters as well as MOSFET DC parameters such as threshold voltage and transconductance, channel hot carrier stress was applied to several submicron pMOSFETs. RTS measurements were taken on unstressed and stressed MOSFETs to observe the impact of hot carriers. Both prestress and post-stress RTS were observed in the experiments. Capture cross-sections and trap energy level with respect to the SiO₂ valence band edge were found to be within similar ranges as the process-induced traps observed before. Therefore, the pre-stress as well as post-stress defects responsible for RTS were thought to have the same physical structure as the previously observed traps: the attractive center being a pair of D-III-Si defects, and the repulsive center being the puckered/back-projected oxygen vacancy defect. Breakage of Si-Si bond in a neutral oxygen vacancy due to high vertical electric field is suggested to be the reason behind the creation of stress-induced traps. Two attractive center traps were observed to be appearing and disappearing randomly with stress. Movement of channel hot carrier stress-released hydrogen atoms within SiO₂ and their reactions with oxide defects have been proposed as the mechanism behind the volatile nature of the traps. Hydrogen atoms remain in bound form at the Si-SiO₂ interface or with the defects residing in the oxide. After applying stress, the channel hot carriers strike at the Si-SiO₂ interface releasing hydrogen atoms. The released hydrogen can drift through oxide towards the gate where it can react with an oxide trap to passivate the defect. Upon further stress, another hydrogen atom may get released from the Si-SiO₂ interface and react with the already passivated defect. As a result the defect restores its original structure releasing a hydrogen molecule. The barrier energies of the reactions are in the range of 0.4-0.5 eV, which implies that these reactions can easily take place at room temperature.

In order to find out more properties of the stress-induced traps, variable temperature RTS measurements were taken. The capture cross-sections, trap energy levels with respect to the SiO_2 valence band edge, capture activation energies and relaxation energies of the stress-induced traps were found to be within the similar ranges as the process-induced traps observed before. This observation ensured that application of stress only affected the trap generation, passivation or reactivation phenomena, not the trap characteristic parameters. This is the first work that explains the creation of stress-induced E' centers in pMOSFETs that are responsible for RTS. This research is also the first work that reports the observation of volatile RTS due to both process-induced and stress-induced traps, and presents a possible mechanism behind the trap volatility.

Flicker noise PSDs on nMOSFETs of three wafers with different gate oxide growth conditions have been compared. The voltage noise PSDs were normalized with respect to channel length, width and oxide thickness before comparison. As a function of drain-to-source current, the normalized current PSD of all MOSFETs showed a similar trend as $(g_m/I_{DS})^2$. This behavior indicated that the 1/f noise in the MOSFETs followed the number fluctuations theory. Correlations of the observed flicker noise with the individual gate oxide growth conditions were studied. The normalized current PSDs with respect to the drain-to-source current were curve-fitted to the Unified Number and Mobility Fluctuations noise theory to extract the trap density and the screened scattering coefficient. This research might be very useful for developing optimum gate oxide growth conditions for passivating the oxide defects that might lead to RTS and flicker noise. Although this research provides detailed analyses on hole traps responsible for RTS in pMOSFETs and explains the trap creation, deactivation and reactivation mechanism due to stress, some other aspects of hole trapping and de-trapping mechanism are still unknown. Hence, opportunities for further research works related to this topic are available. This work concentrated characterization of hole defects only in SiO₂. Similar analysis procedures can be used to investigate the properties of hole defects present in different high-k dielectrics such as HfO₂ and ZrO₂. Effects of channel hot carrier stress were investigated in terms of trap generation and passivation/reactivation and change in trap characteristic parameters. However, fixed charges and interface states will also be created due to stress. These charge states will cause additional scattering altering the amount of screening caused by the channel holes. Hence, the screened scattering coefficient with stress conditions and intervals might be another area with potential research opportunities that needs special attention.

References

- [1] K. Kandiah and F. B. Whiting, "Low frequency noise in junction field effect transistors", *Solid-State Electron*. vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 1079-1088, 1978. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1101(78)90188-0.
- [2] K. S. Ralls, W. J. Skocpol, L. D. Jackel, R. E. Howard, L. A. Fetter, R. W. Epworth and D. M. Tennant, "Discrete resistance switching in submicrometer silicon inversion layers: Individual interface traps and low frequency (1/f?) noise", *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 228-231, 1984. doi: https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.52.228.
- [3] A. Karwath and M. Schulz, "Deep level transient spectroscopy on single isolated interface traps in field-effect transistors", *Appl. Phys. Lett*, vol. 52, no. 8, pp. 634-636, 1988. doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.99388.
- [4] Z. Shi, J. P. Miéville (Mieville) and M. Dutoit, "Random telegraph signals in deep submicron n-MOSFETs", *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 41, no. 7, pp. 1161-1168, 1994. doi: 10.1109/16.293343.
- [5] N. Sghaier, L. Militaru, M. Trabelsi, N. Yacoubi and A. Souifi, "Analysis of slow traps centres in submicron MOSFETs by random telegraph signal technique", *Microelectron Jour*, vol. 38, no. 4-5, pp. 610-614., 2007. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mejo.2007.02.003.
- [6] J. P. Campbell, J. Qin, K. P. Cheung, L. C. Yu, J. S. Suehle, A. Qates and K. Sheng, "Random telegraph noise in highly scaled nMOSFETs", *IRPS*, pp. 382-388, 2009. doi: 10.1109/IRPS.2009.5173283.
- [7] N. V. Amarasinghe, Z. Çelik-Butler and P. Vasina, "Characterization of oxide traps in 0.15 μm² MOSFET's using random telegraph signals", *Microelectron. Reliab*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 1875-1881, 2000. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0026-2714(00)00089-5.
- [8] K. Kandiah, M. O. Deighton and F. B. Whiting, "A physical model for random telegraph signal currents in semiconductor devices", J. Appl. Phys., vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 937-948, 1989. doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.343523.
- [9] O. R. D. Buisson, G. Ghibaudo and J. Brini, "Model for drain current RTS amplitude in small-area MOS transistors", *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 35, no. 9, pp. 1273-1276, 1992. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1101(92)90161-5.
- [10] N. V. Amarasinghe, Z. Çelik-Butler, A. Zlotnicka, and F. Wang, "Model for random telegraph signals in submicron MOSFETS", *Solid State Electron*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 1443-1449, 2003. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-1101(03)00100-X.
- [11] N. V. Amarasinghe, Z. Çelik-Butler and A. Keshavarz, "Extraction of oxide trap properties using temperature dependence of random telegraph signals in submicrometer MOSFETs", J. Appl. Phys., vol. 89, no. 10, pp. 5526-5532, 2001, doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1367404.
- [12] M. Nour, Z. Çelik-Butler, A. Sonnet, F. C. Hou and S. Tang, "Random telegraph signals originating from unrelaxed neutral oxygen vacancy centres in SiO₂", *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 51, no. 20, pp. 1610-1611, 2015, doi: 10.1049/el.2015.2074.
- [13] M. Nour, Z. Çelik-Butler, A. Sonnet, F. C. Hou, S. Tang and G. Mathur, "A stand-alone, physics-based, measurement-driven model and simulation tool for random telegraph signals originating from experimentally identified MOS gate-oxide defects", *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 1428-1436, 2016, doi: 10.1109/TED.2016.2528218.
- [14] M.-H. Tsai, T. P. Ma and T. B. Hook, "Channel length dependence of random telegraph signal in sub-micron MOSFET's", *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 15, no. 19, pp. 504-506, 1994. doi: 10.1109/55.338418.

- [15] S. T. Martin, G. P. Li, E. Worley and J. White, "The gate bias and geometry dependence of random telegraph signal amplitudes", *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 18, no. 9, pp. 444-446, 1997. doi: 10.1109/55.622524.
- [16] A. Asenov, A. R. Brown, and J. H. Davies, "RTS Amplitude in Decananometer MOSFETs: 3-D Simulation Study", *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 839-845, 2003. doi: 10.1109/TED.2003.811418.
- [17] K. Sonoda, K. Ishikawa, T. Eimori and O. Tsuchiya, "Discrete dopant effects on statistical variation of random telegraph signal magnitude", *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 1918-1925, 2007. doi: 10.1109/TED.2007.900684.
- [18] Z. Celik Butler and F. Wang, "Effect of quantization on random telegraph signals observed in deepsubmicron MOSFETs", *Microelectron. Reliab*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 1823-1831, 2000. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0026-2714(00)00083-4.
- [19] R. R. Siergiej, M. H. White and N. S. Saks, "Theory and measurement of quantization effects on Si-SiO₂ interface trap modeling", *Solid State Electron*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 843-854. 1992. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1101(92)90287-M.
- [20] M. J. Van Dort, P. H. Woerlee, A. J. Walker, C. A. Juffermans and H. Lifka, "Influence of high substrate doping levels on the threshold voltage and the mobility of deep-submicrometer MOSFET's", *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 932-938, 1992. doi: 10.1109/16.127485.
- [21] A. Ohata, A. Toriumi, M. Iwase M and K. Natori, "Observation of random telegraph signals: anomalous nature of defects at the Si/SiO₂ interface", *J Appl Phys, vol.* 68, no. 1, pp. 200-204, 1990. doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.347116.
- [22] N. V. Amarasinghe and Z. Çelik-Butler, "Complex random telegraph signals in 0.06 μm² MDD n-MOSFETs", *Solid State Electron.*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 1013-1019, 2000. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-1101(99)00324-X.
- [23] J. Martin-Martinez, R. Rodriguez, M. Nafria, G. Torrens, S. A. Bota, J. Segura, F. Moll and A. Rubio, "Statistical characterization and modeling of random telegraph noise effects in 65nm SRAMs cells", 14th International Conference on Synthesis Modeling Analysis and Simulation Methods and Applications to Circuit Design (SMACD), pp. 1-4, 2017. doi: 10.1109/SMACD.2017.7981610.
- [24] K. V. Aadithya, A. Demir, S. Venugopalan and J. Roychowdhury, "Accurate prediction of random telegraph noise effects in SRAMs and DRAMs", *IEEE Trans. Comput.-Aided Design Integr. Circuits Syst*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 73-86, 2013. doi: 10.1109/TCAD.2012.2212897.
- [25] D. Veksler, G. Bersuker, L. Vandelli, A. Padovani, L. Larcher, A. Muraviev, B. Chakrabarti, E. Vogel, D. C. Gilmer and P. D. Kirsch, "Random telegraph noise (RTN) in scaled RRAM devices", *Proc. IEEE Int. Rel. Phys. Symp. (IRPS)*, pp. MY.10.1-MY.10.4, 2013. doi: 10.1109/IRPS.2013.6532101.
- [26] H. Kurata, K. Otsuga, A. Kotabe, S. Kajiyama, T. Osabe, Y. Sasago, S. Narumi, K. Tokami, S. Kamohara and O. Tsuchiya, "Random Telegraph Signal in Flash Memory: Its Impact on Scaling of Multilevel Flash Memory Beyond the 90-nm Node", *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 1362-1369, 2007. doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2007.897158.
- [27] C. M. Compagnoni, R. Gusmeroli, A. S. Spinelli, A. L. Lacaita, M. Bonanomi and A. Visconti, "Statistical model for random telegraph noise in flash memories", *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 388-395, 2008. doi: 10.1109/TED.2007.910605.

- [28] F. D'Agostino and D. Quercia, "Short-channel effects in MOSFETs [Online]", 2000. Available: http://www0.cs.ucl.ac.uk/staff/d.quercia/projects/vlsi/report.pdf.
- [29] M. J. Kirton and M. J. Uren, "Noise in solid-state microstructures: a new perspective on individual defects, interface states and low frequency (1/f) noise", Adv. Phys., vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 367 - 468, 1989, doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/00018738900101122.
- [30] M. Schulz and A. Karmann., "Individual, attractive defect centers in the SiO₂-Si interface of μm-sized MOSFETs", *Applied Physics A*, vol. 52, no.2, pp.104-111, 1991, doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00323724.
- [31] J. H. Scofield, N. Borland and D. M. Fleetwood, "Random telegraph signals in small gate area p-MOS transistors", AIP Conference Proc., vol. 285, pp. 386-389, 1993, doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.44673.
- [32] J. H. Scofield, N. Borland and D. M. Fleetwood, "Temperature-independent switching rates for a random telegraph signal in a silicon metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistor at low temperatures", *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 76, no. 22, pp. 3248-3250, 2000, doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.126596.
- [33] E. Simoen and C. Claeys, "Substrate bias effect on the capture kinetics of random telegraph signals in submicron p-channel silicon metal-oxide-semiconductor transistors", *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 66, no. 5, pp. 598-600, 1995, doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.114025.
- [34] E. Simoen and C. Claeys, "Substrate bias effect on the random telegraph signal parameters in submicrometer silicon p-metal-oxide-semiconductor transistors", J. Appl. Phys., vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 910-914, 1995, doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.359018.
- [35] E. Simoen and C. Claeys, "Random telegraph signal: a local probe for single point defect studies in solidstate devices", *Mat. Sci. Eng. B*, vol. 91–92, pp. 136-143, 2002, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-5107(01)00963-1.
- [36] N. L. Anderson, R. P. Vedula, P. A. Schultz, R. M. Van Ginhoven and A. Strachan, "First-principles investigation of low energy E' center precursors in amorphous silica", *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 106, no. 20, pp. 2064021-2064024, 2011, doi: https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.206402.
- [37] N. L. Anderson, R. P. Vedula, P. A. Schultz, R. M. van Ginhoven and A. Strachan, "Defect level distributions and atomic relaxations induced by charge trapping in amorphous silica", *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 100, no. 17, pp. 172908-1 – 4, 2012, doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4707340.
- [38] D. M. Fleetwood, H. D. Xiong, Z. Y. Lu, C. J. Nicklaw, J. A. Felix, R. D. Schrimpf and S. T. Pantelides, "Unified model of hole trapping 1/f noise and thermally stimulated current in MOS devices", *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 2674-2683, 2002, doi: 10.1109/TNS.2002.805407.
- [39] T. Grasser, W. Goes, Y. Wimmer, F. Schanovsky, G. Rzepa, M. Waltl, K. Rott, H. Reisinger, V. V. Afanas'ev, A. Stesmans, A. M. El-Sayed and A. L. Shluger, "On the microscopic structure of hole traps in pMOSFETs", *IEDM Tech. Dig.*, pp. 530-533, 2014, doi: 10.1109/IEDM.2014.7047093.
- [40] T. Grasser, K. Rott, H. Reisinger, M. Waltl, P. Wagner, F. Schanovsky, W. Goes, G. Pobegen and B. Kaczer, "Hydrogen-related volatile defects as the possible cause for the recoverable component of NBTI", *IEDM Tech. Dig.*, pp. 409-412, 2013, doi: 10.1109/IEDM.2013.6724637.
- [41] M. Bollu, F. Koch, A. Madenach and J. Scholz, "Electrical switching and noise spectrum of Si-SiO₂ interface defects generated by hot electrons", *App. Surf. Sci*, vol. 30, no. 1-4, pp. 142-147, 1987. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-4332(87)90086-9.

- [42] P. Fang, K. K. Hung, P. K. Ko and C. Hu, "Hot-electron-induced traps studied through the random telegraph noise", *IEEE Electron Device Lett*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 273-275, 1991. doi: 10.1109/55.82058.
- [43] D. Kang, J. Kim, D. Lee, B-G Park, J. D. Lee and H. Shin, "Extraction of vertical lateral locations and energies of hot-electrons-induced traps through the random telegraph noise", *Jpn J Appl Phys* vol. 48, no. 4S, pp. 04C034-1-04C034-4, 2009. doi: 10.1143/JJAP.48.04C034.
- [44] E. Simoen, B. Dierickx and C. Claeys, "Hot-carrier degradation of the random telegraph signal amplitude in submicrometer Si MOSTs", *Appl Phys A*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 283-289, 1993. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00332604.
- [45] E.Simoen and C. Claeys, "Hot-carrier stress effects on the amplitude of random telegraph signals in small area Si p-MOSFETS", *Microelectron Reliab*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 1015-1019, 1997. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0026-2714(96)00263-6.
- [46] Z. Chen, K. Hess, J. Lee, J. W. Lyding, E. Rosenbaum, I. Kizilyalli, S. Chetlur and R. Huang, "On the mechanism for interface trap generation in MOS transistors due to channel hot carrier stressing", *IEEE Electron Device Lett*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 24-26, 2000. doi: 10.1109/55.817441.
- [47] T. Grasser, "Hot carrier degradation in semiconductor devices", New York: Springer International Publishing; 2015.
- [48] E. Simoen, B. Dierickx and C. Claeys, "Hot-carrier degradation of the random telegraph signal amplitude in submicrometer Si MOSTs", *Appl Phys A*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 283-289, 1993. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00332604.
- [49] E. Simoen and C. Claeys, "Hot-carrier stress effects on the amplitude of random telegraph signals in small area Si p-MOSFETS", *Microelectron Reliab*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 1015-1019, 1997. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0026-2714(96)00263-6.
- [50] M. V. Haartman and M. Ostling, "Low-frequency noise in advance MOS devices", Netherlands:Springer, 2007.
- [51] C. D. Motchenbacher and J. A. Connelly, "Low-noise electronic system design", New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1993.
- [52] J. B. Johnson, "Thermal agitation of electricity in conductors", Phys. Rev., vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 97-109, 1928. doi: https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.32.97.
- [53] H. Nyquist, "Thermal agitation of electric charge in conductors", *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 110-113, 1928. doi: https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.32.110.
- [54] A. van der Ziel, "Noise in solid state devices and circuits", New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1986.
- [55] S. Realov and K. L. Shepard, "Analysis of random telegraph noise in 45-nm CMOS using on-chip characterization system", *IEEE Trans. Electron Dev.*, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 1716 – 1722, 2013. doi: 10.1109/TED.2013.2254118.
- [56] Md. I. Mahmud, "Investigation of degradation in advanced analog MOS technologies", Ph.D. dissertation, Dept. Elect. Eng., University of Texas Arlington, TX, USA, 2013.
- [57] E. Simoen and, C. Claeys, "On the flicker noise in submicron silicon MOSFETs", *Solid-State Electron*. vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 865-882, 1999. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-1101(98)00322-0.

- [58] G. Ghibaudo and T. Boutchacha, "Electrical noise and RTS fluctuations in advanced CMOS devices", *Microelectron. Reliab.* vol. 42, no. 4-5, pp. 573-582, 2002. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0026-2714(02)00025-2.
- [59] Y. Akue Allogo, M. de Murcia, J. C. Vildeuil, M. Valenza, P. Llinares and D. Cottin, "1/f noise measurements in n-channel MOSFETs processed on 0.25µm technology Extraction of BSIM3v3 parameters", *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 361-366, 2002. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-1101(01)00109-5.
- [60] F. Crupi, P. Srinivasan, P. Magnone, E. Simoen, C. Pace, D. Misra and C. Claeys, "Impact of the interfacial layer on the low-frequency noise (1/f) behaviour of MOSFETs with advanced gate stacks", *IEEE Electron Device Lett.* vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 688-691, 2006. doi: 10.1109/LED.2006.879028.
- [61] F. N. Hooge and L. K. J. Vandamme, "Lattice scattering causes 1/f noise", *Phys. Lett.*, vol. 66A, no. 4, pp. 315-316, 1978. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9601(78)90249-9.
- [62] C. Surya and T. Y. Hsiang, "Surface mobility fluctuations in metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors", *Phys. Rev. B*, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 6343-6347, 1987. doi: https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.35.6343.
- [63] L. K. J. Vandamme, X. Li and D. Rigaud, "1/f noise in MOS devices, mobility or number fluctuations?", IEEE Trans. Electron. Devices, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1936-1945, 1994. doi: 10.1109/16.333809.
- [64] J. Chang, A. A. Abidi and C. R. Viswanathan, "Flicker noise in CMOS transistors from subthreshold to strong inversion at various temperatures", *IEEE Trans. Electron. Devices*, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1965-1971, 1994. doi: 10.1109/16.333812.
- [65] M. von Haartman, A.-C. Lindgren, P.-E. Hellström, B. G. Malm, S.-L. Zhang and M. Östling, "1/f noise in Si and Si 0.7Ge0.3 pMOSFETs", *IEEE Trans. Electron. Devices*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 2513-2519, 2003. doi: 10.1109/TED.2003.819258.
- [66] M. von Haartman, B. G. Malm and M. Östling, "Comprehensive study on low-frequency noise and mobility in Si and SiGe pMOSFETs with high-k gate dielectrics and TiN gate", *IEEE Trans. Electron. Devices*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 836-843 2006. doi: 10.1109/TED.2006.870276.
- [67] E. P. Vandamme and L. K. J. Vandamme, "Critical discussion on unified 1/noise models for MOSFETs", IEEE Trans. Electron. Devices, vol. 47, no. 11, pp. 2146-2152, 2000. doi: 10.1109/16.877177.
- [68] A. L. McWorther, "Semiconductor surface physics", Philadellphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1957.
- [69] S. Christensson, I. Lundstrom, C. Svensson, "Low frequency noise in MOS transistors—I Theory", Solid-State Electron., vol. 11, pp. 797, 1968. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1101(68)90100-7.
- [70] G. Ghibaudo, O. Roux, C. Nguyen-Duc, F. Balestra, and J. Brini, "Improved analysis of low frequency noise in field-effect MOS transistors", *Phys. Stat. Sol. A*, vol.124, no. 2, pp. 571 – 581, 1991. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/pssa.2211240225.
- [71] F. N. Hooge, "1/f noise sources", IEEE Trans. Electron Dev., vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 1926 1935, 1994. doi: 10.1109/16.333808.
- [72] K. K. Hung, P. K. Ko., C. Hu and Y. C. Cheng, "A unified model for the flicker noise in metal-oxidesemiconductor field-effect transistors", *IEEE Tran. Electron Dev.*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 654-665, 1990. doi: 10.1109/16.47770.

- [73] H. S. Park and A. van der Ziel, "Dependence of MOSFET noise parameters in N-channel MOSFET's on oxide thickness", *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 313-315, 1982. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1101(82)90140-X.
- [74] S. A. Hayat, B. K. Jones, "1/f noise in MOS inversion layers" in Noise in Physical Systems and 1/f Noise— 1985", Ed. A. D'Amico and P. Mazzetti, Amsterdam:North-Holland, 1986.
- [75] S. C. Sun, and J. D. Plummer, "Electron mobility in inversion and accumulation layers on thermally oxidized silicon surfaces", *IEEE Trans. Electron Dev.*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 562-573, 1980. doi: 10.1109/JSSC.1980.1051439.
- [76] G. Reimbold, "Modified 1/f trapping noise theory and experiments in MOS transistors biased from weak to strong inversion – influence of interface states", *IEEE Trans. Electron Dev.*, vol. 31, no. 9, pp. 1190 - 1198, 1984. doi: 10.1109/T-ED.1984.21687.
- [77] K. K. Hung, P. K. Ko, C. Hu, and Y. C. Cheng, "Flicker noise characteristics of advanced MOS technologies", *IEDM*, pp. 34-37, 1988. doi: 10.1109/IEDM.1988.32743.
- [78] P. Restle, "Individual oxide traps as probes into submicron devices", Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 53, no. 19, pp. 1862-1864, 1988. doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.100378.
- [79] N. V. Amarasinghe, "Random telegraph signals in submicron MOSFETS," PhD Dissertation, Southern Methodist University, 2001.
- [80] L. Vandelli, A. Padovani, L. Larcher, R. G. Southwick, III, W. B. Knowlton and G. Bersuker, " A physical model of the temperature dependence of the current through SiO₂ /HfO₂ stacks, " *IEEE Trans. Electron Dev.*, vol. 58, no. 9, pp. 2878-2887, 2011, doi: 10.1109/TED.2011.2158825.
- [81] A. Padovani, D. Z. Gao, A. L. Shluger and L. Larcher, "A microscopic mechanisms of dielectric breakdown in SiO₂ films: an insight from multi-scale modeling," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 121, no. 15, pp. 155101-10, 2017, doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4979915.
- [82] A. S. M. S. Rouf, Z. Çelik-Butler, F.C. Hou, S. Tang and G. Mathur, "Two types of E' centers as gate oxide defects responsible for hole trapping and random telegraph signals in pMOSFETs", *IEEE Trans Electron Devices*, vol. 65, no. 10, pp. 4527-4534, 2018. doi: 10.1109/TED.2018.2866229.
- [83] D. K. Schroder, "Semiconductor material and devices characterization", 3rd edition, John Wiley & sons Inc., 2006.
- [84] LakeShore User's Manual Model 330 Autotuning Temperature Controller, Rev. 1.3, Westerville, OH, 2000.
- [85] M. Nour, "Measurements, modeling, and simulation of semiconductor/gate dielectric defects using random telegraph signals," Ph.D. dissertation, Dept. Elect. Eng., University of Texas Arlington, TX, USA, 2015.
- [86] B. G. Streetman and S. K. Banerjee, *Solid State Electronic Devices*, 6th ed., Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA: Prentice-Hall, 2006.
- [87] R. Salh, "Defect related luminescence in silicon dioxide network: a review," in *Crystalline Silicon: Properties and Uses*, S. Basu, Ed. Rijeka, Croatia: InTech, pp. 135–172, 2011, doi: 10.5772/22607.
- [88] D. M. Fleetwood and J. H. Scofield, "Evidence that similar point defects cause 1/f noise and radiationinduced-hole trapping in metal-oxide-semiconductor transistors," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 64, no. 5, pp. 579-582, 1990, doi: https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.64.579.

- [89] T. Nagumo, K. Takeuchi, T. Hase and Y. Hayashi, "Statistical characterization of trap position, energy, amplitude and time constants by RTN measurement of multiple individual traps," *IEDM Tech. Dig.*, pp. 628-631, 2010, doi: 10.1109/IEDM.2010.5703437.
- [90] D. H. Cobden, M. J. Uren and M. J. Kirton, "Entropy measurements on slow Si/SiO₂ interface states," Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 56, no. 13, pp. 1245-1247,1990, doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.102527.
- [91] N. S. Saks and M. G. Ancona, "Determination of interface trap capture cross sections using three-level charge pumping," *IEEE Elec. Dev. Lett.*, vol. ED-11, no. 8, pp. 339-341, 1990, doi: 10.1109/55.57927.
- [92] N. S. Saks, "Measurement of single interface trap capture cross sections with charge pumping," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 70, no. 25, pp. 3380-3382, 1997, doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.119177.
- [93] L. Militaru and A. Souifi, "Study of a single dangling bond at the SiO₂/Si interface in deep submicron metaloxide-semiconductor transistors," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 83, no. 12, pp. 2456-2458, 2003, doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1608493.
- [94] M. J. Kirton and M. J. Uren, "Capture and emission kinetics of individual Si:SiO₂ interface states", *Appl Phys Lett*, vol. 48, no. 19, pp. 1270 1272, 1986. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.97000.
- [95] T. Grasser, "Stochastic charge trapping in oxides: From random telegraph noise to bias temperature instabilities", *Microelectron Reliab*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 39 – 70, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microrel.2011.09.002.
- [96] O. Engstrom O and H. G. Grimmeiss, "Vibronic states of silicon-silicon dioxide interface traps", Semicond. Sci. Technol, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 1106 – 1115, 1989. https://doi.org/10.1088/0268-1242/4/12/012.
- [97] W. Goes, M. Karner, V. Sverdlov and T. Grasser. "Charging and discharging of oxide defects in reliability issues," *IEEE Trans. Device and Materials Reliability*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 491-500, 2008, doi: 10.1109/TDMR.2008.2005247.
- [98] Y. Wimmer, A. M. El-Sayed, W. Gös, T. Grasser and A. L. Shluger, "Role of hydrogen in volatile behaviour of defects in SiO₂ -based electronic devices," *Proc. Royal Soc. A*, vol. 472, no. 2190, pp. 20160009-1-23, 2016, doi: 10.1098/rspa.2016.0009.
- [99] P. E. Blochl and J. H. Stathis, "Hydrogen electrochemistry and stress induced leakage current in silica," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 83, no. 2, pp. 372-375, 1999, doi: https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.83.372.
- [100] C. J. Nicklaw, Z.-Y. Lu, D. M. Fleetwood, R. D. Schrimf and S. T. Pantelides, "The structure, properties, and dynamics of oxygen vacancies in amorphous SiO₂," *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 2667-2673, 2002, doi: 10.1109/TNS.2002.805408.
- [101] S. Lany and A. Zunger, "Assessment of correction methods for the band-gap problem and for finite-size effects in supercell defect calculations: case studies for ZnO and GaAs," *Phys. Rev B*, vol. 78, no. 23, pp. 235104-1-25, 2008, doi: https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.78.235104.
- [102] A. Alkauskas, P. Broqvist and A. Pasquarello, "Defect energy levels in density functional calculations: alignment and band gap problem," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, Vol. 101, no. 4, pp. 046405-1-4, 2008, doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.101.046405.
- [103] W. Chen and A. Pasquarello, "Band-edge levels in semiconductors and insulators: hybrid density functional theory versus many-body perturbation theory," *Phys. Rev. B*, vol. 86, no. 3, pp. 035134-1-6, 2012, doi: https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.86.035134.

- [104] G. La Rosa, F. Guarin, S. Rauch, A. Acovic, J. Lukaitis and E. Crabbe, "NBTI-channel hot carrier effects in PMOSFETs in advanced CMOS technologies", *Proc. Int. Reliability Physics Symp*, pp. 282 – 286, 1997. doi: 10.1109/RELPHY.1997.584274.
- [105] E. Amat, T. Kauerauf, R. Degraeve, A. D. Keersgieter, R. Rodriguez, M. Nafria, X. Aymerich and G. Groeseneken, "Channel hot-carrier degradation in short-channel transistors with high-k/metal gate stacks", *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 425 430, 2009. doi: 10.1109/TDMR.2009.2024129.
- [106] C. D. Young, J. W. Yang, K. Matthews, S. Suthram, M. M. Hussain, G. Bersuker, C. Smith, R. Harris, R. Choi, B. H. Lee and H. H. Tseng, "Hot carrier degradation in HfSiON/TiN fin shaped field effect transistor with different substrate orientations", *J. Vac. Sci. Technol., Microelectron. Nanometer Struct*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 468 471, 2009. doi: https://doi.org/10.1116/1.3072919.
- [107] G. Groeseneken, R. Bellens, G. Van den bosch and H. E. Maes, "Hot-carrier degradation in submicron MOSFETs: From uniform injection towards the real operating conditions", *Semicond. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 10, no. 9, pp. 1208 – 1220, 1995. doi: 10.1088/0268-1242/10/9/002.
- [108] C. Hu, S. C. Tam, F. C. Hsu, P. K. Ko, T. Y. Chan and K. W. Terrill, "Hot-electron-induced MOSFET degradation-Model, monitor, and improvement', *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 295 305, 1985. doi: 10.1109/JSSC.1985.1052306.
- [109] C. Guerin, V. Huard, A. Bravaix, M. Denais, J. M. Roux, F. Perrier and W. Baks, "Combined effect of NBTI and channel hot carrier effects in pMOSFETs", *Proc. IEEE Int. Integr. Rel. Workshop Final Rep*, pp. 10 – 16, 2005. doi: 10.1109/IRWS.2005.1609553.
- [110] M. Cho, P. Roussel, B. Kaczer, R. Degraeve, J. Franco, M. Aoulaiche, T. Chiarella, T. Kauerauf, N. Horiguchi and G. Groeseneken, "Channel hot carrier degradation mechanism in long/short channel n-finFETs", *IEEE Trans Electron Devices*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 4002 4007, 2013. doi: 10.1109/TED.2013.2285245.
- [111] J. W. McPherson and H. C. Mogul, "Underlying physics of the thermochemical E model in describing low-field time-dependent dielectric breakdown in SiO₂ films", *J Appl Phys*, vol. 84, no. 3, pp. 1513 1523, 1998. doi: 10.1063/1.368217.
- [112] S. Mittl and F. Guarin, "Self-heating and its implications on hot carrier reliability evaluations", Intl. Rel. Phys. Symp. (IRPS), pp. 4A.4.1-4A.4.6, 2015. doi: 10.1109/IRPS.2015.7112726.
- [113] A. Gupta, C. Gupta, R. A. Vega, T. B. Hook and A. Dixit, "Reliability modeling and analysis of hot-carrier degradation in multiple-fin SOI n-channel finFETs with self-heating", *IEEE Trans Electron Devices*, vol. 66, no. 5, pp. 2075 – 2080, 2019. doi: 10.1109/TED.2019.2905053.
- [114] C. Prasad, S. Ramey and L. Jiang, "Self-heating in advanced CMOS technologies", Intl. Rel. Phys. Symp. (IRPS), pp. 6A-4.1 - 6A-4.7, 2017. doi: 10.1109/IRPS.2017.7936336.
- [115] S. E. Liu, J. S. Wang, Y. R. Lu, D. S. Huang, C. F. Huang, W. H. Hsieh, J. H. Lee, Y. S. Tsai, J. R. Shih, Y-H Lee and K. Wu, "Self-heating effects in finFETs and its impact on devices reliability characterization", *Intl. Rel. Phys. Symp. (IRPS)*, pp. 4A.4.1-4A.4.4, 2014. doi: 10.1109/IRPS.2014.6860642.
- [116] M. Vitiello, N. Lopez, F. Illas and G. Pacchioni, "H₂ cracking at SiO₂ defect centers", *J phys Chem A*, vol. 104, no. 20, pp. 4674 4684, 2000. doi: 10.1021/jp993214f.
- [117] B. R. Tuttle, D. R. Hughart, R. D. Schrimpf, D. M. Fleetwood and S. T. Pantelides, "Defect interactions of H₂ in SiO₂: implications for ELDRS and latent interface trap buildup", *IEEE Trans Nucl Sci*, vol. 57, no. 6, pp. 3046 – 3053, 2010. doi: 10.1109/TNS.2010.2086076.

- [118] G. Lucovsky, H. Yang, Z. Jing, J. L. Whitten, "Hydrogen atom participation in metastable defect formation at Si-SiO₂ interfaces", *Appl Surf Sci*, vol. 117-118, pp. 192 – 197, 1997. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-4332(97)80077-3.
- [119] E. Cartier, J. H. Stathis and D. A. Buchanan, "Passivation and depassivation of silicon dangling bond at the Si/SiO₂ interface by atomic hydrogen", *Appl PhysLett*, vol. 63, no. 11, pp. 1510 – 1512, 1993. doi: 10.1063/1.110758.
- [120] D. L. Griscom, "Diffusion of radiolytic molecular hydrogen as a mechanism for the post-irradiation buildup of interface states in SiO₂-on-Si structures", *J Appl Phys*, vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 2524 – 2533, 1985. doi: 10.1063/1.335931.
- [121] E. H. Poindexter, "Chemical reactions of hydrogeneous species in the Si/SiO₂ system", *J Noncrys Solids*, vol. 187, pp. 257 263, 1995. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3093(95)00146-8.
- [122] D. Fink, J. Krauser, D. Nagengast, T. A. Murphy, J. Erxmeier, L. Palmetshofer, D. Bräunig and A. Weidinger, "Hydrogen implantation and diffusion in silicon and silicon dioxide", *Appl Phys A*, vol. 61, no. 4, pp. 381 388, 1995. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01540112.
- [123] S. Tyaginov, "Physics-based modelling of hot carrier degradation", In: T. Grasser, editor, "Hot carrier degradation in semiconductor devices", New York: Springer International Publishing, 2015.
- [124] D. J. DiMaria, "Defect generation in field-effect transistors under channel-hot-electron stress", J Appl Phys, vol. 87, no. 12, pp. 8707 – 8715, 2000. doi: 10.1063/1.373600.
- [125] S. Mahapatra, N. Goel, S. Desai, S. Gupta, B. Jose, S. Mukhopadhyay, K. Joshi, A. Jain, A. E. Islam and M. A. Alam, "A comparative study of different physics-based NBTI models", *IEEE Trans Electron Devices*, no. 60, vol. 3, pp. 901 916, 2013. doi: 10.1109/TED.2013.2238237.
- [126] F. B. McLean, 'A framework for understanding radiation-induced interface states in SiO₂ MOS structures', *IEEE Trans Nucl Sci*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 1651 – 1657, 1980. doi: 10.1109/TNS.1980.4331084.
- [127] A. P. Van der Wel, E. A. M. klumperink, J. S. Kolhatkar, E. Hoekstra, M. F. Snoeij, C. Salm, H. Wallings and B. Nauta, "Low-Frequency Noise Phenomena in Switched MOSFETs", *IEEE Journ. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no.3, pp. 540 – 550, 2007. doi: 10.1109/JSSC.2006.891714.
- [128] J. R. Schwank and D. M. Fleetwood, "Effect of post oxidation anneal temperature on radiation induced charge trapping in metal oxide semiconductor devices", *Appl Phys Lett*, vol. 53, no. 9, pp. 770-772, 1988. doi: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.99828.
- [129] T. Grasser, "Bias temperature instability for devices and circuits", New York: Springer International Publishing; 2014.
- [130] T. B. Hook, E. Adler, F. Guarin, J. Lukaitis, N. Rovedo and K. Schruefer, "The effects of Fluorine on parametrics and reliability in a 0.18-µm 3.5/6.8 nm dual gate oxide CMOS technology", *IEEE Trans Electron Dev*, vol. 48, no. 7, pp. 1346-1353, 2001. doi: 10.1109/16.930650.
- [131] M. M. Nelson, K. Yokoyama, M. Thomason, G. Scott and B. Greenwood, "Efficacy of Fluorine doping at various stages on noise reduction", *IEEE Workshop Microelectron Electron Dev*, pp. 17-20, 2005. doi: 10.1109/WMED.2005.1431604.

Biographical Information

A S M Shamsur Rouf received the B.Sc. degree in Electrical Engineering from the Bangladesh University of Engineering and Technology, Dhaka, Bangladesh, in 2013. He started his Ph.D. degree in Electrical Engineering with The University of Texas at Arlington, TX, USA, in 2014. He was one of the outstanding GTAs in the Department of Electrical Engineering in 2018. His research interests include investigation of noise and reliability concerns in electronic devices and characterize the responsible defects.